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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

T

he growth of Chile in recent decades is an
undeniable fact. To become the country with
the highest per capita GDP in Latin America, we
had to take care of a rapidly growing demand for
energy.
With the advantage conferred over time, we
can conclude that the regulatory framework
established in the early 80s that trusted system
development exclusively to private management,
met the essential objective of supporting the
growth of our economy, but at the same time, it
neglected other important variables.
By this I mean that the energy is too determinant
in the development of the country and the lives of
people to be ruled solely by the market forces.
Because of this, in this context, the decision
and commitment of the government of President
Michelle Bachelet to strengthen ENAP is so
important. The aim is to help ENAP to fulfill a
leading role in the Energy Agenda presented to the
country, considering that this is a company that
has a long history and huge challenges in the short,
medium and long term.
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“The decision and commitment of
the government of President Michelle
Bachelet to strengthen ENAP is so
important”.
In the fiscal year 2014, ENAP confirmed its
good results of last year and had a net income
of US $ 157 million, a situation which compares
favorably with the US$134 million revenues
obtained in 2013.
The approval of the 2014-2025 Strategic Plan
reflects the interest in promoting strongly the
development of our company. We have defined an
aggressive investment plan in our three business
lines, improving financial indicators and the
development of projects that drive natural gas,
geothermal energy, and the increased capacity
and performance of its refineries to increase its
ability to deliver fuel to the country.
Anywhere in the world, the public energy
companies play a strategic role. The regulation of
private alone is not sufficient to achieve long-term
agreements and meet energy policy. For example,
the State cannot sit idly if there is insufficient supply
in electricity generation and at the same time, has
to withstand very high prices.
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We believe the State should
have a more active role in
the long-term conduction and
strategic management of the
industry, balancing economic,
environmental and social
objectives for the common
good and setting clear rules for
everyone. This conviction crosses
the entire Energy Agenda. And
we are very pleased with our level
of execution, because the design
of public policies is important,
especially in this sector in Chile,
where for several decades, the
State has followed the industry
performance from a distance,
providing none or little guidance
and no interference, except for
ENAP, in the development and
day to day of our country’s energy
sector.

MÁXIMO PACHECO matte

The oil shock of 1973 had to
happen for European countries
take the lead and adopt public
policies aimed at greater energy
independence and autonomy.

Minister of Energy
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
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Operaciones de producción en Magallanes
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“As a State, we want to promote the use of
our own resources to reduce our dependence on
imported fuels”.
Today in the European Union, state ownership
of the power generation park is 45%. In the United
States, approximately 20% of the power plants are
in public hands. In China and India, which are rapidly
growing in this area, the state share exceeds 60%.
In Chile, the severe stagnation in investments
in the energy sector in recent years, fired costs
to levels very harmful to families and businesses,
triggering as well a structural emergency alert.
We want a new offer. We want new players. We
want and need more competition in the electricity
sector. And we want new technologies. Expanding
the business line of ENAP, which is part of a bill
entered to Parliament in 2014, aims precisely
towards that goal.
ENAP can facilitate the arrival of these actors,
associating with companies who want to build
energy infrastructure with a partner who knows
our country well.
This new involvement does not mean that ENAP
will become an operator of the electricity sector.
We want to provide ENAP with the legal powers
to “pack” projects whose control and operation
are then transferred to private companies. This

formula has been very successful in Brazil and we
believe it is an opportunity to facilitate the arrival of
new investors.
As a State, we want to promote the use of
our own resources to reduce our dependence on
imported fuels. This condition makes us vulnerable.
The impact that had the cut of the Argentine gas
in the middle of the last decade should serve us all
to understand the complexity of not having a safe
and timely supply and, at the same time, sizing up
the risk of not having a properly diversified matrix.
ENAP is a company that needs to be a central
player in the development of our energy strategy.
Chile is a poor country in terms of its traditional
energy resources. Practically all of our fossil fuels
are imported, so we have to find ways to reduce
this dependence.
At the operational level, during 2014 there were
no fatalities to deplore in the company operations,
but we did have a number of Lost Time Accidents,
which proves that ENAP still has work to do with
issues such as workers’ safety and self-care.
Also at the operational level, stands out the
signing of the agreement between ENAP and

11

ENAP - Annual Report 2014

“ENAP is a company that needs to be a central player in the development of
our energy strategy”.
the Ministry of Energy, designed to foster an
increasingly efficient use of energy resources in the
operations of the company. The main objectives of
this agreement is to boost the efficient use of energy
resources; strengthen the energy management
system to achieve international standards;
encourage the use of energy efficient systems and
equipment; incorporate energy efficiency criteria
in the evaluation and design of projects; and raise
awareness and promote a culture in the proper use
of energy and the constant search for optimization
opportunities.

Thus, ENAP anticipated to the implementation of
the standards to be adopted with regard to major
energy consumers in the bill on Energy Efficiency to
be sent to Congress in 2015.
Definitely, ENAP faces great challenges, which
involve the work and commitment of each and every
one of us, both operationally and culturally, and
therefore contributing to the energy development
in our country, so crucial to the welfare of our
families and also for the operation of industries.

MÁXIMO PACHECO MATTE
Minister of Energy
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
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Tierra del Fuego
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LETTER FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

E

ENAP has decided to recover its strategic
role in the energy sector in Chile: therefore, we
have developed for ENAP an ambitious Strategic Plan
for 2014-2025 with a long-term vision. This plan
strengthens the company and projects it into the
future, and considers an investment plan exceeding
US$ 4,000 million, which includes projects in strategic
areas, always taking care of the company’s patrimony.
2014 was a great challenge for ENAP’s
management. I think that we fulfilled, which positions
us to face future challenges with the professionalism
and commitment. During 2014 ENAP achieved its
best annual result in the last five years, obtaining
consolidated profits for US$ 157 million and achieving
an EBITDA of over US$ 600 million for the second
consecutive year. These results allowed a significant
improvement in ENAP’s financial position, increasing
the company’s equity to US$ 315 million to end
the year at $ 546 million. None of this would have
been possible without the hard work, commitment
and dedication of their workers, professionals and
executives.
This shows that we are on the right track to meet
our goal of strengthening ENAP and consolidate the
strategic role that the government has commissioned
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“2014 was a great challenge for ENAP’s
management. I think that we fulfilled,
which positions us to face future
challenges with the professionalism and
commitment”.
us in the Energy Agenda, presented by President
Michelle Bachelet at La Moneda, which positions
us as a public company key to the country’s energy
development.
The Energy Agenda involves great and new
challenges for ENAP, which has been assigned an
important role in the implementation and development
of Chile’s energy strategy, and we should assume our
activities with responsibility, leadership and excellence.
Our workers, professionals and executives have
fully demonstrated that they are prepared to face
the challenges ahead. They pledged to meet the
demanding goals of ENAP’s 2014-2025 Strategic
Plan that we started a few months ago, and we are
now satisfied with the results and continue to look
with optimism to the future, ready to move forward
on the great challenges of competitiveness and
development that we have set for ourselves.
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In the extreme south of Chile, for
example, we continue to strengthen
our commitment to Magallanes,
deepening the exploratory
campaign in the area and investing
US$ 187 million in 2014 for such
purposes. In the Exploration and
Production Line of Business, we will
invest more than US$ 300 million
in 2015 to continue developing an
aggressive campaign of drilling and
fracturing of wells in Magallanes in
conventional and non-conventional
reservoirs, to ensure the supply of
gas in the Twelfth Region for the
next 20 years.
Similarly, we increased the
production of oil and gas in
Magallanes, Egypt, Argentina and
Ecuador. In this last country we
reached a cumulative production
of 60 million barrels of oil, and
in Argentina we renewed our
relationship with YPF to increase
gas production in the Magallanes
area, in the south of that country.

MARCELO TOKMAN RAMOS
Chief Executive Officer
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
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Refinería Bío Bío
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“This year also saw the fruits of an
appropriate coverage policy for all
our oil purchases, which proved to
be quite effective”.

In addition, this year was
created the Gas and Energy
business line, an initiative
consistent with the proposed by the Energy Agenda, in
relation to increase and encourage the participation
of natural gas in the country’s energy matrix, as it is
a clean and environmentally friendly fuel.

year term in the international
market to refinance liabilities,
obtaining the lowest interest
rate in our history. This showed that ENAP continues
to be reliable for the international banking, as a
company owned by the State of Chile, which has a
significant role in the national economy.

In the Refining and Commercialization Business
Line, our refineries increased the production of
own products, and we will continue our efforts to
further improve their utilization rate, in addition to
the scheduled investment in new equipment and
operational improvements.

Those who work at ENAP, we have a clear vision
of the great responsibility that our company has
with the country: First, the obligation to be efficient
and achieve economic success; second, respond to
the country as an energy support; and third, to act
with social and environmental responsibility, actively
collaborating with the communities close to us and
taking care of the goods that belong to all Chileans.

This year also saw the fruits of an appropriate
coverage policy for all our oil purchases, which proved
to be quite effective, considering the significant
decline of Brent crude oil prices during the second
half of last year.
Also in the financial area, together with the
significant advances in our indicators, in October
we issued a new bond for US$ 600 million at 10-

Beyond these achievements, which should fill us
with pride is that in this period the State recognized us
as a key company for the security of energy in Chile.
Both for ENAP, and for me personally, safety and
risk prevention is of the utmost importance. One of
our strategic objectives of management is to achieve
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“Both for ENAP, and for me personally, safety and risk prevention is of the
utmost importance. One of our strategic objectives of management is to achieve
a significant progress in this area”.
a significant progress in this area by reducing the
accident rate in our operations in Chile and abroad.
Underlying all this, as a cornerstone, is the safety of
all our workers, our contractors ‘workers, and our
neighbors.

ENAP should be a key support to the development
of Chile as an efficient and reliable company, and be
a reason of pride for all Chileans.
I invite you to build ENAP together, which is the
energy company that our country needs.

In short, the sum of achievements and progress
made during 2014, showed us that we walk on the
right path, but undoubtedly there is still much to do.

MARCELO TOKMAN RAMOS
Chief Executive Officer
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
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Refinería Aconcagua

CAPÍTULO

Planta de regasificación Pemuco
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2014: A YEAR OF PROGRESS
AND LEARNING
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highlights
January 6th

February 21st

ENAP Announces the Drilling of 32
Wells in Magallanes

ENAP Achieves Positive Results in
Hydraulic Fracture in Magallanes

Photo: Team N°11.

Photo: This fuel seeks to meet the increasing demand of the industrial sector.

2014 was a year of hard work in the drilling area
of Enap Magallanes. In the development of this
task, the company announced the drilling of 32
new wells, 21 gas wells and 11 oil wells in the
southern part of the country. The work involves a
large logistical deployment, building the locations,
movement of equipment and complementary
services, an operation that requires a lot of effort
and commitment of the nearly 200 people who
work Magallanes Drilling area.

The hydraulic facture that Enap Magallanes is
carrying out in Dorado Sur 12 gas well, at 133
kilometers northeast of Punta Arenas, threw
positive results. In production, commercial gas
flows consistent with the volumes of injected sand
were obtained, which is very relevant from the
exploratory point of view, as it shows the productivity
of the Springhill formation in reservoirs with very
low permeability and at greater depths.
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February 24th

April 10th

ENAP Makes the First Sale of
Industrial Diesel

ENAP Organized the First Fair on
Prevention, Environment and Quality
of Life

Photo: This fuel seeks to meet the increasing demand of the industrial sector.

Photo: More than 20 exhibitors brought to life this initiative, which
was carried out for the first time in the facilities of the contractor
area of Bío Bío Refinery.

The Bío Bío Refinery worked for months to
chance its processes and produce the new industrial
diesel, which has sulfur concentrations from 500
to 5,000 parts per million (ppm), depending on
the required application. The modification of the
Decree No.60 that allows ENAP to produce and
commercialize industrial diesel in Chile, in order
to meet the growing demand of the industrial
segment of stationary sources, complying with the
highest quality standards and in accordance with
the new current environmental demands in our
country, was published in the Official Gazette in
October 2014.

With more than 20 specialist exhibitors, ENAP
made the First Fair on Prevention, Environment
and Quality of Life in Bío Bío refinery. Also in June,
the activity was conducted for the third time in
Aconcagua refinery. The fair brought together
agencies such as Mutual de Seguridad, ACHS,
Carabineros de Chile, Senda, Codeff and companies
specialized in the sale of the safety products for
industrial tasks of the refining industry.
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May 9th

May 12th

ENAP Organized the First Fair on
Prevention, Environment and Quality
of Life

Marcelo Tokman Assumes as ENAP’s
Chief Executive Officer

Photo: More than 20 exhibitors brought to life this initiative, which
was carried out for the first time in the facilities of the contractor
area of Bío Bío Refinery.

With more than 20 specialist exhibitors, ENAP
made the First Fair on Prevention, Environment
and Quality of Life in Bío Bío refinery. Also in June,
the activity was conducted for the third time in
Aconcagua refinery. The fair brought together
agencies such as Mutual de Seguridad, ACHS,
Carabineros de Chile, Senda, Codeff and companies
specialized in the sale of the safety products for
industrial tasks of the refining industry.
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Photo: Marcelo Tokman, CEO of ENAP.

The Economist Marcelo Tokman Ramos
took over as Chief Executive Officer of ENAP
in replacement of Julio Bertrand Planella. The
Executive also has a master’s degree and Ph.
D. from the University of California, Berkeley. He
was General Coordinator of Advisors and Head of
Studies of the Budget Division of the Ministry of
Finance; then was appointed as Minister President
of the National Commission of Energy and was
the first Minister of Energy, when the ministry was
created in February 2010.
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June 19th

July 17th

Consejo Nacional de Seguridad
Honors ENAP

ENAP Obtains Good Production
Results in Magallanes

Omar Grandón and Ricardo San Martín.

Photo: Block Arenal in Tierra del Fuego

ENAP Aconcagua Refinery was granted the
award of the National Safety Council (CNS, for its
acronym in Spanish), an award that the mentioned
entity gives annually to companies in the mining,
energy, industrial and metals sectors, and of
which ENAP is a member. As part of the selection
process, the statistics considered to grant the
distinction are those related to own personnel, and
do not include contractors. The CNS is a non-profit
organization, which brings together companies in
the mining and industrial sectors; it also includes
universities and the Ministry of Health.

ENAP achieved in Block Arenal, in Tierra del
Fuego, a daily production of 450,000 cubic meters
(m3/day). This production is equivalent to 22,5%
of the company’s daily gas production in the region
that to date is about 2 million m3/day, and with
which the company meets its program of activities,
ensuring gas supply to the Twelfth Region. During
the winter, the gas consumption in Magallanes is
about 1.4 million m3/day, on average. In addition
to the production of block Arenal, ENAP gets
gas from conventional wells in Tierra del Fuego,
continent and offshore.
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July 29

August 1

ENAP Signs Energy Efficiency
Agreement with the Ministry of
Energy

ENAP Creates the Gas & Energy
Business Line

Máximo Pacheco and Marcelo Tokman.

Aerial view of the dock of GNL Quintero Terminal

The agreement was signed as part of the
Government’s Energy Agenda and aims at
promoting a more efficient use of ENAP’s energy
resources, by encouraging energy management
and the use of efficient equipment. It also establishes
the diffusion of successful projects and applicable
experiences to promote energy sustainability and
the development of the country. The objectives of
the agreement include a commitment by ENAP
to improve its energy performance, implementing
medium- and long-term programs that collect the
recommendations of independent energy audits,
carried out by specialized consultants.

Led by the civil engineer Andrés Alonso, the
Gas & Energy Business Line joins to Refining &
Marketing (R & C) and Exploration & Production
(E & P), forming ENAP’s three business lines. Gas
& Energy is in line with the Energy Agenda that the
Government launched in May 2014, which, among
other things, seeks to expand the participation of
Natural Gas, a fuel friendly to the environment, in
the Chilean energy matrix, for which ENAP will play
a leading role.

26

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

August 5

September 2

ENAP and ConocoPhillips Will Study
Unconventional Hydrocarbons in
Magallanes

ENAP Board of Directors Approves
2014-2025 Strategic Plan

David Jones and Marcelo Tokman.

ENAP’s Executive Team.

ENAP and the American company ConocoPhillips
signed a technical agreement aimed at conducting
jointly geological, geophysical and engineering
studies to appraise the unconventional hydrocarbon
potential of the Magallanes Area. ConocoPhillips
will provide their technical expertise and technology
in the development of the studies to define areas
of interest for the exploration and exploitation of
unconventional oil and natural gas. This initiative
adds to the effort that ENAP is already developing
to reinforce unconventional oil and gas exploration
and exploitation in the region to ensure gas supply
to Magallanes in the long term.

ENAP Board of Directors approved the
company’s 2014-2025 Strategic Plan, presented
by its Chief Executive Officer, Marcelo Tokman,
which purpose is to develop a record investment
plan and materialize projects that allow to recover
the strategic role of ENAP in energy. The Strategic
Plan includes, among other goals, to double the
EBITDA by 2019, triple annual investments, with
amounts close to the US$800 million per year,
and contribute with 900 MW to the energy matrix
by 2025. Moreover, it proposes to promote the
construction of the first geothermal power plant
in South America, demonstrating the geothermal
energy potential in Chile. For the Region of
Magallanes it considers to supply with own
production 100% of the demand of the area.
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September 8th

September 26th

ENAP Signed Contract with
Santander GBM for Financial
Operations

ENAP Reaches a Cumulated Oil
Production of 60 million barrels in
Ecuador

Yann Louvrier and Ariel Azar.

Photo: Enap SIPEC operates in Ecuador since January 2003.

ENAP and Santander GBM signed a contract for
three years to carry out trading desk operations,
which will include currency sale and purchase,
investments in the national and international
market by an annual amount of approximately
US$9.900 million. ENAP is the company that
registers the highest currency movements in Chile,
in this case to support the operations of imports
of crude oil and fuel to meet the demand of these
products in the country. This contract is a link in
the chain of business Strategic Plan 2014-2025,
one of whose pillars is the financial strengthening
of the company.

After five successful renegotiations with the
State of Ecuador in recent years, a significant
milestone was marked in ENAP’s life in Ecuador
(Enap SIPEC), after reaching a cumulative oil
production of 60 million barrels. Since January
2003, this subsidiary operates the fields Mauro
Davalos Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso-BigunoHuachito (PBH), located in the Amazon region
of the country. The contract signed at the time
contemplated the confirmation of reserves, the
development and oil production up to a volume
of 51 million barrels. To achieve this, from 2003
to date Enap has invested more than US$ 300
million, mainly in seismic activities, studies, civil
works, drilling, facilities, power generation, pipelines
and environmental and community management.
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October 21st

October 27th

ENAP Achieves Unconventional Gas
Production Milestone in Tierra del
Fuego

ENAP Successfully Placed Bonds in
International Markets

Photo: ENAP’s rig N°6 operating in Tierra del Fuego.

Photo: David Jana (advisor to the Board), Marcelo Tokman, Ariel
Azar, María Luisa Aguayo and José Miguel Higueras.

ENAP achieved a transcendental milestone in
its production of tight gas in block Arenal, Tierra
del Fuego, reaching 500 thousand cubic meters
per day (m3/d). This gas flow marks a milestone
in the exploration and production of a layer, the
Glauconitic area, which is new in the contribution
of hydrocarbon production in Magallanes,
which confirms that it is possible to achieve the
commitment defined in the company’s 20142025 Strategic Plan for the Region of Magallanes,
which is to supply with own production 100% of the
demand in the area.

ENAP successfully issued and placed bonds in
international markets worth US$600 million. The
maturity is at 10 years, with semi-annual payments
of interest and capital amortization at the end of that
period. The bond’s coupon was 4,375% and the yield
was 4,459%, which corresponds to 220 points of
margin or spread of 220 points over the 10-year U. S.
Treasury bond. This placement represents the lowest
interest rate and the highest amount ever obtained by
the company, and is part of ENAP’s effort to implement
its 2014-2025 Strategic Plan.
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November 17th

December 2nd

ENAP and YPF Extend their
Relationship in Argentina to Increase
Gas Production

United States Experts Delivered
Lectures on Fracking in Punta Arenas

Photo: Marcelo Tokman and Miguel Galuccio.

Photo: The working day was held on December 2 and 3.

Marcelo Tokman, ENAP’s CEO and Miguel
Galuccio, Chairman and CEO of YPF, signed the
agreement to extend the Temporary Business
Association (UTE, for its acronym in Spanish), that
both companies share equally in Area Magallanes,
in the South of Argentina. The extension lays the
foundations for the execution of an important
gas project, to be developed in two phases and
allocating an initial investment of US$200 million,
an amount that will increase as the subsequent
stages of the project are completed. This plan
would increase gas production from the current
2.4 MM m3/d to 4 MMm3/d in the next three
years.

Two U.S. experts in non-conventional
hydrocarbons delivered a series of lectures in
Punta Arenas. The activity was promoted by
the Ministry of Energy and the United States
Department of State, and was supported by ENAP.
The speakers were Timothy Carr and Matt Lepore,
who also had a busy schedule of meetings with
executives, workers and trade union leaders of
ENAP Magallanes. The specialists analyzed the
main features of non-conventional hydrocarbons
and reviewed the experiences and practices
implemented in the United States (specifically in
the State of Colorado) in the development of this
type of resources, and their exploitation by means
of hydraulic fracturing (fracking).
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December 16th

December 29th

ENAP Trains Fishermen to Monitor
Quintero Bay

ENAP Recognized for Achieving a
Million Hours without Accidents

Photo: Marcelo Baeza, from Aconcagua Refinery.

Photo: Marcela Prieto, Patricio Farfán, Oscal Leal and Rafael Oteíza.

At the premises of the artisanal fishermen’s
unions of Horcón and Ventanas ENAP gave
training talks on maritime monitoring to
fishermen of Quintero Bay, after the spill occurred
in that place on September 24. The initiative is
part of the cooperation agreement that ENAP
signed with both coves, which establishes that
for a period of four to six months, the fishermen
will carry out the environmental monitoring of
the Bay. It is estimated that they collected over
100 samples of seawater, at five different points
between both coves, which were sent to the
laboratory Silob Chile.

Teamwork, leadership and the management
done by ENAP’s Aconcagua Refinery in terms
of safety, allowed the company to complete in
September of 2014, “a million hours without Lost
Time Accidents in the case of own personnel”. This
achievement was recognized by the Mutual de
Seguridad de la Cámara Chilena de la Construcción,
(Security Mutual of the Chilean Chamber of
Construction) that gave ENAP’s subsidiary an
award for this milestone. This recognition shows
the company’s engagement with safety and doing
things right, which is the result of the commitment
of all the people who are part of this company.
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THE COMPANY
Company Profile and Structure
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP), a leading
company in Chile, is vertically integrated with
operations focused on production, refining, and
sales of hydrocarbons and their derivatives. Fully
owned by the Chilean State, ENAP fulfills a strategic
role in fuel supply. Through the Company’s sales of
LNG, which arrives at the Quintero terminal from
different markets, ENAP has become an important
supporter of the country’s energy matrix.
Its operations abroad include oil and gas
production in Ecuador, Egypt and Argentina
through partnerships with leading companies in
the oil industry.
In Chile, ENAP operates through three Business
Lines: Exploration and Production (E&P), which
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is responsible for managing the search for
hydrocarbons and their production. The Exploration
and Production Business Line is also in charge of
the tender and subscription of special oil operation
contracts (CEOP), which allow the companies in the
industry to associate with ENAP for the exploration
of blocks located in the Magallanes Region. The
operations of ENAP’s international subsidiary,
Enap Sipetrol, depend on this Business Line. Enap
Sipetrol develops all ENAP operations abroad.
On the other hand, the Refining and Commercialization
(R&C) Business Line operate the Refineries Aconcagua,
Bío Bío and Gregorio, where crude oil is processed to
convert it into fuel.
While the Gas & Energy (G&E) Business Line,
created in August, 2014 is in charge of the
gas business and its increased presence in the
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Cullen, Tierra del fuego

country’s energy matrix, pursuant the Energy
Agenda implemented by the Government in
May 2014.
The administration of ENAP is performed from its
Head Office in Santiago, Chile.

Legal Constitution, Ownership and
Control of the Company
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo is owned by the
State of Chile. It was constituted by Law 9.618 of
June 19, 1950 and its bylaws were approved on
October 10, 1950 by Decree 1,208 of the Ministry
of Economy and Trade at that time.
It operates as a commercial enterprise under
public law and is administered independently. To do

so, it has legal capacity and patrimony, and relates to
the Government through the Ministry of Energy and
the Ministry of Finance, with the latter for budgetary
purposes.
Law 9.618 has been amended by subsequent
laws. The updated text was approved by Decree Law
No.1 of 1986, of the Ministry of Mining. It is directed
by a Board of Directors of eight members headed
by the Minister of Energy, who acts as chairman.
The vice-chairman is the Executive Vice President of
Corporation de Fomento de la Producción (CORFO),
an entity that appoints three Directors. The other
three members of the Board represent the following
private entities: Sociedad de Fomento Fabril (Chilean
manufacturers’ association), Sociedad Nacional de
Minería (national mining companies association), and
the Chilean Institute of Mining Engineers.
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HISTORIC SUMMARY

The history of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
(ENAP) is closely linked to Chile’s development and
its particular geography.
Although the Company was officially created
by the State on June 19, 1950, long before that
it was predicted to become a strategic asset for
our country.
Before its incorporation as a company, a group of
heroic workers of CORFO, led by the engineer Eduardo
Simián, brought forth the first jet of oil in Springhill,
Tierra del Fuego, on December 29, 1945. It was
the same team led by Simián that recommended
the creation of a company to commercially exploit
the oil wells discovered in the southern part of Chile.
Thus, from its inception, the workers of an
emerging ENAP would realize that their contribution
to the development of Chile would be more than one
delivery of hydrocarbons. Over the years, and after
forming a strategic development pole in Magallanes,
which included the process of production of liquid
fuels and gas treatment in small volumes, in the
area of Manantiales, the company was ready for
its next step.
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On November 12, 1955, under the presidency
of Carlos Ibáñez del Campo, the Oil Refinery of
Concón (today Aconcagua Refinery) was inaugurated.
Its goal? To produce fuels on a large scale and
begin to compete in the commercial and industrial
refining business. After reaching a critical mass
of customers in central Chile, the company built a
Storage Plant in Maipú (1959), which was connected
to a multipurpose pipeline to transport crude oil
derivatives to the Metropolitan Region.
On July 29, 1966, with the opening of the second
oil refinery in Talcahuano, (today Bío Bío Refinery),
and the construction of two storage terminals, ENAP
declared its coming of age and defined itself as
a company dedicated to the oil exploration and
production, and the refining, storage and marketing
of fuels.
From there on followed the creation of the logistics
business and in 1981 became a company holding.
Once ENAP consolidated its various business areas,
began its international operations with the creation of
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A., in May 1990,
which years later was named Sipetrol and has shown
exploration successes in Ecuador, Argentina and
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Egypt. In 2004, the refineries of the Fifth and Eighth
regions, together with the subsidiary responsible for
the storage of fuels, Emalco, merged and formed
ENAP Refinerías S.A.
The terminal for Liquefied Natural Gas, LNG
in Quintero started operations in October 2009,
as a result of a partnership with British Gas (BG),
Endesa and Metrogas, which marked a milestone in
the development of ENAP as a company part of the
energy sector. Today, the LNG arriving to Quintero
has gained its space in the national energy matrix,
accounting for ENAP’s role as a key player in every
stage of the energy business.
In recent years, this company has undertaken a
strong exploratory campaign in search for new oil
and gas reserves in Magallanes, through a policy
of alliances called Special Oil Operation Contracts
(CEOP), which began in 2007.

In 2011, a new stage was completed in the
use of this mechanism with Geopark, Wintershall
and YPF; ENAP submitted applications to the
Ministry of Energy for five blocks, two of which
were formalized and became effective in
November 2012.
The investment committed in the CEOPs
will increase the hydrocarbon exploration and
production activity in Magallanes, will improve
the knowledge of the exploration potential of the
basin of this part of the country, and will create
new jobs with all the associated benefits for the
Twelfth Region.
Similarly, in recent years ENAP has intervened
exploration wells through hydraulic fracturing to
produce unconventional gas in the Arenal Block in
Tierra del Fuego and the block Dorado - Riquelme
in the continental area of Magallanes.
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
ENAP BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

COMPLIANCE MANAGER

COMPTROLLER
María Inés Garrido Sepúlveda

Alejandro Charme Chávez

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Marcelo Tokman Ramos

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Francisco Peralta Cortés

PLANNING AND CONTROL
MANAGER
Rodrigo Bloomfield Sandoval

CORPORATE AFFAIRS MANAGER
Gabriel Méndez Serqueira

HSE MANAGER
Oscar Leal Choque

LEGAL COUNSEL
Alfredo del Carril Caviglia

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER
Pablo Velozo Alcaide

ADMINISTRATION AND
FINANCE MANAGER
Ariel Azar Núñez

PROCUREMENT MANAGER
Georg Sternal Remmert

E&P MANAGER
ENAP SIPETROL S.A. MANAGER
Hesketh Streeter Evans

R&C MANAGER
ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. MANAGER
Marc Llambías Bernaus

GAS & ENERGY MANAGER
Andrés Alonso Rivas
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Fechas de ingreso de los principales ejecutivos de ENAP
Id. No.

Name

Profession

Joining Date

16.654.431-9

Marcelo Tokman Ramos

Economist

12.05.2014

23.991.729-1

Hesketh Streeter Evans

Geologist

16.04.2012

7.014.843-9

Marc Llambías Bernaus

Civil Industrial Engineer

01.10.2013

9.148.884-1

Andrés Alonso Rivas

Civil Industrial Engineer

01.08.2014

8.867.537-1

Pablo Velozo Alcaide

Lawyer

01.09.2014

9.907.068-4

Gabriel Méndez Serqueira

Lawyer

15.07.2014

23.687.801-5

Alfredo del Carril Caviglia

Lawyer

12.05.2014

6.971.003-4

Ariel Azar Núñez

Auditor

22.10.2014

14.662.064-7

Georg Sternal Remmert

Business Administrator

27.10.2014

9.584.826-5

Alejandro Charme Chávez

Abogado

01.09.2014

10.597.962-2

Oscar Leal Choque

Civil Mining Engineer

15.05.2014

8.341.032-9

Rodrigo Bloomfield Sandoval

Civil Industrial Engineer

16.04.2012

8.541.023-7

Francisco Peralta Cortés

Business Administrator

01.07.2014

9.277.163-6

María I.Garrido Sepúlveda

Business Administrator

24.02.2009

Joining Date of ENAP Directors (duration of 3 years and can be reelected indefinitely).
Nombre

Fecha de Ingreso Directorio

N° de Directorio

Máximo Pacheco Matte

25.03.2014

1.100

Eduardo Bitrán Colodro

25.03.2014

1.100

Ramón Jara Araya

28.10.2004

934

Fernán Gazmuri Plaza

20.08.2013

1.091

Fidel Miranda Bravo

30.04.2014

1.102

Jorge Bande Bruck*

30.04.2014

1.102

Fernando Ramírez Pendibene

22.03.2012

1.067

Jorge Fierro Andrade

22.03.2012

1.067

*Presented his resignation to the Board of Directors on December 16, 2014.
**In 2014 there was no disbursement for contracted consultants.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Máximo Pacheco Matte
Economist
Minister of Energy
Identity Card No.: 6.371.887-4

VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Eduardo Bitrán Colodro
Civil Industrial Engineer
Executive Vice President of
Corporación de Fomento de la
Producción (Corfo)
Identity Card No.: 7.950.535-8
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FERNANDO RAMÍREZ PENDIBENE
Civil Engineer
Instituto de Ingenieros de Minas de Chile
Identity Card No.: 7.876.527-5

RAMÓN JARA ARAYA
Lawyer
Identity Card No.: 5.899.198-8
Appointed by Sociedad Nacional de
Minería (Sonami)

FERNÁN GAZMURI PLAZA
Business Administrator
Identity Card No.: 4.461.192-9
Appointed by Sociedad de Fomento
Fabril

JORGE FIERRO ANDRADE
Chemical Plant Operator
Identity Card No.: 9.925.434-3
Appointed by Corporación de Fomento de la
Producción (CORFO)

Fidel Antonio Miranda Bravo
Director
Business Administrator
Corporación de Fomento de la
Producción
Identity Card No.: 6.923.830-0

Jorge Bande Bruck *
Director
Economist
Corporación de Fomento de la Producción
Identity Card No.: 5.889.738-2

*Presented his resignation to the Board on December 16, 2014.
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BOARDS OF DIRECTORS OF ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. AND ENAP SIPETROL S.A.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Eduardo Bitrán Colodro
Civil Industrial Engineer
Identity Card No.: 7.950.535-8

VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Marcelo Tokman Ramos

DIRECTORS
FERNÁN GAZMURI PLAZA
Business Administrator
Identity Card No.: 4.461.192-9

FERNANDO RAMÍREZ PENDIBENE
Civil Mining Engineer
Identity Card No.: 7.876.527-5

Economist
Identity Card No.: 16.654.431-9

Fidel Miranda Bravo
Business Administrator
Identity Card No.: 6.923.830-0

JORGE FIERRO ANDRADE
Chemical Plant Operator
Identity Card No.: 9.925.434-3

Jorge Bande Bruck*
Economist
Identity Card No.: 5.889.738-2
*Presented his resignation to the Board on December 16, 2014.

44

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

Remunerations of Senior Executives
The remunerations paid in 2014 to the senior
executives of ENAP and its subsidiaries amounted
Ch$3.557.121.463. The positions considered
in the referred amount correspond to 34
management positions existing as of December
31, 2014: Chief Executive Officer, Business Line
Managers, Managers of ENAP Head Office,
Managers in Magallanes and of the subsidiaries
Enap Refinerías S.A. and de Enap Sipetrol S.A.

Severance Payments
In 2014, the company paid severance
payments to senior managers amounting to
Ch$260.600.553.

Variable Remuneration System
ENAP has a Variable Remuneration System
(SRV) that is applicable to its executives. The factors
considered in the model for the determination of
the incentive are the financial results obtained by
the company, the individual results and results per
area, in addition to an individual behavioral factor.
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BOARD MEMBER REMUNERATIONS
ID No.

NAME

AMOUNT IN PESOS
2014

POSITION

AMOUNT IN PESOS
2013

4.461.192-9

Gazmuri Plaza, Fernán Ramiro

Director

2.966.778

1.820.081

4.643.327-0

Krause Lubascher, Rodolfo

Director

-

5.094.020

5.899.738-2

Bande Bruck, Jorge Arturo

Director

6.163.063

-

6.923.830-0

Miranda Bravo, Fidel Antonio

Director

5.355.015

-

7.033.701-0

Díaz Vergara, Carlos Antonio

Director

2.871.291

6.870.214

7.246.745-0

Morandé Lavín, Felipe Guillermo

Director

2.047.103

7.927.282

7.876.527-5

Ramírez Pendibene, Fernando Gustavo

Director

8.781.616

4.654.286

9.925.434-3

Fierro Andrade, Jorge René*

Director

9.013.780

8.408.302

37.198.646

34.774.185

TOTAL

* As an employee of the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., this Director received a remuneration equivalent to Ch$58.216.106, and Ch$18.327.352
for trips and travel allowances.
* The other directors did not received remunerations.
* Alternate Directors are not included.

DIRECTORS 2013 PERIOD
Id. No.

Name

Position

Profession

Joining Date

End Date

6.066.143-K

Jorge Bunste
Betteley

Chairman

Business Administrator

03-04-2012

11-03-2014

6.375.408-0

Hernán
Cheyre Valenzuela

Vice-Chairman

Business Administrator

29-03-2010

11-03-2014

7.033.701-0

Carlos
Díaz Vergara

Director

Business Administrator

26-12-2011

24-04-2014

4.643.327-0

Rodolfo
Krause Lubascher

Director

Chemical Civil Engineer

01-06-2008

01-08-2013

4.461.192-9

Fernán
Gazmuri Plaza

Director

Business Administrator

01-08-2013

To date

5.899.198-8

Ramón
Jara Araya

Director

Lawyer

28-10-2004

To date*

7.246.745-0

Felipe
Morandé Lavín

Director

Economist

14-02-2011

25-03-2014

7.876.527-5

Fernando
Ramírez Pendibene

Director

Mining Civil Engineer

07-03-2012

10-03-2015

9.925.434-3

Jorge
Fierro Andrade

Director

Chemical Plant
Technical Operator

28-02-2012

To date

* It has been renovated since his appointment in 2004
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ENAP PRODUCTS

Fuels

Industrial Products
LIQUEFIED
PETROLEUM
GAS
Propane
Butene

Petrochemicals and Natural Gas

gasolinES
Gasoline 97 Oct low RVP/Olefins (RM*)
Gasoline 93 Oct low RVP/Olefins (RM*)
Gasoline 97 Oct (RC**)
Gasoline 93 Oct (RC**)
Aviation Gasoline 100/130

diesel
Grade A1 Diesel
B2 Diesel
Antarctic Diesel
Marine Diesel

kerosene
Household Kerosene
Aviation Kerosene Jet A1

petróleos combustibles
Fuel Oil N° 6
Marine Fuel IFO 380
Marine Fuel IFO 180
PETROCHEMICALS
Ethylene
Propylene

solvents
Turpentine
Xylene
White Benzene
Solvent for Mining

SULFUR

ASPHALTS
Waterproofing Products
Asphaltic Cement

natural gas
Industrial and Residential Natural Gas
Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG)

PETRÓLEO CRUDO

natural gas

* Metropolitan Region
** Rest of the Country
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OIL PROCESSING
1

EXPLORATION

2

PRODUCTION

3

TRANSPORTATION LOGISTICS

4

REFINING

5

DISTRIBUTION

DRILLING RIG

1

BEAM PUMP

SEISMIC TRUCKS

2
PIPELINE

GAS
OIL

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

3

4

5

OIL TANKERS

CRUDE OIL
DEPOSITS

FURNACE DISTILLATION TOWER
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INTERNATONAL PRESENCE

Ecuador

Egypt
Block East
Ras Qattara

Argentina

Ecuador
Block MCD and PBHI
Block 3J

Egypt

Chile
Headquarters Santiago
Aconcagua Refinery
Bío Bío Refinery
Maipú, San Fernando and Linares Plants
ENAP in Magallanes
Easter Island. Vinapu Fuel Storage Terminal

Chile
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Argentina
Sipetrol Buenos Aires Office
Sipetrol Río Gallegos Office
Sipetrol Comodoro Rivadavia Office
Austral Basin:
- Block Área Magallanes
- CAM 2-A Sur
- E2 (ex CAM 1-CAM 3)
San Jorge Gulf Basin:
-Block Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido
-Block Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra

CHAPTER
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MANAGEMENT OF PEOPLE
AND THE ORGANIZATION
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MANAGEMENT OF PEOPLE AND THE ORGANIZATION
Talent Management at ENAP
As part of the strategy of development and retention
of key talent at ENAP, all the company’s business units
in Chile and abroad conducted a survey to identify
the potential for development of executives, leaders
and professionals. The objective of this initiative was
to identify the growth potential of key people, define
succession maps for critical positions, and measures

aimed at the retention of talented people. A total
of 748 people participated in this initiative, which
included the management periods of 2013 and 2014.

Development and Training
In 2014, the training rate was 3.7%; distributed as
follows per Business Unit:

Training
BUSINESS UNIT

TRAINING RATE

REFINERÍA ACONCAGUA Y DAO

5,7%

REFINERÍA BÍO BÍO

6,4%

ENAP MAGALLANES

1,7%

ENAP SANTIAGO Y SIPETROL

2,2%

* Source: ENAP Human Resources.
* The rate of training refers to the total number of training hours over the total hours worked.

Transverse trainings to support various processes
were carried out during 2014, among which outstand
the SafeStart training program, conducted by inhouse monitors, as well as the training on project

managements, designed and developed several in-

management, to strengthen the local and corporate

They were given by ENAP executives and

Project Management Directorates.

Innovation and Knowledge
Management
In the area of knowledge management, human
resources management, together with other

house training programs aimed at strengthening
the knowledge of the business.

professionals, who shared their experience and
expert knowledge in various subjects.
For example, the following were carried out:
a Commercial Policy Workshop, as part of the
Investigation of the National Economic Prosecutor
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Sísmica, Tierra del Fuego

on Clean Fuels Market for the marketing area; a

In this context, the project focus on the

course on Special Oil Operation Contracts (CEOP)

Safety of Persons, specifically in the Refining &

and Environmental Regulations for the Audit area;

Commercialization (R&C) Business Line. Considering

and a the course “Introduction to Hydrocarbon

this initiative, the following activities were carried out:

Exploration and Production” for various workers of
Enap Santiago and Enap Sipetrol, among others.
With regard to Innovation Management, we
continued working on the CORFO Project InnovaChile
for the “Incorporation of Comprehensive Skills for
Innovation Management”, whose objectives are to
transfer comprehensive skills to innovate, to generate
of a critical mass of leaders in the company’s Business
Units and to create a portfolio of projects to introduce
in ENAP a culture aligned with the strategy, while
adding value with the initiatives defined.
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1. With the new team, intra-entrepreneurs and
sponsors supporting the project, the work of five
teams (as defined by Innovation Committees)
continued with the implementation of concrete
solutions to the challenges raised with relation
to the safety of persons.
2. We worked on the three planned stages of the
project, that relate to the generation and profiling
of solutions with specific proposals submitted
for validation to the Local innovation Committee,

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

the preparation of the plan of prototypes for its
implementation, assessing their results and pilot
development for each model.
3. The results of all this work were submitted in May
to ENAP’s Innovation Committee for final validation,
in order to receive feedback and new guidelines
for the project’s continuity in the company.
In the field of Technical Assistance and
Collaboration Networks development, to contribute
to the positioning in both national and international
science and technology systems, the Human
Resources Management received a delegation of
company executives from Oil and Gas Natural Gas
Corporation (ONGC) from India, who were attending
the Oil and Gas Diploma at the Indian Institute of

Management of Calcutta, in order to identify best
practices in the industry.
With regard to the relationship with Arpel
(Regional Association of Oil and Natural Gas for
Latin America and the Caribbean), Enap continued
to participate in the Committee of Human Talent
Management and Knowledge Management, in order
to implement the initiatives committed for 2014,
which included the participation of ENAP in at least
two work teams, related to union management and
a database of candidates for the Oil and Gas industry
in Latin America.
In addition, ENAP actively participated in the
annual meeting of that Committee, held in Lima,
Peru, in August 2014.
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ENAP’s PERSONNEL
ENAP Executives and Workers
Manager

Head of
Department/
Director

Skilled
Professional

11

45

3

ENAP Magallanes

1

14

ERSA Bío Bío

1

Business Line
E&P
ENAP Santiago

Employee
1346

Total
1405

6

6

944

959
1

Sipetrol

7

4

39

53

Sipetrol Argentina

1

12

3

214

227

Sipetrol Ecuador

1

8

111

120

Sipetrol Egipto

1

6

32

39

R&C

8

32

15

1392

1447

ENAP Santiago

4

13

2

41

60

ERSA Aconcagua

3

6

8

638

655

97

99

608

623

ERSA DAO
ERSA Bío Bío

2
1

ENAP Magallanes

9

5

2

2

Gerencias ENAP

19

60

25

357

461

ENAP Santiago

13

41

18

102

174

1

2

5

98

106

81

87

ERSA Aconcagua
ERSA DAO

1

1

ERSA Bío Bío

1

4

1

ENAP Magallanes

1

6

1

Sipetrol

3

6

42

140

TOTAL

43

58

66

18

27

3096

3321

Per Business Unit

ENAP Santiago

Manager

Head of
Department/
Director

Skilled
Professional

Employee

Total

21

55

20

153

249

ENAP Magallanes

2

22

1

1007

1032

ERSA Aconcagua

4

10

13

736

763

ERSA DAO

0

3

0

97

100

ERSA Bío Bío

2

14

6

689

711

Sipetrol

10

10

3

57

80

Sipetrol Argentina

1

12

0

214

227

Sipetrol Ecuador

1

8

0

111

120

Sipetrol Egipto

1

6

0

32

39

42

140

43

3096

3321

Total ENAP
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

MARKET SITUATION IN 2014
Evolution of global supply and demand
According to preliminary estimates by the United
States Department of Energy (“Short Term Energy
Outlook”, January 2015), in 2014 the world oil
consumption reached 91.4 million barrels per day
(bpd MM), increasing 0.9 MM bpd compared to
2013. With this increase, global oil consumption
completed its fifth year of expansion since the Great
Recession, accumulating a growth of 6.3 MM bpd
compared to level in 2009.
The growth was due to the dynamism of
consumption in developing nations, which increased
by 1.2 MM bpd, contrasting with the decline of

300,000 barrels per day (bpd) of consumption in
the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development (OECD), still affected by the effects of
the recession in Europe and lower consumption in
Japan, which continued returning to nuclear power
plant operations stalled in 2011, displacing oil thermal
power generation.
According to the same source, the global oil
supply was 92.2 MM bpd in 2014, growing by 2.0
MM bpd in relation to the level observed in 2013.
The increase is mainly explained by the growth of
supply in North America (1,8 MM bpd), by developing
the production of unconventional oil (shale/tight oil)
in the United States, while OPEC kept constant its
supply and the rest of the world contributed with a
growth of 200,000 bpd.

WORLD OIL MARKET FROM 2014-2013 (Figures in Million Barrels per Day)
2014

2013

Variation

DEMAND

90,4

90,5

0,9

OECD

45,8

46,1

- 0,3

Non-OECD

45,6

44,4

1,2

SUPPLY

92,2

90,2

2,0

NORTH AMERICA

21,2

19,4

1,8

Non-OPEP

35,0

34,8

0,2

6,1

6,1

0,0

29,9

29,9

0,0

0,8

-0,3

OPEC LNG and Condensed Gases
OPEC Crude Oil
INVENTORY VARIATION

Source: U.S. Department of Energy, “Short Term Energy Outlook January 2015”
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For OPEC, the large drop in production in Libya
(450,000 bpd) in 2014, managed to be completely
offset by an increased supply from Iraq and Iran,
registering very minor changes in the production
of other member countries.
The excess of production over consumption during
2014 resulted in an accumulation of inventories of
800,000 bpd worldwide.

Crude Oil Price: General Outlook
During 2014, the price of Brent crude oil global
marker averaged US$99.4 per barrel at the
Intercontinental Exchange in London, decreasing
8.6% compared to the average of 2013 (US$108.7
per barrel).

The fall in the price of crude oil in 2014,
compared to 2013, was due in part to the
strong increase in production while the growth in
demand weakened as the year progressed, with
the indicators of the Chinese economy slowing at
a faster rate than expected, whereas in Europe
the stagnation of the economic activity brought
down consumption, which failed to be offset by an
increased economic activity in the United States
and Japan. Therefore, the price rose from US$
107.8 per barrel in early January, to an annual
maximum of US$ 115.1 per barrel in mid-June,
to fall then into a downward trend. This downward
trend has accelerated since October, when Saudi
Arabia and other exporters of the Persian Gulf
decided to lower their official prices for Asia and

DAILY ICE BRENT CRUDE OIL PRICE 2014
ISIS breaks into the
North of Iraq

US$/bbl

ISIS is contained; Chinese
economy shows
symptoms of
slowing down

120
116

Saudi Arabia lowers
its prices; other Persian Gulf producers
follow it

112
108
100
96

January-May: Hard winter (northern hemisphere) and low inventories keep the price up in a
US$106-110 per barrel range

November 27: OPEC
decides to keep the
production goal of 30
million barrels per day

August-September:
surprising high
production of Libya
and Nigeria

92
88
84
80
68
64
58
52
28/Ene

25/Feb

25/Mar

Source: Intercontinental Exchange (ICE).

66

22/abr

20/may

17/jun

15/jul

12/ago

09/sep

07/oct

4/nov

02/Dic

31/Dic
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other markets to maintain their market share,
abandoning their traditional behavior of reduced
production to sustain the price. The price closed
the year at US$ 57.3 per barrel.

Crude Oil Price: Evolution throughout
the Year
From January to early June the price of Brent
was relatively stable, fluctuating within a range of
US$106-US$110 per barrel. But in mid-June, the
breaking into Iraq from Syria of a radical Islamist
armed militia, ISIS (Islamic State in Iraq and Syria),
which advanced rapidly conquering important
part of northern Iraq, was climbing the price up to
US$115.1 per barrel, faced to the possibility of a
collapse of the Iraqi government.
However, by mid-July, the overwhelming advance
of ISIS was contained, inventories grew steadily and
more pessimistic economic expectations due to
the slowdown in China and stagnation in Europe,
and the price began to weaken and reversing
its upward trend. In August and September,
significant increases in production in Nigeria, Libya
and Angola intensified the downward trend in the
price of Brent, which closed September at US$
94.7 per barrel.
In October, when it was taken for granted
that OPEC or at least the Arab countries of the
Persian Gulf would reduce production to support
the price, surprisingly Saudi Arabia announced a
price cut as from November for its clients in Asia,
a measure that was replicated a few days later
by Iran and other Arab exporters of the Persian
Gulf. This was a powerful signal that Saudi Arabia
was leaving its traditional role of “swing producer”

and the Kingdom, in a dramatic policy shift, had
decided to maintain its market share. The rebates
of Persian Gulf exporters deepened the following
month, expanding to other markets, culminating on
November 27 in Vienna, where OPEC as a whole
agreed to maintain their joint production goal in
30 million barrels per day. Since there were no
significant declines in production in the rest of the
world, inventories continued to grow, weakening
the price of Brent, which fell to US$85.9 per barrel
in late October; to US$ 70.2 per barrel in late
November, and closed the year at US$ 57.3 per
barrel.

Price of Products in the Gulf Coast
In the Gulf Coast international market, the prices
of the various fuels decreased in 2014 compared
to 2013, following the downward trend of the price
of Brent crude oil, although price declines of the
main products were proportionately smaller, which
resulted in refining margins slightly higher than the
previous year.
During 2014 the price of gasoline averaged
US$107.2 per barrel, 5.2% lower compared to
2013. The export ban on U.S. crude oil production
allowed refineries in the Gulf Coast to have cheaper
local raw material and operate at a high capacity
utilization rate, substantially increasing the supply
of gasoline, despite the lower price.
The average price of diesel in 2014 was US$
114.4 per barrel, i.e. 8.2% lower than the average
of 2013. In addition to the high production of the
refineries in the Gulf Coast new refineries and
expansions of others in Russia and the Asia Pacific
increased the diesel supply globally, which brought
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down the price of this product, also weakened by
the feeble performance of the European economy,
its largest market.
Meanwhile, the price of fuel oil No.6 averaged
US$ 82.8 per for 2014, down 11% compared to
2013. Proportionately, the price fell more than the
price of crude oil, because of a reduced consumption
in shipping due to lower oil imports from the United
States and increasing restrictions on its use in some
coastal areas in North America and Europe, while
high rates of refining In the United States increased
the supply.

Domestic Market
During 2014, domestic consumption of refined
oil products reached 18.16 million cubic meters,
equivalent to 312,975 barrels per day (bpd),
decreasing by 1.6% over the previous year.
The decrease in consumption is explained by
the impact of higher prices for the end user and
a slowdown in economic activity. Thus, according
to preliminary estimates by the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD),
Chile’s GDP expanded by 1.9% in 2014, contrasting
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with the growth of 4.1% in 2013. The lower
production of the copper mining industry seems
to have been particularly relevant, as it is a large
consumer of oil fuels, according to preliminary
estimates of the Mining Council.
By analyzing the change in consumption per
product compared to 2013, very different behaviors
are appreciated, stands out the declines in the
consumption of Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG),
kerosene, diesel, fuel oil and industrial products,
contrasting with the increased consumption of
gasoline.
Total diesel consumption fell by 1.3% to 9.06
million cubic meters (156,140 bpd), affected by a
4.3% rise of its real price (the price change minus
the rate of inflation) and by a lower mining activity.
Despite the drop, diesel maintained its status as
the most consumed product among oil-based fuels.
Domestic consumption of vehicle gasoline was
the second largest by volume, with 4.04 million
cubic meters (69,593 bpd), growing 0.4% over
the level of 2013. Due to a high income elasticity of
demand for gasoline, the effect of income growth
of consumers associated with a higher GDP,
overcame the negative impact on demand of the
4.8% increase in the real price of this fuel.
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) became the third
most important product in terms of consumption,
with 2.23 million cubic meters (38,406 bpd),
registering a fall of 0.7% over the previous year.
In this case, the lower consumption is explained by
an increase in the real price of 0.8% and market
losses in favor of natural gas.

Argentina
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Kerosene consumption decreased by 1.5%, to
1.31 million cubic meters (22,589 bpd). Of the
total, aviation kerosene, representing 90% of
consumption, fell marginally by 1%, while household
kerosene fell 5.9%, affected by an increase of 8.4%
of its real price.

Finally, consumption of industrial products
-solvents, olefins (basic raw materials for the
petrochemical industry) and asphalts-, totaled
0.45 million cubic meters (7,812 bpd), 8.6% lower
compared to 2013.

Fuel oil consumption decreased 8.9% and
reached 1.07 million cubic meters (18,436 bpd).
The consumption of fuel oil in industrial applications
fell by 12.0% (101,000 m3), while the sales of fuel
oil as marine fuel in the country’s ports decreased
by 1.0% (3,000 m3).

Total sales reached 11.41 million cubic meters
(196,599 bpd), slightly below the previous year.
This decrease is mainly explained by the lower level
of export sales, which fell from 1.0 million cubic
meters in 2013 to 0.28 million cubic meters in
2014, i.e. a decrease of 71.3%, and by the lower

Sales

Domestic Consumption
2014 Mm3

2013 Mm3

Variation
2014/2013

Liquefied Petroleum Gas

2.229

2.244

-0,7%

Vehicle Gasoline

4.039

4.024

0,4%

Kerosene

1.311

1.331

-1,5%

Diesel

9.062

9.183

-1,3%

Fuel Oil

1.070

1.174

-8,9%

453

496

-8,6%

18.164

18.452

-1,6%

Domestic Consumption

Industrial Products and others
TOTAL
Source: ENAP
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Vista aérea Refinería Bío Bío

level of sales to the domestic market, down from
11.67 million cubic meters in 2013 to 11.13
million cubic meters in 2014.
Gasoline and diesel were the products with
greater participation in ENAP sales, with an
incidence of 36% and 38%, respectively.

Sales to Domestic Market
Sales to the domestic market totaled 11.13
million cubic meters (191,717 bpd), with a market
share of 61.3%, two percentage points less than
in 2013.
The drop in LPG sales (-75,000 cubic meters)
affected significantly in the lower market share,
due in part to reduced availability for sale of butane
from refineries, as part of the production load was
allocated to the Aconcagua Refinery Alkylation
Plant. This caused a drop in LPG domestic market
share from 21.1% in 2013 to 17.9% in 2014.
However, thanks to the production of such
Alkylation plant, ENAP increased its market share
in gasoline, whose value is higher than LPG.
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Among domestic sales, again diesel was the
product with the highest sales, with 4.30 million
cubic meters (73,995 bpd) and a market share
of 47.4%, lower than the 51.9% share recorded
in 2013.
The second best-selling product was vehicle
gasoline, with 4.08 million cubic meters (70,236
bpd) and a market share of 100.9%, exceeding the
participation of 99.5% achieved in 2013.
ENAP’s market share may exceed 100%
due to excess on domestic consumption, which
can be explained by an increase in the stocks of
distributors.
In order of sales, the following volumes
correspond to fuel oil, with 1.15 million cubic
meters (19,799 bpd) and a market share of
107.4%; kerosene, 0.92 million cubic meters
(15,770 bpd) and a market share of 69.8%; LPG,
with 0.40 million cubic meters (6,869 bpd) and a
market share of 17.9%. Finally, industrial products,
with 0.29 million cubic meters (5,048 bpd) and a
market share of 64.6%.
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Of the total sales in the domestic market, 10.14
million cubic meters (174,686 bpd) corresponded
to own production, representing 88.9% of total
sales. The remaining 11.1%, 1.27 million cubic
meters (21,913 bpd), was supplied mainly by
imports and, to a lesser extent, with purchases
from national third parties.

Exports
ENAP exports reached 0.28 million cubic
meters of petroleum products, equivalent to 2.4%
of the total production of its refineries.

ENAP’S SALES AND MARKET SHARE 2014 (in Mm3)
Domestic Consumption of Fuels and ENAP’s Sales in 2013 and 2014
Domestic
Consumption
Figures in Mm3

2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

ENAP Domestic
Sales
2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

Market Share
2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

ENAP Exports (**)
2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

Variation
2014/2013
Consumo
Nacional

Ventas
Nac.
ENAP

Liquefied Gas

2.229

2.244

399

474

17,9%

21,1%

46

24

-0,7%

-15,9%

Vehicle Gasoline

4.039

4.024

4.076

4.003

100,9%

99,5%

80

99

0,4%

1,8%

Kerosene

1.311

1.331

915

888

69,8%

66,7%

1

7

-1,5%

3,1%

Diesel

9.062

9.183

4.295

4.768

47,4%

51,9%

97

410

-1,3%

-9,9%

Fuel Oil

1.070

1.174

1.149

1.204

107,4%

102,6%

42

228

-8,9%

-4,6%

453

496

293

335

64,6%

67,6%

17

119

-8,6%

-12,6%

18.164

18.452

11.127

11.672

61,3%

63,3%

283

987

-1,6%

-4,7%

Industrial Products/
Others (*)

Total

(*) Includes Propylene, Ethylene, Naphtha, Solvent and Asphalts, among others.
(**) Exports include offshore sales mainly to Peru.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
ENAP seeks to be recognized as a leader in
sustainable development, considered one of the
pillars of its Strategic Plan. To meet this challenge,
the company approaches its activity from a series
of regulatory frameworks and best practices,
including the Corporate Sustainability Policy,
Community Engagement Policy and Health, Safety
and Environment Policy.
HSE management (Health, Safety & Environment)
has the responsibility to specifically ensure compliance
with the company’s Health, Safety and Environment
Policy, defining standards and supporting the
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business lines in the sustainable management of
their operations. As part of this important mission,
this management should ensure the implementation
of the Health, Safety and Environment Strategy in
the terms established by aligning the performance
to best practices in the industry.
It should be noted that from 2014, the Communities
area belonging to this division became part of the
Management of Corporate Affairs, therefore HSE
concentrated its efforts in the areas of Health, Safety
and Environment.
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HSE HIGHLIGHTS
HSE Strategy for the period 2014-2018 was
launched in June 2014 with the aim of achieving
standards comparable to those of the best oil
companies in the world. This guideline established
the following specific objectives designed for a
Sustainable Operation:

Health:

Ensure the control of occupational
diseases and of workers exposed to dangerous health
agents.

Safety:

Reduce the number and severity of
accidents (to reach by 2018 the level of safe oil
companies worldwide).

Environment:

Maintain and ensure
environmental permit to operate and grow.
As part of the objectives defined for HSE
Management, under the 2014-2018 HSE
Strategy, stands out having achieved zero fatalities
in all operations during 2014, a milestone not seen
since 2010. In addition, the accidents Frequency
Index decreased 12% compared to the previous
period.
Moreover, no serious accidents were reported
in the operations of the subsidiaries in Argentina,
Egypt and Ecuador.
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Magallanes
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During 2014 the SafeStart Self-Care Program
was reinforced, which was successfully applied
in all operations of ENAP in Chile. Similarly, the
process of investigation of accidents through
TapRoot platform to analyze its root causes, was
improved, and the Incident Management System
(IMS), which allows to track corrective action, was
strengthened.
In 2014 the Bipartisan Security Committee
(employers and employees), in which three
representatives of the Federación Nacional
de Trabajadores del Petróleo y Afines de Chile
(Fenatrapech) and three representatives of
the Federación de Profesionales, Técnicos y
Supervisores de ENAP (Fesenap) also worked to
support the implementation of the HSE strategy.
This instance analyzed the improvements required
in the implementation of the strategy, including
joint committees’ management.
Among the results of this work, it is worth
noting that the Continent Joint Committee and the
Offshore Joint Committee in Magallanes received
-in December 2014, the Bronze Certification
awarded by the Mutual de Seguridad, which
certifies that both possess a structure with defined
responsibilities, where each party fulfills different
functions assigned, maintaining records that
objectively demonstrate the implementation of the
planned activities.
It is worth noting that this important
accreditation was received in January 2015 by

the Joint Committee of the Central Area and in
February by the Joint Committee of Tierra del
Fuego.
Furthermore, and together with the Supply
area, in 2014 the HSE Management Methodology
in Supply Processes was launched to assess
contractors based on criteria of Health, Safety and
Environment. Certainly, an initiative aligned with
the best practices and international principles on
sustainability.
In addition, in late 2014 began the development
of the Structural Safety Project (PES, for its
acronym in Spanish), which aims first, to implement
labor standards for those high-risk tasks through
transverse processes in the company; and, second,
to establish a new form of Corporate Induction,
including these and other new industry standards.
This work will continue until the first half of 2015.
Subsequently, it will be applied to all the people
joining the company and there will be a leveling
process with all ENAP workers.

Advances in Energy Efficiency
The challenge of energy efficiency is a country
issue, to which ENAP is deeply compromised as
a state-owned company. Thus, under the Energy
Agenda of the current government, ENAP and the
Ministry of Energy signed a cooperation agreement
to promote the efficient use of energy resources,
especially with relation to the consumption of
hydrocarbons. This agreement includes an energy
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audit, to diagnose the consumption of ENAP’s
refineries; the implementation of an energy
management system and to determine indicators
to measure efficiency achievements.
In this regard, during 2014 there was significant
progress. In both, Aconcagua Refinery (ERA) and
Bío Bío Refinery (ERBB), started reporting energy
indicators to department heads, division heads,
among other officials to inform and reinforce
awareness of the efficient use of energy. Also, a
monthly report was implemented with information
on Marginal Cost, Supplies Distribution,
Consumption and Energy Indicators.
In the latter, began the preparation of a weekly
report that includes the daily energy consumption
and energy indicators, such as EII (Energy Intensity
Indicator), which allows to compare ENAP’s energy
consumption to consumption standard indicators
identified by the American company Solomon,
which are estimated based on world averages
of companies in the industry; and EEI (Energy
Efficiency Indicator), calculated as the energy
required to produce one cubic meter of valuable
product [BTU/m3].
In this context, in late 2014 began the collection
of information for the development of the Solomon
Study. This study, which is held every two years in
both refineries, corresponds to a benchmarking
that, as noted, allows to compare the various
refineries worldwide in energy, operational and
economic aspects, among others. The result of
this study, which is expected for the second half of
2015, will deliver major breaches in our operations
and recommendations to address the energy
saving strategy for both refineries.

Refinería Aconcagua
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Humedales, Magallanes

Improvement in the Recovery of LPG
in Aconcagua Refinery
In operational terms, it was possible to increase
the recovery of LPG (Liquid Petroleum Gas), which
is one of our valued products, by reducing its
content in refinery fuel gas. This was achieved by
improving the recovery of LPG in the tail gas of the
Cracking unit, which is the main contributor of LPG
to the fuel gas system.
The decrease of LPG content observed in the
tail gas was from 15% to nearly 7%, resulting in a
decrease in our fuel gas matrix of about 2% in the
content of LPG.

Boilers Purged Steam Recovery
Also during 2014, in Aconcagua Refinery a
storage container located in the supply area (F276) was installed, which aims to recover the
steam that boilers continuously purge. The benefit

of this project is to recover this steam, currently
vented to the atmosphere, for reuse in the process
units.
It is expected to have this system fully operational
by March 2015, which will allow to quantify the
savings generated by this initiative.

Boiler Economizers in Bío Bío
Refinery
As part of an energy improvement program
developed by Bío Bío Refinery, Economizers for
Boilers B-1001 and B-1002 were installed in the
Supply Plant, which initiated operations in March
2014. These economizers enable to recover a
large part of the sensible heat contained in the flue
gas and transfer it to the feed water.
The increased use of the heat released in the
boilers enabled to reduce fuel consumption and air
emissions.
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From March 2014 to date, there are already
improvements in energy efficiency: the installation
of the economizers increased by about 6% the
efficiency of both boilers through the thermal
utilization of flue gases. This generated a decrease
of about 0.36 MMBTU per ton of steam generated,
representing a 15% of energy savings.
In economic terms, considering that the price
of natural gas is about US$ 12 per MMBTU, and
a boiler in continuous operation generates 15
tons per hour, the savings will be of approximately
US$500 million per year.

ENAP Renewed its Commitment
to the Conservation and Wise Use of
Wetlands

through sponsorship and technical support to
the “Course for Biodiversity and Conservation of
Wetlands” taught at the Department of Science of
Universidad Santo Tomas. This program is aimed
at representatives of public services, municipalities
and businesses, as well as professionals from
various disciplines and university students, among
others. Now in its fourteenth edition, the course
has trained more than 800 people.
Moreover, together with the Municipality of
Concón and the Ministry of Environment, it has
convened stakeholders for the implementation of
the “discussion table for the effective conservation
of the Aconcagua River Mouth wetland”.

Low environmental impact in
fracking operations

Attending the call and commitments
encouraged by international treaties such as the
Convention on Biological Diversity and the Ramsar
Convention on Wetlands, for companies to take
on new roles and lead processes that promote
the conservation of these critical ecosystems,
ENAP has implemented its Program of Wise Use
of Wetlands, which aims to promote the effective
conservation of those wetlands located in areas of
influence of its operations.

The hydraulic fracturing process is a stimulation
technique of hydrocarbon wells, which involves
making a sustained injection of a fluid under high
pressure into the bore. This pressure, combined
with the chemical fluid, causes the rupture of the
reservoir rock, increasing its permeability and
reservoir contact area. Thus, new channels and
well flow rates are generated, which increases
productivity.

During 2014 ENAP continued supporting
scientific research campaigns carried out by
Chilean and Canadian researchers in Bahía
Lomas Ramsar site (Magallanes) on Red Knot
(Calidris canutus rufa), currently a migratory
bird endangered species. Additionally, it has
promoted capacity building for the conservation

This process, which allows the production of
unconventional gas, is responding to the urgent
need for this energy input by the inhabitants of
Magallanes. Thus, hydraulic fracturing is a process
that will allow to continue supplying the main
component of the energy matrix of the region and
each of its stages has been designed, implemented
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Trabajos de limpieza en la Bahía de Quinteros

and controlled according to the highest standards
to ensure the safety of both the population and the
surrounding area.
The sustainable approach to each of these tasks
has been present in the various projects handled
by ENAP and approved in the Environmental
Assessment Service.

International commitments
ENAP formally upholds to Global Compact of
the United Nations since January 24, 2007. This
international agreement promotes ten universal
principles of human rights, labor, environment, and
anti-corruption practices.
The company has complied with reporting annually
its Communication on Progress to this network,
which also has local representation in Chile, using its
Sustainability Report as main channel.

Spill in Quintero Bay
On the morning of Wednesday, September
24, one of the ships that serve ENAP, accidentally
poured 22,000 liters of oil into the Bay of Quintero,

when the Tanker LR Mimosa was moored to
ENAP’s SBM, being maneuvered from the stern of
the tug Puyehue, which pulled excessively, cutting
the mooring ropes. From the start, ENAP deployed
all its human and technical resources in order to
contain the emergency, and initiated dialogue with
organizations of artisanal fishermen in the coves
of Horcón, Ventanas, Embarcadero and Caletas
Unidas.
The relationship with these organizations was
understanding and collaborative. It should be noted
that the fishermen who participated in the cleaning
of Quintero Bay received a compensation from
ENAP. In addition, the owners of 52 boats were
given 200,000 pesos for the cleaning their engines
used in the tasks described, and 1.2 million to the
owners of 13 schooners to clean the hulls.
While taking no responsibility for the events,
given that these took place in our facilities, ENAP’s
Fluvial Maritime Contingency Plan was immediately
activated, providing containment actions that were
deployed immediately after the occurrence of the
LR Mimosa Tanker spill. After that, and given the
inaction of the companies owners of the tug and

83

ENAP - Annual Report 2014

Jorge Santander, Edmundo Piraino, Marc Llambías, Marcelo Tokman y Rodrigo Vargas trabajando en terreno durante el derrame de Quintero.

ship involved, ENAP Refineries S. A. activated the
cleaning and mitigation phases.

Quintero, Horcón, Loncura and Ventanas (750
people and 98 boats).

The contingency plan implemented by ENAP
considered two phases and an Environmental
Management Plan that are described below:

Inspections of the affected sectors to manage
the immediate cleaning were also performed. In
parallel, water and sediment samples were taken
for analysis.

First Phase: Control and Containment
First, four specialist companies were hired and
250 people for sweeping tasks (a peak of 1,200
people working in the emergency control was
reached). Meanwhile, 2000 meters of absorbent
socks were deployed and 1,500 meters of
booms were used. It also had the collaboration
of 757 fishermen in the control and collection of
contaminated sand, and 18 boats were hired for
boom deployment.
Second Phase: Cleaning and Remediation
Subsequently, we proceeded to the cleaning,
normalization and recovery of zones and resources
in the affected areas. The cleanup of the bays were
conducted with the cooperation of fishermen of
84

It should be noted that at all times ENAP kept
terrestrial and maritime surveillance in the area to
respond to any findings.
Environmental Plan
This plan considered the handling and disposal
of waste generated by the work, complying with the
current legislation. The disposal was carried out in
facilities of Hidronor Pudahuel Plant.
The Avifauna Rescue Protocol from SAG
and Sernapesca was implemented, establishing
the derivation of the species concerned to the
Veterinary Hospital of Universidad de Santo Tomas
in Viña del Mar. ENAP invested 15 million pesos
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to expand the facilities for the reception and
treatment of birds.
Finally, the samples taken basically, water and
sediments- were sent for analysis by independent
laboratories and certified by IA Ambiental. At the
same time, the studies were commissioned to
Laboratorio SILOB and the University of Valparaíso.
The spill incident has led to a thorough analysis
and review of the scope of the control areas by
ENAP, in order to establish new criteria for
contractors who are in charge of operational
maneuver.

Emissions associated with odors in
Bío Bío
In October 2014 a failure occurred in
the sulfur recovery plant in Bío Bío, which
led to annoying fumes affecting neighboring
populations El Triángulo and 18 de Septiembre,
in the commune of Hualpén.
It should be noted that the emissions did
not exceed the ranges established by the
regulations in force in any contaminant, and
there was no risk whatsoever to the health of
people or the environment. This was confirmed
by measurements made by the monitoring
stations of Bío Bío air quality network, to which
authorities have access and supervise them.
Notwithstanding the above, ENAP is working in
adopting additional measures to those normally
applied and in the evaluation of alternative
technologies to enhance operational safety.
Among the projects considered there is the
building of a modern sulfur recovery plant, which
is expected to be operational in 2017.

In addition, an agreement was reached with
the community of Hualpén, next to the industrial
complex, to develop a program led by the
Regional Municipality, aimed at the development
of a master plan to support the relocation of
290 families and develop various initiatives to
improve quality of life of the inhabitants of the
commune of Hualpén.

Environmental Qualification
Resolutions
During 2014, ENAP corporate group (in Chile)
submitted 17 projects to the Environmental Impact
Assessment System (SEIA, for its acronym in
Spanish) to obtain their respective Environmental
Qualification Resolutions (RCA, for its acronym in
Spanish), which totaled 268 RCAs.
Following is a summary of the RCAs per
Operation:
• ENAP Magallanes: 225 Environmental
Qualification Resolutions.
• Aconcagua Refinery: 25 Environmental
Qualification Resolutions.
• Refinery Bío Bío: 18 Environmental Qualification
Resolutions.
It should be noted that during 2014, the
authority visited ENAP operations in Chile, and
filed 11 sanitary investigations in Bío Bío Refinery,
which relate primarily to the community discomfort
associated with odor issues. As mentioned above,
this situation is being resolved with initiatives using
new technologies and working in partnership with
the authorities and the community.
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COMMUNITIES
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN CHILE
The relationship with the communities requires
a systematic and ongoing management, as it has
become a strategic factor of increasing complexity
and importance to organizations in general,
especially the extractive industry.

Engagement Policy, whose strategic plan includes
three areas of social investment. Education, Culture
and Sports.
The main actions implemented in each of the
operations in Chile are mentioned below.

During 2014, various activities were
implemented arising from ENAP Community

ACONCAGUA REFINERY
Agreement with the Community of
Concón:
One of the most important achievements in
terms of the relationship with stakeholders was
that -in March 2014 ended the conflict between
Aconcagua Refinery and the communities
represented by the Municipality of Concón, who
had filed an injunction to stop the construction of
the Combined Cycle and Cogeneration Power Plant
Project.
This agreement was possible thanks to a
process of dialogue with the community, including
a discussion table with experts, neighbors to the
project and representatives of ENAP, including its
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general manager. In that instance the community
was heard and the technical and environmental
aspects of the project were analyzed, committing
to a series of mitigation measures, most of them
related to the operation of Aconcagua Refinery.
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Scholarships Granted:
During 2014 15 university and / or technical
scholarships were awarded. This benefit is
part of the ENAP’s Education area and aims to
contribute to the access to higher education
for children at socio-economic vulnerability.
This initiative supported students from low
resources households from Concón, Quintero
and Puchuncaví.

Robotics Education Program:

This initiative was applied throughout all local
operations, together with the Spark Talents
Foundation. It is an educational proposal based
on LEGO Mindstorms, which uses buildable,
programmable robots, in order to develop
knowledge and encourage the use of new
technologies, on teachers and students.
At the same time, this project seeks to promote
comprehensive skills in children through problem
solving, creativity, communication, teamwork,
innovativeness and entrepreneurship. In Concón,
this program was implemented in the schools Oro
Negro and Puente Colmo.

This project also contemplated the participation
of students in the educational robotics competition
First Lego League 2014, held at the regional level,
with a national final in which the students selected
were supported by ENAP Magallanes.
On the other hand, Aconcagua Refinery
organized two free courses to the community
at ENAP’s Open House in Concón: International
Cuisine and Entrepreneurship.

ENAP Open House Radio in Concón

On November 12 ENAP Open House Radio began
broadcasting via streaming (audio and video), with
the aim of creating a new space for participation
and dialogue in Concón. Fifteen programs of selfrealization and a dozen musical segments are
part of its programming grid. The initiative is part
of ENAP’s Corporate Social Responsibility Policy
and is a direct relationship channel between our
company and the surrounding communities.
The radio operates 24/7 and is located at
ENAP Open House, in a room specially adapted for
the project, with professional equipment as well as
a technical and journalistic support team, which
ensures the best conditions for the development of
the programming.
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BÍO BÍO REFINERY
Tuition Grants:
In 2014 seven students of the Technical
University Federico Santa María and thirteen of
the Universidad de Concepción were benefited with
tuition grants. They are young people from lowincome households belonging to the communes of
Hualpén and Talcahuano, studying careers related
to the refinery’s activities.

Robotics Educational Program:

This project was implemented in Escuela
República del Perú, in Hualpén, and Colegio San
Vicente, of Talcahuano.
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Agreements with Fishermen Unions
No.1 and No.2 from San Vicente
Cove, in Talcahuano:
The purpose of the agreement is to relate with local
communities close to our facilities and it consisted of
the contribution of two container-offices and their
equipment, one for each union, which were delivered
in December 2014.

Agreements with Hualpén and
Talcahuano Fire Departments.

They are designed to establish the terms in
which collaboration between these institutions,
and Bío Bío Refinery is regulated to provide
coordinated support to firefighting tasks and
control of emergencies that could occur, and at
the request of Bío Bío Refinery, include training
activities, simulations and drills.
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Consultancy for Bío Bío Refinery
Community Engagement Proactive
Plan:
In 2014, Ernst & Young consulting services on
Sustainability were hired to build an IFC Standard
Baseline, Environment Analysis, Stakeholders Map
and Perception Study, aimed at obtaining a proposal
of community management strategy, which include
the formulation of plans of relationship with
neighboring communities.
Other initiatives that Bío Bío Refinery continued
during 2014 were the sports program and
workshops on emergency response system for

neighboring communities; activities sponsored and
supported the Expo Biovida of the Seremi of the
Environment and the University of Concepción, on
the occasion of its 95th Anniversary and meeting
with the community.
Environmental Information and Education
Centre (CEIA for its acronym in Spanish): the
company continued to support the activities of
this space open to the community, which works in
partnership with the Municipality of Hualpén. It is
located in the community El Triángulo, very close
to the Refinery. Talks, workshops, assemblies and
meetings are held in this Centre with neighboring
and social leaders. It also has free Internet access.

ENAP MAGALLANES
Energy Efficiency Awareness:
With the purpose of educating the population
on the efficient use of gas, management supported
the initiative of Enap Magallanes Workers Union
aimed to present the theatrical comedy “Si gas
para Chile”. (N.T. There is a song called “Si vas para
Chile”, (if you go to Chile)).
The piece was mounted by the regional
company “Pata Elefante” in the Municipal Theater,
the Schools Argentina and 18 de Septiembre, at
the Municipal Theatre, in Cerro Sombrero Cinema
and the school Bernardo O’Higgins in Porvenir.
In this line of work, ENAP and the Energy
Resources Studies Center of the University of
Magallanes handed the pamphlet “¡Ilumínate en

tu colegio! Conoce los sistemas de iluminación”
(Enlighten up at school! Know the lighting systems),
to all educational establishments dependent of the
Punta Arenas Municipal Corporation. This material
contains information on technical aspects of
lighting and recommendations on the proper use
of energy.

University scholarships:
Scholarships were awarded to seven students
from the University of Magallanes (UMAG), who have
a good academic performance, pursuing careers
related to the energy sector (Civil Engineering in
Electricity, Mechanics and Chemistry) and have
demonstrated personal effort for the completion of
their studies.
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which allowed them to participate in the national
competition developed in December in Santiago.

Archeology Book:

For the first time in Magallanes, ENAP gave this
scholarship that covers the full cost of the tariff of
the final year.

Robotics Education Program:

ENAP Magallanes and Methanex delivered to
educational establishments of Punta Arenas the
book “Construyendo Futuro en Territorio Aónikenk:
Arqueología en el Bloque Dorado-Riquelme,
Magallanes” (Building the Future in Aónikenk
Territory: Archaeology in the Dorado-Riquelme
Block, in Magallanes”.
This cultural contribution was the result of
joint work of ENAP Magallanes and Methanex
professionals, to encourage knowledge of the
history and customs of the first inhabitants of our
Patagonia.

Geology Workshop for Children of

In Magallanes, this project benefits 30 students
from Third to Eighth grades, teachers and school
leaders of Cerro Sombrero, in Tierra del Fuego.
As a result of the work done during the year, the
School of Cerro Sombrero was awarded the first
place in the Regional Competition First Lego League
developed in Punta Arenas, in November 2014,
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Explora Program:
For the eleventh consecutive year, the ENAP
geologist, Alejandro Pérez, collaborated with the
Science School Camp carried out by the Explora
Program from Conicyt and the University of
Magallanes, between January 6 and 11, 2014.
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The professional delivered the workshop “The
Geology Around Us”, which included lectures and
field trips to Pali Aike, Rio de las Minas, Fuerte
Bulnes and Chabunco beach sector, where 30
students from elementary to high school knew
geological attractions of the Magallanes territory,
thus understanding the dynamics of the formation
of the Earth.

2nd Stage of SafeStart in Schools:

performance in the workplace and at the same
time generate opportunities for job training,
employment and local sourcing.

Silesian Museum Guided Tours:
As in 2013, this program of ENAP called the
companies with a permanent exhibitions at the
Hall of Energy at the Maggiorino Borgatello Silesian
Museum in Punta Arenas. In 2014 the museum
received about 60 young conscripts from the
Chorrillos Regiment, who are finishing high school
in the Army and come mainly from the Sixth and
Seventh Regions.

Winter Carnival:

Thanks to the success of the pilot project in
2014 it was decided to expand the number of
participating students to a total of 160 (80 from
Don Bosco Institute and 80 from Liceo Industrial of
Punta Arenas), who accessed the contents of the
course received by all Enap Magallanes workers.
The purpose of this contribution of Enap
Magallanes to technical-vocational schools is
to collaborate in the educational process of
students, giving them a tool useful for their future

After seven years, ENAP Magallanes again
became part of the Winter Carnival in Punta
Arenas. With the murga “Carnival of Light”, was
awarded the first place in this category of the
traditional activity, which during two days brings
together more than 40,000 people.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN INTERNATIONAL
SUBSIDIARIES

ENAP SIPETROL ARGENTINA
Sipetrol Argentina conducts a series of actions
that are intended to bind the company with its
principal stakeholders, located in areas of influence
where the company conducts its operations.
In this regard, during 2014 the company
carried out activities related to the environment,
professional development, education and direct
involvement with priority stakeholders.
With respect to initiatives related to the
environment, during 2014 we began working hard
in the Penguin Provincial Reserve of Cabo Vírgenes.
The work plan is structured in two stages, the first
was completed in October 2014 and consisted of
a series of actions to improve the Parking, Tourist
Sight and Path of the Penguin Reserve; and the
second stage, to be completed during 2015,
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involves the improvement and implementation of
the Penguin Reserve Rehabilitation Center and
Interpretation Center, for which progress has been
made with a detailed survey of the needs of these
centers, technical specifications and the bidding
process was initiated.
The work with the Penguin Reserve implies
a rapprochement with the Provincial Agrarian
Council, body responsible for the area and the local
community.
In the area of professional development, in
November 2014 Sipetrol Argentina participated
and sponsored the IX Congress of Hydrocarbon
Exploration and Development held in the city of
Mendoza. This activity is conducted every three
years and is the largest in the region in these areas.
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Parallel to this event, industrial and trade samples,
technical sessions, pre-conference courses, field
visits and social activities were organized. Company
representatives were part of this experience that
according to statistics, had one of the largest
attendance of recent editions.
In the area of education, the company launched
during 2014 an Internship program, with the
aim of providing a first opportunity to enter the
labor market for advanced university students
from different communities in which the company
operates.
Internships are coordinated by the National
University of Southern Patagonia (UNPA, for its
acronym in Spanish) and the National University
of Patagonia San Juan Bosco (UNPSJB, for its
acronym in Spanish), two of the largest campuses
in the area, creating a very beneficial partnership
for this and other future actions.
Finally, with regard to the engagement with the
organization key stakeholders, Sipetrol Argentina
participated in May 2014 in the Commercial and
Industrial Exhibition of Comodoro Rivadavia. In
addition to enabling the engagement with local key
stakeholders, the participation in this event allowed
the company to reveal the importance assigned
to the care of the environment and communities,
through its Operational Integrity Management
System (OIMS).
During the exhibition, there was interaction
with journalists, students, industry peers, SMEs,
authorities, officials and the general public. It was
a very fruitful occasion for sharing, especially for

company executives, who had the opportunity to
meet the highest provincial authorities that visited
the exhibition, including the Governor and Minister
of Hydrocarbons of Chubut and the Chilean Consul
based in Comodoro Rivadavia.
Also, as a member of the Argentine Institute of Oil
and Gas (IAPG, for its acronym in Spanish), Sipetrol
Argentina participated during 2014 in the Project
for Research and Innovation in the Technology Area
called Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR), which is part of
the Cooperation Framework Agreement signed
in 2009 by the Ministry of Science, Technology
and Productive Innovation of the Nation and the
IAPG. In addition, the company participated actively
in important working committees, such as: Legal
Affairs, Institutional Relations and Environment,
among others.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina works in the continuous
support to four actors relevant to operations
where it performs its activities: fire departments
from towns close to its operations, the University
of Southern Patagonia (UNPA), the Provincial
Agrarian Council of Santa Cruz (CAP in Spanish)
and the Government of Santa Cruz. Furthermore,
supplies Natural Gas to Estancia Monte Dinero, the
Argentina Naval Prefecture (PNA, for its acronym in
Spanish) and the Argentina Navy of Faro Vírgenes,
in the south of that country.
Along with contributing to the creation of shared
value with stakeholders, these actions are also
aimed at strengthening the reputation of Sipetrol
Argentina, understood as a social approval to
operate.
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ENAP Sipetrol Ecuador, ENAP SIPEC

The work of Enap SIPEC Community Engagement
contributes significantly to the development of the
operation in Block Mauro Davalos Cordero (MDC).
In order to strengthen management, the approach
to everyday relationships with communities was
restructured, conceiving it beyond the negotiation
and socialization of new projects as a concrete way
to contribute to the benefit and development of
communities of the Area of Direct Influence.
The systematization of the activities to establish
a consistent and continuous work has been
possible with the application of a logical framework
matrix that constantly evaluates compliance while
ensuring its effectiveness and efficiency. The main
achievements and activities of 2014 are described
below.

94

Education
Among the contributions made by ENAP
SIPEC are the granting of scholarships to 16
students benefiting from this process, the
delivery of backpacks and school supplies
to students in the Educational Units of the
Direct Influence Area and materials for the
maintenance of five of these units.
Ecological Points were given for collecting
the waste produced daily in schools as a
contribution to their disposal.
Moreover as part of Enap SIPEC Social
Responsibility activities the project Enapito
developed in the Community, which is divided
into two stages:
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“Enapito Club”, an instance which aims to
educate children on health prevention and
socialization of human values through puppets,
games, group dynamics, stilts and juggling in
the schools in the five communities in the area.
“Enapito”: A collection of 12 CD recorded
in High Definition to spread topics of Nutrition,
Health, Hygiene, Environment, School Food
Garden and values. These collections are made
available to children in schools, accompanied by
a teaching guide for the teachers.

Health Support:
Health Support: Enap SIPEC’s support with
medical and dental brigades that provide preventive
care in each of the communities in the area of
direct and indirect influence is permanent
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ENAP SIPETROL EGYPT

Sponsorship to Football Tournament
of Oil and Gas Companies
Under the Corporate Social Responsibility
Program promoted by the company, and for the
sixth consecutive year, Sipetrol Egypt sponsored the
football tournament for Oil & Gas Companies, which
takes place during the holy month of Ramadan. This
year, Sipetrol Egypt was the platinum sponsor of
this tournament category, which is the main social
event of the sector and involved the most prestigious
companies, both public and private.

Contribution to the community
Together with other neighboring companies, Enap
Sipetrol participated in activities aimed at cleaning,
painting and planting the area surrounding their
facilities. The company also continued to deliver its
social contribution to the local orphanage.
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Multicultural Meeting
On February 27, 2014, the Chilean Embassy in
Cairo participated in the celebration of the 11th
International Day event organized by the center Sawy
Culturewheel, with the purpose of spreading the
culture of different countries at intercontinental level.
With the support of Enap Sipetrol, the employees
of the embassy shared valuable information about
Chilean history and culture with the guests, as well
as some gifts to commemorate the event.
The team of the Chilean embassy was headed
by the Ambassador and Consul of Chile in Cairo, in
addition to diplomatic officials. Representing Sipetrol
Egypt, attended Sayed Rezk, general manager of
the company.
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Sísmica Magallanes

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS
February 6

June 19

SENDA Certified Bío Bío Refinery as
Preventive Work Space

National Security Council Honors
ENAP

With the presence of workers from different
areas of the company and at the company’s
facilities, Bío Bío Refinery was certified by the
National Prevention and Rehabilitation from
Consumption of Drugs and Alcohol, (SENDA, for its
acronym in Spanish), as Preventive Work Area of
Drug and Alcohol at its initial level. This certification
is a recognition of the hard work developed by the
company, led by a prevention coordinator team
consisting of employees from different levels of
the company, under the Partnership Agreement
signed between the Refinery and Senda, in 2013
to implement the Program Working with Quality
of Life.

ENAP Aconcagua Refinery won the National
Security Council (CNS, for its acronym in Spanish)
Award, an award that the entity gives annually to
companies in the mining, energy, industrial and
metallurgical sector, to which ENAP is attached. As
part of the selection process, statistics considered
to grant an award are those related to in-house
staff, does not include contractors. The CNS is
a nonprofit organization that brings together
companies in the mining and industrial areas, and
which are also involved universities and the Ministry
of Health. The CNS awards annually companies
that excel in terms of programs and the results
obtained in the field of risk prevention.
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July 29

December 29

ENAP Signs Energy Efficiency
Agreement with the Ministry of
Energy

ENAP Outstands for One Million Hours
without Accidents

The agreement was signed as part of the
Government’s Energy Agenda and seeks to
promote a more efficient use of ENAP’s energy
resources, through the promotion of energy
management and the use of efficient equipment.
It also provides for the dissemination of successful
projects and replicable experiences to promote
energy sustainability and development. Among the
objectives of the agreement is ENAP’s commitment
to improve energy performance by implementing
medium and long term programs to collect the
recommendations of independent energy audits,
carried out by specialized consultants.

Teamwork, leadership and management that
ENAP Aconcagua Refinery has made on security,
allowed the company to complete in September
“one million man hours without Lost Time Accidents
in the case of own personnel”. This achievement
was recognized by the Security Mutual of the
Chilean Chamber of Construction, that he gave the
subsidiary of ENAP an award for this milestone.
This recognition demonstrates the company’s
commitment to safety and to make things right,
which is the result of the commitment of all the
people who are part of this company.

October 2
ENAP Receives Corporate
Transparency Award 2014
ENAP received second place in the Corporate
Transparency 2014 Award, ranking that for the
fifth time organized by Chile Transparente and
Universidad del Desarrollo, sponsored by KPMG,
which develops business intelligence consultancy.
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo, together with
Codelco and ZOFRI, led the ranking of the most
transparent State-owned companies in the country.
Marcelo Tokman, ENAP CEO, received the award
on behalf of the company from José Antonio VieraGallo, president of Chile Transparente.

Jose Antonio Viera-Gallo and Marcelo Tokman.
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Trabajadores Enap Refinerías S.A.

COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT (ETHICS AND COMPLIANCE)
Since its creation in 2012, compliance
management reports to ENAP Board of Directors
through its Ethics, Audit and Risk Committee. Its goal
has been to manage the commitment assumed by
the company with good business practices, ethics
and compliance with regulations that any socially
responsible company should follow.
Thus, the mission is to deliver the means by
which the company and all those who belong to
it, can identify with the values of ENAP and the
need to develop good practices in all areas where
the company interacts, i.e., workers, communities,
contractors, suppliers, customers, authorities and
society in general.
Consistent with this, the role of this management
is primarily preventive, and seeks through its
Compliance Program, to strengthen the ethical
culture of the organization and develop actions to
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create a favorable environment to identify with the
values of the company and comply with current
regulations.
In the development of its activities, ENAP
should ensure good practice and compliance, to
be recognized as a responsible, transparent and
sustainable company, and that all those working in
it feel proud to be part of the organization.
During 2014, the main activities of the
Compliance Management were:
1. Management and Research of Inquiries
and Complaints Helpline “ENAP Responds”
Ninety-nine cases were received, corresponding
to 41 inquiries and 58 complaints. The subjects
most visited and/or reported were related to
issues concerning conflicts of interest, labor,
protection of the patrimony and non-discrimination.

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

2. Distribution of the Code of Ethics in ENAP
and Enap Sipetrol Argentina
The training on the Code of Ethics continued
in the various business units in Chile. In August
began the training in Enap Sipetrol Argentina, to all
workers and in all Business Units.
3. Implementation and Development of the
Crime Prevention Model
During the year, Compliance Management
began with the implementation and development of
the Crime Prevention Model, whose scope includes
ENAP Headquarters and its subsidiaries. The
Board of Directors appointed ENAP Compliance
Manager as responsible for crime prevention and
compliance officer. Currently the company is in
the process of certification of its Crime Prevention
Model, which is part of the duties of direction and
supervision required by Chilean law.

4. New Manager
The lawyer Alejandro Charme Chavez joined the
company in September as the new Compliance
Manager, and leads all projects and challenges of
this management.
5. New Conflict of Interest Policy and Gifts,
Invitations and Benefits Policy
In December, the ENAP Board of Directors
confirmed the existing Gifts, Invitations and Benefits
Policy and the Compliance Management developed
an online application to submit the respective
statements. In addition, a new Conflict of Interest
Policy was approved.
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Inquiries and Complaints 2014
Total inquiries and Complaints
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Complaints
Inquiries

58

41

Channels Used to Make Complaints – January to December 2014

3,03%
Telephone

4,04%
13,13%

Letter

In Person

19,19%
Web

60,61%
E-mail
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Subjects of Inquiry and Complaints *
35

Conflicts of interest

31

Protection of the Patrimony and Information

30
25

28

Non-discrimination / Equity / Privacy

24

Labor

21

Others

20

Management

15

Safety

15

Communities

10

7

5

2

0

1

* The number of behaviors do not necessarily coincides with the number of cases, since the same situation may involve one or
more behaviors.

Inquiries and Complaints under Investigation and Completed during 2014

79%

78 cases
completed

21%

21 cases under
investigation
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DAO Maipú.

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

ENAP - Annual Report 2014

INTEGRATED RISKS MANAGEMENT
During the first half of 2014, ENAP continued
to work on its integrated risk management model,
effective since June 2012. Since that year, given the
arrival of the new CEO, the different business lines and
transverse managements presented and validated
their main risks, mitigation plans and their level of
execution. They received feedback and suggestions
for improvement, which were implemented during
the year.
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The challenges for 2015 are aimed at improving
the Integrated Risk Management, identifying the
different maturity levels that exist in the Business
Lines and transverse managements, and define
and implement a work plan that will enable us to
gradually close the identified gaps and achieve a
similar degree of maturity at ENAP’s level. In this
way it contributes to the fulfillment of the objectives
defined in the ENAP’s Strategic Plan.
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Magallanes
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MARKET RISK FACTORS

ENAP is involved in the exploration and
production of hydrocarbons through its subsidiary
Sipetrol S.A. and in the refining, transportation,
storage and marketing of petroleum products
through ENAP Refinerías S.A. Of these activities,
a substantial part of the company’s operations are
the refining and marketing of its products in Chile.
ENAP Refinerías S.A. leads the domestic market
supply with a market share that historically has
fluctuated between 70% and 80%.
The company accesses the international market
for the supply of crude oil and products. This allows
the company to ensure supply and fulfillment of
its trade commitments. The supply of crude oil of
ENAP Refinerías S.A. is mainly obtained from South
America and the North Sea. Its main suppliers
are Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Argentina and the
UK. The company’s refineries have the necessary
facilities to receive and store this raw material.
As for the origin of the imported refined products,
during the last year these products came mainly
from the United States.
The business of ENAP Refinerías S.A. consists
mainly of buying crude oil in the international
market for refining and sale of the products thus
produced in the domestic market, according to its
policy of import parity prices. The refining margin
is subject to fluctuations in international prices of
crude oil, the refined products and the difference
between them (international margin or “crack”).

108

Considering an average refining level of 72 million
barrels per year, a variation of US$ 1 per barrel
in the crack, if the rest remains constant (ceteris
paribus), would have an impact on results of US$
72 million in one way or the other.
As a core strategy to address the risk of
changes in refining margins, ENAP has directed
its investments to increase its production flexibility
and product quality. So far they have not hired
financial derivatives to fix the refining margin, but
the price levels offered by the market are being
monitored constantly.
The relevant risks to the business are essentially
the refining margin and the price fluctuations in
international oil markets and products, due to the
time delay between the purchase (shipping) of the raw
material and sale of the refined products. Therefore,
hedges such as Time Spread Swaps are made to
cover the latter risks. Such hedging strategies are
complemented with the use of swap sales contracts
of refined products. Given the high volatility in oil
prices, the administration has continued with the
hedging contracting policy that allow minimize the
impact of any sudden and significant declines in oil
prices, considering the refining business cycle, the
gap between selling prices of the products and the
cost of crude oil refining. Nevertheless, it is important
to mention that these instruments by their nature
and mode of operation, protect from changes in oil
prices, but do not ensure 100% elimination of the
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effects on income due to volatility in the purchase of
raw materials.
Additionally, the company has conducted swap
rate differential operations, which aim to set the
price of those shipments indexed to WTI or DTD
markers to Brent ICE marker. In each crude oil
purchase tender, the decision to buy one alternative
over another is based on an optimization model

that takes into account, among other variables,
a projected refining margin using the ICE Brent
marker. Therefore, when awarding a tender
to supply crude oil denominated in WTI or DTD
it is important to make sure that the differential
between this marker and ICE Brent at the time
the purchase decision was taken does not get
significantly worse, in order to maintain the optimal
condition that existed at the moment of purchase.
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The exchange rate is another business risk
factor because a significant portion of the revenue
is in pesos and the liabilities in dollars. This factor
is minimized by the hedging policy for accounts
receivable and prices of products that are based
on import parity indexed in dollars, a situation that
is analyzed periodically to maintain a competitive
position, taking into account the freedom of prices
and importation that exists in Chile.
The fair value of forward currency contracts
is calculated taking as reference current forward
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity
profiles. The fair value of the differential swap
is calculated using relevant markers’ futures
contracts tables (Nymex WTI, Brent DTD or ICE
Brent).

Results Summary
As of December31, 2014 ENAP had net
income of US$ 157 million, which compares
favorably with the profit achieved in December 31,
2013 of US$ 134 million (a variation of US$ 23
million). This improvement is generated by a better
management in non-operating result and positive
effects on taxes. The EBITDA as of December 31,
2014 was US$ 621 million, compared with US$
678 million generated as of December 31, 2013.
It is worth noting that the result and EBITDA in
2014 was achieved despite a series of facts that
negatively affected the financial performance of
ENAP. Among the events generating lower revenue
and EBITDA in 2014 compared to that of 2013,
are the higher cost of supply to the Magallanes
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Region, lower net costs (purchase prices) due to the
modification of the contract with BG, dividends and
capital gain from the Primax business in late 2013.
It is important to mention that on May 15,
2014, the company made the decision to stop
operations of the Ethylene plant, which generated
savings in the operating costs of Bío Bío Refinery.
ENAP’s equity amounted to US$ 546 million
as of December 31, 2014, an increase of US$
315 million compared to December 31, 2013,
due to net income, credited to retained earnings of
US$109 million for the purposes of the tax reform
and net credit of exercise in hedging reserves by
US$ 49 million.

Income Statement
REVENUE
The decrease in revenues from sales of R&C
products (US$ 606 million), is mainly due to the
reduction in international prices of products,
which affects pricing in the local market. The
average selling price of own products decreased
from US$ 123.2 per barrel to US$115.9 per
barrel (5.9%). In turn the variation in volume as
explained later, is marginal between one year
and the other.
With regard to the sale of R&C imported
products (Diesel, Gasoline and Fuel Oil), they
totaled a sale of 1,247 Mm3 in 2014, which
compares with 2,189 Mm3 of the previous year,
this 43% decline is explained by a lower demand
for diesel by thermoelectric companies and a
lower demand for gasoline.
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Revenues from sales in E&P increased by
US$ 51 million mainly due to higher revenues
from crude oil and oil services in Ecuador.
Revenues associated with the compensation
covering the lower value obtained from sales
of gas produced in the Region of Magallanes
amounted to US$55 million (US$ 58 million
in 2013). This figure, which is a result of the
approval of the Budget Act, is less than the cost
of actual sales, amounting to US$ 105.3 million.
COST OF SALES
In line with the decline in revenues, the cost
of sales of ENAP as of December 31, 2014
decreased by US$ 1,280 million, maintaining the
gross profit margin of 5%, as in 2013.
The decrease in the cost of sales (US$ 1,280)
is mainly explained by the variation of the following:
The purchase cost of crude oil decreased by
US$ 650 million (9.4%) which is explained by a
decline in the price of the average cost of raw
materials from US$107.1 per barrel in 2013 to
US$97.9 per barrel in 2014, which was due to
the fall in international prices and the optimization
of the crude oil purchase process. Moreover, a
decrease was observed in the cubic meters sold
from 10,343.9 Mm3 as of December 31, 2013 to
10,277.4 Mm3 as of December 31, 2014.
Regarding the lower purchase cost of imported
products, as indicated above, the decline is the
result of both lower prices and a lower sales
volume.
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PRIME MARGIN
The Unit Prime Margin remained in line with
the previous year by US$15.6 per barrel, which
is associated with the behavior of international
margins for petroleum products during the year.
GROSS MARGIN
Gross margin as of December 31, 2014 was
US$ 479 million, representing a negative variation
of US$ 94 million over the previous year.
R&C Gross margin shows a decline of US$ 24
million, which were originated in the business line
operations in the Region of Magallanes, since the
operation of Enap Refinerías remained unchanged
at gross margin level.
In the Exploration and Production Business Line,
the gross margin decreased by US$ 70 million.
This fall is mainly explained by less revenues in
Enap Magallanes because of lower sales of raw
material; higher production costs in Argentina and
Magallanes: higher costs in gas purchases to third
parties for the supply in the Region of Magallanes;
all offset by higher revenues in Egypt as a result of
the successful exploration campaign of the asset
East Ras Qattara in 2014.
VARIATIONS IN OTHER CATEGORIES
The item Other Earnings (Losses) decreased
from an income of US$ 126 million on December
31, 2013 of US$ 2 million as of December 31,

Bío Bío
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2014, primarily due to the effects of the sale of the
investment in Peru (Primax) registered in 2013.
The item Other Expenses by Function decreased
from US$ 90 million to US$ 41 million on
December 31, 2014 (54.4%). Geological Studies
decreased US$ 16 million, as they were incurred in
2013 associated with Block 3J (Ecuador), the Dry
Exploration Wells and Abandoned Wells decreased
by US$ 39 million due to a higher probability of
success.
Distribution costs decreased US$20 million due
to lower costs associated with maritime freight.
Meanwhile, the financial costs decreased by
US$ 18 million (9.1%), from US$ 197 million
to US$ 179 million as of December 31, 2014,
primarily due to the reduction of the debt that
ENAP has in bank loans by US$ 18 million.
Participation in income (loss) from related
companies decreased by US$11 million on
December 31, 2014, due to lower net portfolio
investments in related companies and because in
2013 the results from the operation of Primax in
Peru were recognized in this line.
The Exchange Difference shows a loss of US$
8 million on December 31, 2014, which compares
with a loss of $25 million from December 31,
2013. This value reflects a trade-off between
the cost hedging accounts receivable and the
depreciation of the Chilean peso, which affected
the credit balances of the statement. Hedges of

accounts receivable consist of forward contracts
that allow to set the exchange rate in the future,
in anticipation of the risk of loss on accounts
receivable from customers, denominated in pesos.
The item Income Tax reflected a tax benefit of
$87 million on December 31, 2014, as compared
with the expenditure of US$ 74 million obtained on
December 31, 2013.
ASSETS
As of December 31, 2014 total assets shows
a decrease of US$ 617 million compared to the
existing assets on December 31, 2013. This
decrease is mainly generated by the variations in
the balances of the following items:
- The Inventories item reflects a decrease of
$560 million (43%) compared to December 31,
2013. The main changes are the effect of the
following:
•

The lower value of inventory of crude oil
for refining, amounting US$ 373.4 million,
mainly explained by a decrease in the volume
of inventories, down from 854.1 Mm3 on
December 31, 2013 to 730.1 Mm3 (14.5
%) on December 31, 2014, supplemented
by the effect of a decline in international oil
prices, according to the unit values discussed
above. Additionally, as of December 31, 2014
the book value of crude oil has been adjusted
to the net realizable value which corresponds
to their replacement value, worth US$ 123
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million, which has its full compensation through
hedging operations made by the company, and
is reflected in Cost of Sales item.

- A decrease of US$ 315 million (67.2%) in
Cash and Cash Equivalents account as a result of
different closing position in both years.

The lower value of Inventory Products, amounting
to US$ 193.2 million, mainly due to a lower price
on the unit cost of inventories decreased from
US$116.5 per barrel to US$ 87.8 per barrel
(24 7%), partly offset by the increase in the
volume of product inventory, rising from 812.1
Mm3 on December 31, 2013 to 901.6 Mm3
(11.0%) on December 31, 2014. In addition, as
of December 31, 2014 the book value of the
products has been adjusted to the net realizable
value, worth US$ 72 million, which has its full
compensation through hedging transactions
made by the company and is reflected in Cost of
Sales item.

- A decrease of US$ 294 million (29.5%) in
the Trade and Other Receivables compared to
December 2013, mainly in the Trade Debtors item.
This decrease was due to lower average nominal
price, calculated based on net unit sales prices
between December 2014 and December 2013 of
own products and purchased products of 26.2%
(US$ 118.3 per barrel vs. US$87.2 per barrel).
This is offset by:
- The increase in Other Current Assets of US$
211 million (5,275.0%) compared to December
2013 corresponds to an active position of hedging
derivatives, mainly Time Spread Swap-TSS.
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- An increase of US$ 201 million (35.9%) in
Deferred Tax Assets category mainly due to the
application of the Tax Reform that amends the
system of income taxation and introduces various
adjustments in the tax system, which generated
a charge of US$ 113 million, and by the effect of
the increased deferred assets associated with the
temporary differences during the year.
- The increase of US$ 116 million (4.4%) in
the category net Property, Plant and Equipment,
is mainly explained by an offset effect between
additions totaling US$ 522 million, of which US$
400 million correspond to E&P investments, less
expenses for depreciation which amounted US$
373 million and other movements for US$ 33
million.

LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2014 Liabilities as a whole
decreased by US$ 932 million (15.4%) compared
to current liabilities on December 31, 2013. The
main variations are:
- The Trades Payable and Other Payables
decreased by US$ 803 million (52.4%) mainly
due to the decrease of the accounts with foreign
suppliers and several foreign creditors for
purchases of crude oil.
- Other Financial Liabilities (Current and noncurrent) level decreased by US$ 71 million (1.8%).
Current Financial Liabilities decreased US$ 27
million, while Non-Current Financial Liabilities
decreased US$ 44 million. The main change in the
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Argentina

composition of the debt, compared to December
31, 2013, corresponds to the capital amortization
of the Bond 144-A due in March 2014, amounting
US$ 150 million; the issuance and placement of
Bond 144- A in the US market in October 2014
at an interest rate of 4.375% per annum in the
amount of US$ 600 million for the refinancing of
liabilities, and the acknowledgement of a debt of
US$ 93 million as consideration for the extension of
the Temporary Business Association (UTE) in Area
Magallanes (Argentina).
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EQUITY
- The company’s equity increased by US$
315 million (136.6%) as of December 31, 2014
compared to December 31, 2013, as a result of
the US$ 157 million profit, plus the effects of the
tax reform by US$ 109 million, which according
to the provisions of Circular No. 856 of the SVS
dated October 17, 2014, were recorded with
effect on retained earnings and net credit of
exercise in hedging reserves by US$ 42 million
of variations in other comprehensive income,
corresponding mainly to the acknowledgement
of accrued income for oil hedging (TSS).
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Dividend Policy / Distributable
Earnings
The Chilean Treasury, through the Ministry of
Finance, can order the transfer of ENAP’s advances
and/or profits to the State’s General Revenue
Account, in accordance with the provisions of Article
29 of Decree Law 1,263 of 1975.
Subsequently, the Ministry of Finance through
Resolution No. 1292 dated July 15, 2012 and
Resolution No. 1125 dated May 20, 2013, under
the financial situation of the company, decided to
authorize a profit distribution policy with the aim of
contributing to stability and reconstruction of the

company’s equity, which is to maintain the annual
review of the financial situation of the company, to
decide whether or not to authorize the capitalization
of the subsidiaries’ and parent company’s profits in
a tax loss situation.
The dividend policy of the subsidiaries of Empresa
Nacional Del Petróleo, is based on the instructions
given in Resolution No. 526 dated July 3, 2006,
of the Ministry of Finance, which establishes the
transfer of 100% of the annual profits. During 2014,
the Ministry of Finance, according to Resolution No.
2150/2014, decided to suspend for the years
2014 and 2015 the distribution policy of 100% of
the profits of ENAP’s subsidiaries.
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2014 Dividend Policy of ENAP’s
Subsidiaries

losses amounting to US$ 1,199 million as of
December 31, 2013.

In the 33rd Annual General Shareholders’
Meeting of ENAP Refinerías S.A., held on April
30, 2014, shareholders put on record that
there would be no distribution of dividends until
the Company has absorbed the accumulated

At the 24th Annual Shareholders’ General
Meeting of Enap Sipetrol S.A., held on April 30,
2014, the shareholders voted unanimously not
to distribute 2014 net income as dividends to
shareholders.

Dividends Paid to the Treasury
Year

Definitive Profit from
the Previous Period
(US$ million)

Net Income Advance
from the Period
(US$ million)

Total Transfers
(US$ million)

2014

0,0

0,0

0,0

2013

0,0

0,0

0,0

2012

0,0

0,0

0,0

2011

0,0

0,0

0,0

2010

0,0

0,0

0,0

2009

0,0

0,0

0,0

2008

38,3(*)

0,0

38,30

2007

0,0

0,0

0,0

2006

56,4

0,0

56,40

2005

0,0

0,0

0,0

2004

1,97

95,3

97,30

2003

4,36

146,1

160,50

2002

2,34

70,0

72,36

2001

0,62

59,8

72,36

2000

8,28

62,3

80,60

(*) Profit charged from previous years calculated using the compensation mechanism authorized in Decree 148 on January 31, 2008.
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On April 9, 2014, the Ministry of Finance,
according to Resolution No. 733, authorized the
subsidiary Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize profits for
the year 2013, amounting to MUS$ 115,492,
whose transfer to the State was temporarily
suspended by Resolution No. 1590 of 2013.

Dividends from ENAP Subsidiaries
ENAP Refinerías S.A., in its 33rd Ordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 30, 2014,
unanimously agreed to place on record not to
distribute dividends from the profits earned by the
Company during the 2013 financial period, since the
Company reports accumulated losses that exceed the
amount of such earnings. (Article 78 of Corporations
Law 18,046).
Sipetrol S.A. in its 24th Regular Shareholders
Meeting held on April 30, 2014, agreed unanimously
not to distribute the profits generated by the fiscal
year 2013 and authorized to capitalize 100% of net
earnings, which materialized in the Extraordinary
Shareholders Meeting held on June 24, 2014.

Refinería Bío Bío.
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Procurement
Procurement Management plays a strategic
role supporting the achievement of the objectives of
the different business lines of ENAP. The activities

of this management focus in providing an excellent
service to business lines in terms of safety, quality,
timeliness and cost.

1.200
1.107

48

104

955

1.000
E&P

800

CORP

600

R&C

463
61
583

400
200

Total

Ecuador

Argentina

Chile

Amounts in US$ million. Excludes crude oil purchases.

In 2014 ENAP made purchases of goods and
services contracts totaling US$1,107 million.
Over 75% of the total amount corresponds to
service contracts, and the remaining percentage
corresponds to purchases of goods.
During 2014 Procurement Management also
conducted a series of special initiatives:

Security
Considering that Safety and accident prevention is
highly relevant for ENAP, a new methodology was
developed and implemented in conjunction with
HSE management: “HSE Management in Supply
Processes”. The main elements of this policy are
a detailed analysis of the risks associated with the
purchase of goods or services, as well as a systematic
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and consistent incorporation of HSE criteria in the
initial selection of a supplier and in evaluating its
performance during the term the contract.
The Procurement team assumes a very active role
in aligning contractors with ENAP’s concern and
efforts to properly protect the health and safety of
workers and care for the environment. In this context,
Procurement conducted during 2014 a significant
number of bilateral and multilateral meetings with
suppliers of the company.

Supplier Integrated Management
In the second half of 2014, Procurement
defined a Supplier Integrated Management
model, which seeks to promote the development
of strategic alliances with key suppliers with high
business impact. Based on this model, and working
with key suppliers, ENAP expects to capture
significant benefits over the next few years in
terms of improvements in safety, technological
innovation, cost reduction, operational efficiency
and materialization of synergies.

SMEs
Small and medium enterprises are a very
important element in the development of activities
of ENAP. Recognizing this importance, the company
is committed to further developing its relations
with SMEs with regard to purchases of goods and
services. Provisioning is developing various relevant
specific initiatives to be implemented during 2015.

Procurement conducted in 2014 an analysis and
comprehensive benchmarking of its inventory
management, identifying potential for optimization
and developing concrete initiatives to implement
such potential and benefit from the optimization
of the working capital, strengthen inventory
management and control, ensuring adequate
availability and optimal stock levels and further
improve the security of the warehouses.

ICAT
During the first quarter of 2014 the strategic
planning of the Information, Communication and
Automation Technologies (ICAT) area was carried
out, which was validated by ENAP Strategic and
Sustainability Committee, repositioning ICAT as a
strategic unit of the company, which contributes
to the sustainability of ENAP’s operations, through
Innovation, optimization of business processes
and implementing technology for business
transformation.
This new vision, generated a roadmap for ICAT,
with short and long term goals aligned with the
ENAP 2014-2025 Strategic Plan; it was also
assigned the roles of “governance”, “advice” and
“services” necessary to achieve the objectives,
through which ICAT should strengthen, develop
and ensure the availability of information systems
and technology that support the business in three
action areas:
• Optimize business processes and protect the
reliability and useful life of the assets.

Inventory Management

• Ensure the availability and security of information
for decision-making.

As part of its responsibility for all ENAP’s
materials and spare parts warehouses,

• Operate facilities safely with due care for the
individuals and the communities.
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INFRASTRUCTURE
To establish the technological foundations that
support the business activity and the challenges
ICAT will face in its new strategic role, a set of
initiatives in the field of technological infrastructure
were developed, among which stand out:

New Platform for Analytical Data
Processing in Memory
Through a strategic partnership developed in
2014, it has been scheduled the implementation
of a new platform for analytical processing of
data in memory (Hana), which will allow to access
and manage large volumes of data on a vector
of time several times faster than the current
resolution. This platform will be the technological
base to strengthen and optimize existing systems
and applications as well as those planned in the
roadmap of ICAT, among which is the Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP), Production Information
System (PI), Certification of laboratory data (LIMS),
Human Resources Payroll, among others.

Upgrading SAP
During 2014, began the upgrading of SAP, which
will end 2015 in conjunction with the implementation
of Hana, achieving significant synergies.

Also, the PI systems of the refineries and data
collectors of the pipelines and warehouses were
added to the corporate system, arranging them
in the ENAP Corporate cloud, facilitating access
to information and its use for the generation of
knowledge and business intelligence.
The communications network Services were
improved through the incorporation of cutting-edge
technology, allowing the optimization of capabilities
of the communication links and improved the
coverage in areas where ENAP is present.
Highlights the expansion of services for exploration
areas in the island of Tierra del Fuego, allowing to
install services that help the safety and productivity
of workers.

New Model of Users Attention
Service
During 2014, one of the focuses defined
in strategic planning is to improve the attention
of user services, therefore, ICAT worked on the
development and model of an Integrated Services
Desk. Among the most important objectives are
to improve knowledge management, conduct
proactive management from the overall monitoring
infrastructure using a single standardized system
that will improve the integrity of information and
services.

Strengthening of technological
infrastructure

PROJECTS

The Platforms of Plant Information Systems
(PI), existing in ENAP refineries were strengthened.

In 2014 the initiatives developed focused
on sustainability and the value adding, the most
outstanding are:
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Tools for Crude Oil and Products
Balance:
ICAT and R&C Management are performing
the implementation of a Production Accounting
integrated tool for the entire company to optimize the
movement log balances of crude oil and products,
according to the best industry practices. The new
platform allows to have standardized, reliable
and timely information for logistics processes of
crude oil and product inventory and operational
management and control programming.

consider the implementation of management
systems directly connected to the instruments
present in the loading yards, in order to achieve a
higher degree of automation.

E&P Information System:
ICAT as part of the telemetry committee
participated in the design and telemetry network
upgrade for Arenal project.

This project is developed in stages: in 2014
was performed the design and configuration of
the first refinery (Aconcagua) and DAO. The first
achievements in these units are expected during
2015, to continue with Bío Bío and Magallanes.
The corporate model will be implemented in 2016.

Together with E&P Magallanes Operations
Management, the design and strategy for the
replacement of the production management
system of Magallanes was carried out. Work
was also done in the development of business
intelligence dashboards, which aim to serve as a
source of information for E&P management and
production.

Automation of Loading Yards:

Digital Radio System:

The joint implementation with the Logistics
Management of SAP LE-TRA (Transport Logistic
Execution) module, in Loading Yards of Maipú,
San Fernando, Linares, Aconcagua, Bío Bío and
Pemuco, improved the control and management
of product delivery of the plants of Enap Refinerías,
allowing the integration and traceability of the
logistics of the loading yard sales. The next steps

ICAT in its advisory role and service, developed a
joint project with the R&C Business Line, to address
one of the strategic pillars of Enap Refinerías,
“Sustainability as a critical factor.” This initiative
is responsible for updating the radio platform,
which was outdated and had a low coverage,
being replaced by a next generation platform that
ensures high availability of radio communications,
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DAO Maipú

incorporating features that support the safety of
people (geolocation, fallen man and lone worker),
information security (encryption, radios decoupling
of the system in case it is lost or stolen and caller ID),
and providing coverage according to current needs.

Strategic Partnerships with
Suppliers:
In this area strategic partnerships with technology
providers were carried forward, which will allow to
implement technology solutions during 2015 to
leverage the efficiency of energy production and
consumption, in addition to model and develop
predictive systems that enable and help improve
the safety of people and assets.

Insurance
During 2014, ENAP and its subsidiary Enap
Refinerías S.A.’s fire insurance contracts to cover
its facilities, buildings, machinery, stocks, stoppage
losses, and other physical goods, with ACE Seguros S.A.
and General Insurance Company Penta Security S.A.
ENAP’s and its subsidiaries’ insurance policies in
force in 2014 also include: Transportation and Civil
Liability insurance issued by Compañía de Seguros
Generales Penta Security S.A.; Catastrophic Health
Insurance for executives and workers, issued by
Euroamerica Seguros de Vida S.A.; and Protection
& Indemnity insurance for vessel chartering, issued
by Gard P&I Ltd.
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SUBSIDIARIES’ PROPERTIES AND EQUIPEMENT

Exploration and Production

Subsidiary Enap Sipetrol S.A.

Business Line

ENAP’s international subsidiary, Enap Sipetrol
S.A., has the following assets:

Magallanes
ENAP has production camps and service facilities
in the towns of Cerro Sombrero and Cullen, Tierra
del Fuego Island; and in Posesión, Gregorio, Cabo
Negro-Laredo and the commune of Punta Arenas,
on the continent.
Also has concessions for the exploration and
exploitation of oil and natural gas deposits in this
Region, which are geographically distributed in
three areas: Tierra del Fuego Island, continent and
offshore in the Strait of Magellan.
The company has an extensive network of oil
pipelines, gas pipelines and multi-purpose pipelines
in the Region of Magallanes (approximately 4,000
km), with their respective rights-of-way. These
pipelines transporting oil and natural gas from
areas of production to the processing plants of
gas, Gregorio refinery, terminals and storage and
distribution centers, both in Tierra Del Fuego Island
and on the continent.
Its industrial facilities also include Cullen and
Posesión gas processing plants, a fractionation
plant in Cabo Negro and Refinery and Terminal
Gregorio; a port complex and shipyard in the
Industrial Park of Cabo Negro-Laredo; In addition to
two administrative buildings in Punta Arenas.
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Argentina
It has participation in the blocks of the Magallanes
Area (50%), CAM 2 A Sur (50%); Pampa del Castillo
– La Guitarra (100%); and Campamento Central
– Cañadón Perdido (50%). At the same time, it
participates in studies of exploration in Argentine
territory, in block E2 (33.3%), ex CAM 1 and CAM 3.
Ecuador
ENAP SIPEC has for specific service contracts
for the exploration and production of crude oil in the
fields Mauro Davalos Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso,
Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos (PBHI), of the
Amazon Region in Ecuador, whose operation is
conducted by Enap SIPEC, which controls 100% of
these assets. There is also activity of exploration and
exploitation of oil in the exploratory block 3 Jambelí,
located in the Gulf of Guayaquil, with a surface area
of 4,000 km2.
Egypt:
Enap Sipetrol in Egypt participates with 50.5% of
the shares in exploration and production activities
in the block East Ras Qattara.
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Refining and Commercialization
Business Line
Aconcagua Refinery
At this refinery the main crude oil and
complementary load processing plants are: Topping
and Vacuum I, Topping and Vacuum II, Visbreaking,
Catalytic Cracking, Continuous Catalytic Reforming,
Hydrocracking, Mild Hydrocracking (MHC),
Gasoline Hydrodesulfurization (HDG), Diesel
Hydrotreatment, Isomerization, Alkylation, DIPE,
Sulfur Plant, and Delayed Coker Complex.
Also, there is a sulfuric acid regeneration plants,
a sulfur fixation plant, a kerosene treatment plant, a
liquid gas and fuel gases plant, an effluent and other
treatment plant; closed cooling system; Quintero
Maritime Terminal Refinery oil pipeline; internal
piping facilities for intermediate and final products
from pool areas to processing plants and from these
plants to pools; pumping areas to send products
from the refinery to Santiago Metropolitan Area
through a Sonacol-owned oil pipeline; pumping areas
and maritime terminals, including one single buoy in
Quintero; a chemical laboratory; headquarters for
the Fire Department in 24-hour shifts; pump carts,
equipment, and elements to fight fires; specialized
maintenance and repair workshops of all the plants;
emergency electrical equipment powered by diesel
and gas fuel; a natural gas interconnection system
for use as fuel in boilers and to generate steam; and
contractor facilities.

The company also owns the following real estate
in Concón: Avenida Borgoño 25777 building, which
will be used for the industry, C-9 Sports Field Lot;
S-Sonacol Lots, Industry; Lot E7/B6, vacant; Dos
Norte, Lot R-1, industry; Vía 2 to 5, Lot E7/B1,
vacant; Calle 2 Norte, Lot R-3, industry; Tierra
del Fuego and Magallanes, health; Lot 16 PC14
A1, Mantagua, vacant; Vía 2 to 5, Lot R-5, vacant;
Aconcagua Refinery private road, Lot R-4, vacant;
Lot R-6-1, vacant; Lot R-6-2, vacant; Lot R-7, vacant,
Dos Norte 1015, Lot H-4, vacant; Barros Borgoño
25175, Rotonda Concón, Lot 1, offices; Plot 1 Lot 1
interior road, Fundo Colmito, Plot 1 Well 23, vacant;
Plot 1 Lot 2 interior road, Fundo Colmito, Plot 1
Well 25, vacant. It also owns parking lot 152, on
the street Blanco 625 in Valparaíso; and other two
in Avenida Manantiales LT 3B, and ST 420.
The following properties are in Quintero:
Camino Quintero 5245, Avda. Tres Marías Lot
117 (vacant); Camino Quintero 5245, Avda. Tres
Marías Lot 172 (vacant); and Vía 56 Costanera
Turística Quintero (vacant).
Bío Bío Refinery
At this refinery, the main crude oil and
complementary load processing plants are: Topping
and Vacuum I; Topping and Vacuum II; Visbreaking;
Catalytic Cracking; Continuous Catalytic
Reformation; Ethylene; Diesel Hydrotreatment
1; Diesel Hydrotreatment 2; Gasoline Cracking
Desulfurization (HDG); Hydrocracking; Benzene
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Saturation; Isomerization; Propylene Separator
and Purifier; CHT Hydrogen Plant; Delayed
Coking (Coker) and Diesel Hydrotreatment (HDT),
Cogeneration Power Plant owned by Petropower
Energía Limitada; Bío Bío Hydrogen Plant, coowned with Sigdo Kopper S.A.; Mild Hydrocracking
Plant of Gas Oil (MHC); and Liquefied Natural Gas
Regasification Plant at Pemuco, VIII Region.
There are also Merox Kerosene Treatment
plant, Gasoline and Liquefied Gas plant, Sodium
Hydrosulfide plant; Sulfur Recovery plants No1 and
No2; Gas Treatment plant; Acid Water Treatment
plant; Oily Water Treatment plant; Cooling Water
Supply; Steam and Electric Energy; storage pools
for crude oil and intermediate and final products.
Other industrial facilities include: oil pipelines for
transporting finished products from the refinery
to San Fernando city, where they connect with
the Sonacol oil pipeline (San Fernando- Maipú)
and pumping stations at Bío Bío Refinery, Chillán,
and Molina; oil pipelines from the Refinery to
San Vicente Maritime Terminal for transporting
crude oil and finished products; San Vicente
Maritime Terminal, where new dock-walkway and
2 maritime terminals with submarine pipes were
installed; internal pipelines from the pool zones
to the processing plants and from the plants to
the intermediate and final product pools; a gas

pipeline for receiving and delivering liquid gas;
pumps in San Vicente for shipping products by
sea and for receiving imported crude oil by sea;
chemical laboratory; Emergency Response Brigade
facilities and headquarters, which is run by fulltime volunteer workers; specialized workshops
for addressing maintenance and repair issues
at all plants; emergency electrical diesel- and
natural gas-powered equipment and a natural gas
interconnection system to be used as fuel in boilers
and furnaces (steam generation).
In the Eighth Region Enap Refinerías S.A. owns
the following properties: Bío Bío Refinery’s land, a
building located on Camino a Lenga 2001, Hualpén
District, which will be used for the industry; Faja
Fundo Las Golondrinas, Hualpén; Cerro Las Pulgas,
which will be a pool area, Hualpén; San Vicente
Terminal: real estate and Lot A-1 Talcahuano;
Bocatoma Bío Bío land, located in Hualpén
District; rest of Lot C and Lot A1, both are next
to the Refinery; Chillán Terminal Lot 7, Route 5,
Chillán; Molina Terminal, Talca; Hijuela Rucalhue,
San Pedro de la Paz District (vacant); Lot B6,
subdivision of Lot B of Fundo Hualpén, Hualpén;
land at the Talcahuano General Cemetery, used for
cathodic protection of the oil pipeline at facilities;
Lot B-2, subdivision of Lot B, San Miguel de Diguillín,
Pemuco District; usufruct for a period of 99 years
of part of the estate located in Talcahuano, patch A.
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Planta Cabo Negro, Magallanes

EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
BUSINESS LINE
Management Summary
ENAP’s Exploration and Production Business
Line (E&P) including Enap Magallanes, produced
19.9 million barrels of oil-equivalent hydrocarbons
(MMboe), 3,7% higher than the production of 2013.
This is due to the successful drilling campaign in
Egypt, and the increased production in Magallanes
because of the contribution of the deposits with the
implementation of the Artificial Lifting System (ALS).
On the other hand, there was a decrease in the
production of Ecuador due to the natural decline of
the Mauro Davalos Cordero (MDC) field.
As part of the investment plan, 62 (37 oil and
gas 25) new wells were drilled. Outstand results
in block Arenal in Magallanes, operated by ENAP,
where there were positive results in 16 of the 24
exploratory wells drilled.
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The exploratory activities in the Region of
Magallanes continued during the year, under special
oil operation contract (CEOP), where ENAP holds
50% of the shares and participates with other
foreign companies: block Coirón, operated by Pan
American Energy, two development wells were
drilled with gas target; block Caupolicán, operated
by PetroMagallanes, a gas well was drilled; and block
Lenga, operated by ENAP no drilling activity was made.
Also, in the blocks Flamenco and Isla Norte, whose
first exploratory period began in November 2012, 7
wells and 1 well were drilled, respectively.
In the case of the CEOP Block Campanario which
became effective at the beginning of 2013, 6 crude
oil wells were drilled.
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ENAP’s Production of Oil and Gas in 2013 and 2014
2013
Country

Oil
(MBBLS)

2014

Gas
(MBOE)

Total
(MBBLS)

Oil
(MBBLS)

Variation 2014/2013

Gas
(MBOE)

Total
(MBBLS)

Oil

Gas

Total

Argentina

3.870,2

2.363,8

6.234,0

3.814,9

2.404,8

6.219,6

-1,4%

1,7%

0,2%

Ecuador

4.664,7

-

4,664,7

4.453,6

-

4.453,6

-4,5%

-

-4,5%

Egipto

3.218,3

-

3.218,3

3.974,5

-

3.974,6

23,5%

-

23,5%

2.363,8 14.117,0 12.243,1

2.404,8 14,647,9

4,2%

1,7%

3,8%

E&P International

11.753,2

Magallanes (Chile)

854,6

4.237,4

5.092,0

1.135,9

4.144,6

5.280,5

32,9%

-2,2%

3,7%

Domestic E&P

854,6

4.237,4

5.092,0

1.135,9

4.144,6

5.280,5

32,9%

-2,2%

3,7%

6.549,4 19.928,4

6,1%

-0,8%

3,7%

Total E&P

12.607,8

6.601,2 19.209,0 13.379,0

Source: Gerencia E&P de ENAP.
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Oil Production
The volume of oil produced by ENAP abroad was
12.2 million barrel, 4.2% higher than the previous
year, and is mainly due to the increased contribution
of production resulting from the successful drilling
campaign in Egypt. However, this increase was offset
by Ecuador, where the production obtained was 4.5%
lower than 2013, due to the lower contribution of
block Mauro Davalos Cordero (MDC), as a result of
the natural decline of the deposit. In Argentina there
was also a lower production by 1.4% compared to
2013, as a result of the lower activity in Pampa del
Castillo (PDC) waiting for the extension agreement
and of the decline of Campamento Central-Cañadón
Perdido (CCCP).
Oil production in Chile in the Magallanes Region
reached 1.1 million barrels, which exceeds by 33%
the volume produced in 2013. The increase in
production is mainly due to the implementation of
the ALS initiative.

Enap Sipetrol Egipto
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Enap Sipetrol’s Monthly Oil Production
(In Thousands of Barrels)
Enap Sipetrol Oil Production (MMBLS)
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Enap Magallanes’ Monthly Oil Production
(In Thousands of Barrels)
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Natural Gas Production
ENAP’s production of natural gas abroad reached
409 million cubic meters (2.404.765 barrels
equivalent), with an increase of 1.7% over 2013.
This increase is mainly explained by a higher
operational efficiency in the Magallanes Area.

Meanwhile, production of natural gas in Chile
(Magallanes), reached 704 million standard
cubic meters (4.144.615 equivalent barrels),
representing a production lower by 2.2% over
the previous year. This lower production was
associated, mainly, to the natural decline of
deposits and lower than expected contribution
from exploratory projects.
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Enap Sipetrol’s Monthly Gas Production (In MBoe)
)
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Enap Magallanes’ Monthly Gas Production (In MBoe)
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DOMESTIC EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION

ENAP’s exploration in Chile continued to develop
through an active drilling campaign, particularly in
the Magallanes Region.

Dorado-Riquelme Block
ENAP is the operator of this block with a 50%
participation interest in partnership with Methanex
Chile, under a CEOP scheme, signed in May 2009
between both partners and the State of Chile.
The project aims to explore the presence of
gas and develop the commercial reserves that are
found, to ensure the fulfillment of gas deliveries
to meet the needs of the cities in the area and
contribute to the demand for gas from the
Methanex plant.
On August 27, 2012, the CEOP Block DoradoRiquelme began its second period of exploration,
of 24 months duration, whose commitment is to
drill 2 exploratory wells. In this exploratory phase,
efforts are focused on non-conventional deposits.
In the first quarter of 2013 the drilling of two
exploration wells with unconventional deposits in
glauconitic zone target was completed: the well
Palenque Oeste ZG-1 (3353 meters deep) and
Dorado ZG-1 (2360 meters deep). With the drilling
of two wells the minimal work required by the
contract for the second exploration period was
completed.
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In mid-March 2013, arrived in Punta Arenas
the drilling rig PTX 5825 owned by the company
PETREX S.A., with which the exploratory well
Palenque Norte 12 was drilled, with target
Springhill, and a total depth of 4426 meters.
The rig PTX 5825 subsequently moved to the
location of the well Dorado Sur 12 with target
Springhill, drilling to a total depth of 3434 meters.
On 25 September the Environmental Impact
Statement for hydraulic fracturing jobs in the four
wells drilled in 2013 was presented to the SEA
and the approval was obtained on December 17,
2013.
During January and February 2014 completion
work was performed in the well Palenque Norte
12 (Springhill), leaving the well ready for hydraulic
fracturing. At the end of March the well Palenque
Norte 12 was prepared for hydraulic fracturing.
The hydraulic fracturing of wells Dorado ZG-1
and Palenque Oeste ZG-1 and the well Dorado Sur
12 was carried out in January and February.
Between March and June 2014 production
tests were conducted to wells Dorado ZG-1,
Palenque Oeste ZG-1 and Dorado Sur 12.
In June, Dorado 5 well was drilled, resulting gas
producer.
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Investment disbursements in 2014 were US$
10,396,000.

Block Intracampos
This block belongs 100% to ENAP.
During 2014 five exploration wells were
drilled, of which 2 had positive results and are in
production; 1 well is being evaluated; another well
is in the well completion and the last one came out
dry, so it was abandoned.
Investment outlays in 2014 were US$
23,296,000.

Block Arenal
This block belongs to 100% to ENAP.
During 2014 we continued with the exploration
campaign in this block, with the drilling of 24 new
exploratory wells, 18 gas wells, 12 of them are
producing with a success rate of 92%, 1 well was
dry and 5 wells are still in evaluation process;
and 6 oil wells, of which 3 are in production, with
a success rate of 100%, and 3 wells are being
evaluated.
Investment outlays in 2014 were US$
96,265,000.
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SPECIAL OIL OPERATION CONTRACT (CEOP)

In December 2010, ENAP began a process
of inviting prestigious international companies to
participate in five blocks located on the island of
Tierra del Fuego.

reservoir called Flamenco Block, signed by the
State of Chile, Geopark TdF (Operator) and
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP), both with
a participation interest of 50% each. Subsequently,
on December 3, 2012 was signed the Joint

This process concluded in September 2011,
with the signing of participation agreements with
companies Geopark regarding Blocks Isla Norte,
Campanario and Flamenco; the consortium YPF
Chile and Wintershall Chile, regarding Block
San Sebastián; and YPF Chile regarding Block
Marazzi-Lago Mercedes. From the above, ENAP
and the aforementioned companies submitted
to the Ministry of Energy, the applications for
subscription of Special Oil Operation Contracts
(CEOP) for the blocks mentioned.

Operating Agreement (JOA) between the parties
for the Block’s operation.

The subscription of the referred CEOP with
the State of Chile, will mean an investment
of over US$ 145 million in exploration over
a period of three years, which is expected to
increase exploratory activity and production of
hydrocarbons in the Magallanes Region, and to
reduce ENAP’s exposure to risk associated with
the activity.

Block Flamenco
On November 7, 2012 became effective
the Special Oil Operation Contract (CEOP) for
the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbon

To this date begins the first exploration period,
which lasts three years and whose commitments
are: acquisition and interpretation of 570 km2 of
3D seismic data; the drilling of eight exploration
wells up to 2,100 meters depth, and the drilling of
two exploration wells up to 1,200 meters depth.
After this first exploration period there are two
periods of more than 2 years each to get to agree
a contract for 25 years maximum.
During 2013, the operator acquired the 3D
seismic data and drilled four exploratory wells:
Chercán X-1, Yakamush X-1, Omeling X-1 and
Chilco X-1.
During 2014 six exploration wells were
drilled: Tenca x-1, Tagua x-1, Kaum x-1, Chirihue
x-1, Cupanaca x-1, Kosphy x-1, which were also
completed for production and are currently under
evaluation. Also were put into production the wells
Chercán X-1 (gas), Omeling X-1 (oil) and Tench
X-1. Moreover, during this period the development
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wells Chercán 2 and 3 were drilled, completing the
first and the second is still pending.

(JOA) between the parties for the operation of the
Block.

Besides the workover of Flamenco 28 and the
workover of the existing well Bandurria 12 were
carried out.

In that date began the first Exploratory period
that lasts three years and whose commitments
are: acquisition and interpretation 350 km2 of 3D
seismic data; reprocessing of 350 km2 of existing
2D seismic data; the drilling of two exploration wells
to 2,300 meters depth and drilling one exploration
well to 1,300 meters depth.

The 2014 work program is completed with
respect to the minimum commitments of the First
Exploration Period, but also included: the drilling
of 4 additional development wells, and to date
two have been executed: Chercán 2 and Tenca 3,
plus the workover of 2 existing wells (Bandurria
12 and Flamenco 28), and the production startup of exploration wells that after evaluation, they
were preliminarily proved successful, and in which
ENAP -according to Exhibit H had to contribute with
the 50% of the costs of Completion: Chirihue x-1,
Tenca x-1, Chercán x-1 and x-2, and Omeling x-1.
ENAP’s investment in this phase was US$ 9.14
million as of December 31, 2014.

Block Isla Norte
On November 7, 2012 became effective,
the Special Oil Operations Contract (CEOP) for
the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbon
reservoir called Block Isla Norte, signed by the
State of Chile, Geopark TdF (Operator) with a share
of 60% and Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP)
with a share of 40%. Subsequently, on December 3,
2012 was signed the Joint Operating Agreement
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After this first exploration period there are two
periods of 2 years each to get to agree a contract
for 25 years maximum.
During the first half of 2014, the operator
completed the 3D seismic acquisition and works
in the reinterpretation of the pre-existing 2D
seismic data. Also finished the drilling of the first
exploration well called Pantano Oeste X-1, which
resulted producer well after being subjected to
Hydraulic Fracturing.
Besides, the 2014 work program includes the
workover of an existing well which was postponed
until 2015.
ENAP’s investment in this phase was US$ 0.8
million as of December 31, 2014

Block Campanario
On January 9, 2013 became effective the
Special Oil Operation Contract (CEOP) for the
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exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reservoir called Block Campanario, signed by
the State of Chile, Geopark TdF (Operator) and
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with a
share of 50% each.
On that date began the first exploration period
that lasts for three years and whose commitments
are: acquisition and interpretation of 578 km2 of
3D seismic data; the drilling of six exploratory wells
up to 2,400 meters depth and drill two exploration
wells up to 1,800 meters depth.
After this first exploration period there are two
periods of more than 2 years each to get to agree
a contract for 25 years maximum.
During 2013, the operator completed the 3D
Seismic data acquisition program and began the
interpretation phase.
During 2014, the exploratory following wells
were drilled: Primavera Sur x-1, Keternen x-1;
Tanu x-1, Aneki x-1 and Bellavista Sur x-1; and
the development well Primavera Sur 2 plus the
recompletion or of well Chillán 15.
2014 work program included the drilling of
4 exploratory and 2 development wells and the
workover of an existing well.
ENAP’s investment in this phase is US$ 2.9
million as of December 31, 2014.
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Block San Sebastián
On January 4, 2013 became effective the
Special Oil Operation Contract (CEOP) for the
exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reservoir called Block San Sebastian, signed by the
State of Chile, YPF Tierra del Fuego (Operator) with
a share of 40%, Wintershall with a share of 10%
and Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with
a share of 50%. The Joint Operating Agreement
(JOA) between the parties for the operation of the
Block, is pending signature.
On this date began the first exploration period,
which lasts three years and whose commitments
are: acquisition and interpretation of 400 km2 of
3D seismic data; drill two exploration wells up to
1,600 meters depth; the drilling of one exploration
well to 2,300 meters depth and drill two exploration
wells up to 2,350 meters depth.
After this first exploration period there are
two periods over 2 years each to get to agree a
contract for 25 years maximum.
In early March ended the process of seismic
surveys on the block. Work was done on processing
the seismic at the YPF CDP process center
in Buenos Aires. To date we have identified two
prospects to be drilled: Cisne Sur x-1 and Gaviota
Sur x-1.
First, YPF presented in recent TCM, 5 drilling
locations, which are under review by ENAP G&G
Specialists Team.

During the last quarter of 2014 procedures
were carried out for the hiring the drilling service
and its supplementary services, anticipating the
drilling start for the first fortnight of January 2015.

Block Marazzi-Lago Mercedes
On January 7, 2013 came into force, the Special
Operating Contract (CEOP) for the exploration
and exploitation of hydrocarbon reservoir called
Block Marazzi-Lago Mercedes, signed by the State
of Chile, YPF Tierra del Fuego (Operator) with a
50% stake and Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
(ENAP) with a share of 50%. The Joint Operating
Agreement (JOA) between the parties to the
transaction Block, is pending signature.
On this date began the first exploration period
that lasts for three years and whose commitments
are: acquisition and interpretation of 272 km2 of
3D seismic data and the drilling of one exploration
well to 3,500 meters depth.
After this first exploration period there are
two periods over 2 years each to get to agree a
contract for 25 years maximum.
In mid-May ended the process of seismic
surveys in the Marazzi block. They are currently
working in data processing.
The Joint Venture agrees drilling exploratory
well Loica x-1, to 3,650 meters depth and with
target Springhill, which will be drilled after the two
wells scheduled in Block San Sebastián.
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GEOTHERMAL ENERGY

ENAP participates in the development of
geothermal energy sources through its participation
in companies Geotermia del Norte S.A. (48.6%) and
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A. (49%), both in
partnership with the Italian company ENEL.
The Apacheta concession (Cerro Pabellón
Project), of Geotérmica del Norte (GDN) is in the
operational phase, and the construction phase of
the condensation plant of 40MW is expected to
begin in early 2015. According to this program,
the generation of the first 20 MW is planned for
January 2017 and the 40 MW by February 2018.
Cerro Pabellón could become the first geothermal
power project in South America, which would generate
clean electricity in a market growth strongly and of
high demand in sustainable energy.
The project is located in the Atacama Desert, at
an altitude of 4500 meters, about 100 kilometers
northeast from the city of Calama. The deep
exploration stage was completed successfully. Four
wells 1,300 meters and 2,000 meters deep, of
which the first 2 were optimal for production (8 MW)
were drilled. Regarding the third well, it was decided
to continue deepening in the development stage.
Finally, the fourth well will be considered suitable
for reinjection.
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During 2014 to prepare for approval of the
Cerro Pabellón Project, the necessary paperwork
was submitted to the relevant authorities in order
to be able to present the Environmental Impact
Assessment of the plant, wells and power lines.
Also, the international bidding process for drilling
equipment, main equipment and plant construction
was initiated.
During 2014, at the Polloquere-Licancura
concessions that belong to Empresa Nacional de
Geotermia S.A. (ENG), surface geological, geochemical
and geophysical studies were conducted during
the exploration stage. In the case of Polloquere
concession, culminated with the drilling of Slim Hole
Pumire, which reached a depth of 930 meters. And
regarding the Licancura concession, the geochemical
and geophysical surface studies continued, indicating
there are good conditions for the existence of a high
temperature geothermal system.
In late 2011, the company Geotérmica del Norte
(GDN) acquired the exploration concessions Ollagüe
and Azufre Oeste and Norte. During the 20132014 the 3D campaign was completed, and the
analysis of the data indicated that this area does not
have elements encouraging to proceed to the next
exploration phase through diamond drilling.
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Geiser El Tatio.
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INTERNATIONAL EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
LATIN AMERICA
Argentina
La filial Enap Sipetrol Argentina actúa como
With a 50% participating interest, the subsidiary
Enap Sipetrol Argentina is the operator in the
exploitation concessions at the Magallanes Area
deposit and at CAM 2/A Sur (Lot Poseidon). It is
also the operator with 33.33% of the shares in the
exploration permit E2 (ex CAM-1 and CAM-3); all in
the Marine Austral Basin.
In the San Jorge Gulf Basin, the subsidiary
fully owns and operates the Pampa del Castillo-La
Guitarra exploitation concession. It also participates
as operating partner, with 50% of the shares in
the exploitation concession Campamento CentralCañadón Perdido, where the operator is YPF.
During 2014 drilling activities continued in
Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido and
progress was made in the development of the area
Bella Vista Sur, where new wells with extraordinary
production flows were incorporated. In Pampa del
Castillo-La Guitarra, the development focused on
secondary recovery operations and operations
were carried out with workover equipment. In
Magallanes area, the tasks performed were aimed
at improving operational reliability.
The Operational Integrity Management System
(OIMS), implemented in Enap Sipetrol Argentina in
2012, is operational. This system contributes to
improving the subsidiary’s business results and

managing safety risks for the subsidiary’s staff,
environment, processes and operational facilities.
Regarding marketing issues, the price of gas
recorded a positive evolution and the “Incentive
Program to the Injection of Natural Gas Surplus”,
by which is expected to pay an amount of US$ 7.5
per MMbtu for the gas injected to the system above
a production baseline remains in force. Product of
a sharp devaluation of the Argentine peso against
the dollar in January 2014, a price path to local
market was established through May, in order to
mitigate the impact that the devaluation would have
on the price of fuel. The negative effect on sales
revenue was more than offset by a substantial
improvement in costs measured in dollars. Once
the path ended, local prices maintained a positive
trend until the end of 2014. However, from
the strong fall of international prices recorded
between late 2014 and early 2015, and in order
to maintain the level of investments in the sector,
the national government established new sales
prices to the local market based on the ICE Brent
crude oil, which involve a reduction of up to 10% for
the lower levels, although these local prices remain
higher than the international price. In addition,
export rights’ aliquots for Brent ICE levels below
US$70 per barrel have been reduced, as well as
incentive mechanisms were also set to production
increase and for exporters. Progress is being made
with an action plan focused on streamlining and
cost optimization, in order to mitigate the impact
caused by the current situation.
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Regarding the extent of concessions the
current status per block is as follows:
A Binding Contract was signed for the extension
of the partnership agreement with YPF in Area
Magallanes (AM).
The concession extension agreement with the
Province of Chubut for Pampa del Castillo (PDC)
has not been closed yet.
An extension of the concession Campamento
Central-Cañadón Perdido (CCCP) was signed with
the Province of Chubut in December 2013. This
area is shared in equal percentages with YPF S.A.
Magallanes Area Argentina
The production of Enap Sipetrol Argentina, in
the reservoir area Magallanes, totaled 921,282
barrels of oil and 408.57 million cubic meters
of natural gas (2,404,765 BOE), which gives a
total aggregate production of 3.3 million barrels
equivalent (BOE).
These results show an increase over 2013, due
to operational efficiency of AM-2 platform.
CAM 2/A Sur
The Poseidon platform in the CAM 2 / A Sur
area has been out of production since December
2010. In this regard, after conducting case studies
with its partner YPF, the decision was made to
reverse CAM 2 / A Sur Area to the province
of Tierra del Fuego, for which negotiations with
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YPF and the province itself were initiated. During
2014, driven by improvement in gas prices and
the effect of the stimulus program to the surplus
injection, progress was made in the evaluation of
the feasibility of drilling to the gas cap in order to
value gas resources remaining in the area.
E2 (EX CAM-1 / CAM-3) Area
During 2014 some studies for E2 (EX CAM1 / CAM-3) area were completed. Enap Sipetrol
Argentina is the operator of Area E2 in the
Marine Austral Basin (CAM in Spanish), under
the association agreement (signed in September
2006) with state-owned company Energía
Argentina Sociedad Anónima (ENARSA) and YPF,
which ratified the previous agreement signed
in February 2006. Subsequently, the E2 Joint
Venture Agreement signed, which regulates the
relationship of the companies that participate in
this alliance and ratifies Enap Sipetrol Argentina as
operator of the E2 Area.
Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra
The production of Sipetrol Argentina in Pampa
del Castillo-La Guitarra deposit reached 1.7 million
barrels, 1.5% lower than the volume obtained in
2013, due to the decline of the production baseline,
caused by a lower activity while the extension
agreement for the concession of the block is still
pending.
During 2014 no investment was made in drilling,
only 15 workover and 11 extraction improvements
were carried out.
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Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido
The production of Enap Sipetrol Argentina at the
Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido deposit, totaled
1.2 million barrels of crude oil, representing a decrease
of 2.3% compared to the production in 2013, due to the
natural decline of the reservoir, which could not be offset
by the contribution of new wells coming into production
in the last quarter of 2014.
In 2014, seven development wells were drilled, all of
which were producers, and 22 underwent workover.

Ecuador
Enap SIPEC continue consolidating its position
through progress in exploratory areas (Block 3
Jambelí and Intracampos) as well as in the blocks
that have been exploited for 10 years, Mauro
Davalos Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso Biguno
Huachito Intracampos (PBHI).
Exploratory Activity
In Block Jambelí 3, on May 8, 2013 began the
acquisition of offshore 2D seismic with the Russian
company Sevmorgeo, and ended in 2014.
The conceptual study of the development of the
block was also developed and analyzed; scenario
simulation runs were performed to evaluate the

block and a maritime tour took place in the area for
equipment evaluation.
Meanwhile, in the Intracampos area the drilling
of the first exploration well (Inchi) which started
in December 2013, was completed during 2014
and was subjected to extended production testing.
Subsequently began the drilling of the second
exploration well (Copal), which was closed due to low
production input.
Development and Exploitation Activity
The project of Secondary Recovery in MDC
Block ended June 26, 2013, with the signing on
the field of the delivery certificate to Production
Management, plus documentation and drawings.
During the second semester activities of installation
of equipment and monitoring instruments (SCADA)
were implemented. On December 30, the Strategy
and Business Development Management certificate
of delivery to the Production Management of the
SCADA Project was signed on the field.
Two development wells (Huachito-4 and
Paradise-24) were drilled in 2014, with good results.
The production of both deposits (MDC and PBHI)
reached 4.5 million barrels in 2014, marking a
decrease of 4.5% from the previous year, mainly
due to the natural decline of block MDC.
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NORTH AFRICA

Egypt
Sipetrol is the operator of the production of
Block East Ras Qattara, with a 50.5% stake in
partnership with Kuwait Energy, which holds the
remaining 49.5%.
The volume of crude oil produced by Sipetrol
Egypt was 3.98 million barrels, higher by 23.8%
from 2013, as a result of successful drilling
campaign in 2014, which was resumed in early
2013, after obtaining permission from the military,
which contributed to increase Shahd SE & Al Zahra
field’s productive capacity.
The scenario in Egypt is marked by major
political changes. However, given the complex
political, economic and social environment, the
oil industry was not affected and the operations
of Enap Sipetrol Egypt and Petroshahd were
developed normally.
Also, Enap Sipetrol Egypt managed to collect US$
153.8 million in payments for crude oil invoices from

Egypt’s state-owned company, with a positive deviation
of 9% compared with expectations for 2014.
Finally, Enap Sipetrol’s 2014 net income results
were successful due to the positive performance
of production.
East Ras Qattara Block
Sipetrol is the production operator of Block East
Ras Qattara, with a participating interest of 50.5%,
in partnership with Kuwait Energy, which holds the
remaining 49.5%.
In the block East Ras Qattara various discoveries
have been made from 2007 to date, together with
Petroshahd, the operating company and Enap
Sipetrol’s joint venture partner.
During 2014 three development wells, ShahdSE8, Al Zahraa-4 and Shahd-SE9 were drilled and
tested positive. The drilling of exploration well Diaa2 and a second exploratory well Shahd-4 was also
completed, all were successful.
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ENAP SIPETROL S.A.
Financial Results
Enap Sipetrol S.A., achieved net income in the

The decrease in Enap Sipetrol S.A.’s Gross Margin

year amounting to US$ 115 million, same as the

is described by: a) mainly a greater Lifting Cost in

result obtained as of December 31, 2013. Moreover,

Argentina, which does not compensate b) higher

the EBITDA generated as of December 31, 2014

revenues in Egypt as a result of successful exploration

amounted to US$ 266 million, which compares to

campaign in the asset East Ras Qattara in 2014,

US$ 276 million in 2013.

with increases of 24% in production levels compared
to 2013.

The equity of Enap Sipetrol S.A. was US $ 576
million in December 2014.
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E&P INVESTMENT IN CHILE
The investment of E&P Business Line focused
primarily on the exploration and exploitation of gas
in Magallanes. The investment reached US$ 158
million, which focused mainly on:
CEOP Dorado-Riquelme
(Exploitation and Exploration Project. ENAP is the
operator with a 50% participating interest).
In 2014 the drilling of the exploration well Dorado
5 was carried out, resulting gas producer. In addition,
the 3 exploratory wells drilled in 2013 (Dorado ZG1, Palenque Oeste ZG-1 and Dorado Sur 12) were
fractured; the fracture of the well Palenque Norte
12 is still pending due to mechanical problems.
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Arenal
(Exploration Project. ENAP is the operator with
full ownership).
In 2014, 24 exploration wells were drilled: i) 18
gas wells, of which 12 are producing with a success
rate of 92%, 1 well was dry (Springhill) and 5 are
awaiting production tests and/or fracture; ii) 6
crude oil wells, of which 3 resulted producers with a
successful rate of 50%, and the other 3 are waiting
for production testing and/or fracture.
By 2015 it is expected the drilling of 46 wells
with gas target (41 unconventional and 5 Springhill),
besides the construction of surface facilities for
putting the wells into production.
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Intracampos Cullen-Lynch
(Exploration Project. ENAP is the operator with
full ownership).
During 2014 five oil wells (Cullen-201 (ex PK-A),
Lynch 42 (ex V1 (Pk)), Fortuna Sur 1, Fortuna 2
(ex C) and Paraguaya PK 4 (ex -E) were drilled, of
which 2 are in production, 1 is being evaluated, 1 in
completion and one abandoned.
No drilling is considered for 2015.
CEOP Coirón
(Exploitation Project. ENAP has a 50% participation
interest. Pan American Energy is the operator, with
the remaining 50%).

During the first quarter of 2014 the well El Fierro
2 was drilled, resulting gas producer, besides the
well Fierro 3 was drilled, declaring it not producer.
Meanwhile, continued the reprocessing of 900
square kilometers of 3D seismic, aimed at delivering
a better definition of the geological-geophysical model.
From the interpretation of this information, which will
take 2 months or so, PAE and ENAP will evaluate
the opportunities offered by the Coirón Block for
the location and drilling of new wells. Depending
on the results of ex-post evaluation of Phase I and
the interpretation of the reprocessed 3D seismic,
PAE will submit to ENAP a Phase II proposal for the
Development of Los Cerros-El Fierro.
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It will also present a proposal to ENAP for
potential exploitation of the Dinamarquero deposit,
for which there are contractual commitments (CEOP)
associated with its Declaration of Commerciality
(07. 24.2012), which provides for the devolution of
the area in case the exploitation is not carried out
during 2015.
ENAP’s Investment in Development in 2014, was
MUS$ 26.325.
No drilling activities are considered for 2015.
CEOP Caupolicán
(Exploitation Project. ENAP has a 40% participation
interest, Methanex 20% and PetroMagallanes the
remaining 40%).
During 2014 Rio del Oro SurOeste-1 well was
drilled; for the moment is closed pending a possible
hydraulic stimulation and evaluation of productivity.
To date, 187 km2 of 3D seismic are processed
and interpreted and the construction works of the
location for the well Caupolicán 2 concluded; the
drilling of the latter will take place during the first
months of 2015.
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E & P INVESTMENT ABROAD

Argentina

Egipto

E & P investment in this country focused on:

E & P investment in this country focused on:

Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra

East Ras Qattara

(Exploitation Project. Sipetrol is the operator,
with full ownership).

(Project Exploitation and Exploration. Sipetrol is
the operator, with a 50.5% participation interest).

During 2014 no drilling activities were
conducted, only 15 workovers and 11 extraction
improvements were carried out.

During 2014 three development wells were
drilled, Shahd-SE8, Al Zahraa-4 and Shahd-SE9,
with positive results. Moreover, concluded the
drilling of the exploration well Diaa-2 and a second
exploratory well was drilled, Shahd-4, all successful.

For the second half of 2015 is expected the
drilling of 6 development wells and 12 workovers.
Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido

In 2015, is expected the drilling of 3 exploration
wells and one development well, as well as the
construction of a pipeline.

(Exploitation Project. Sipetrol has a 50%
participation interest).
During 2014, 7 development wells were drilled
with positive results. For 2015 is expected the
drilling of 9 wells and 8 primary repairs.
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Ecuador
E & P investment in this country focused on:
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC)-Paraíso
Biguno Huachito Intracampos (PBHI)
(Exploitation and Exploration Project. Enap SIPEC
is the operator, with full ownership).
The project of Secondary Recovery in MDC Block
ended June 26, 2013, with the signing on the field of
the delivery certificate to Production Management,
plus documentation and drawings. During the second
semester activities of installation of equipment and
monitoring instruments (SCADA) were implemented.
On December 30, the Strategy and Business
Development Management certificate of delivery to
the Production Management of the SCADA Project
was signed on the field.
In PBH Two development wells (Huachito-4 and
Paradise-24) were drilled in 2014, with good results.
During 2014 in the Intracampos area the drilling
of the first exploration well (Inchi) which started in
December 2013, was completed and was subjected
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to extended production testing. Subsequently began
the drilling of the second exploration well (Copal),
which was closed due to low production input.
The construction of facilities and flow lines in
PBH are expected for 2015. While in Intracampos
is expected the drilling of two development wells and
3 appraisal wells.
Block 3 Jambelí
(Exploration Project. Sipetrol is the operator, with
full ownership).
It consists in exploring the area on the Gulf of
Guayaquil, in search of new prospects and potential
reserves, mainly oil.
On May 8, 2013 began the offshore 2D seismic
acquisition with the Russian company Sevmorgeo,
which ended in 2014.
The conceptual study of the development of the
block was also developed and analyzed; scenario
simulation runs were performed to evaluate the
block and a maritime tour took place in the area for
equipment evaluation.
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REFINING AND COMMERCIALIZATION
BUSINESS LINE
Management Summary
After reaching US$ 115 per barrel in June 2014,
the international price of Brent crude oil recorded a
steady decline, reaching US$ 57 per barrel by the
end of 2014, losing almost half of its value over a
period of only six months.
Despite this high variability in oil prices, ENAP
achieved for the second consecutive year an EBITDA
of approximately US$ 600 million.

For this line of business, the impact of this new
scenario has been positive. It has directly benefited
from a significant reduction in energy costs, both the
fuel gas for internal consumption and natural gas,
the cost of both inputs closely following declines in
the price of Brent.
The increased production of gasoline and diesel,
and maintaining the utilization rate of the refineries in a
similar level as 2013 despite operational unscheduled
downtime, influenced positively the results.

Refining
Origin of Refined Crude Oil

R&C Total
Crude Oils
Mm3

6%

Basket %

Africa

Light

1.982

16

80%

South America

Intermediate

3.884

32

Heavy

4.235

35

Supplementary Loads

1.997

17

12.097

100

TOTAL
Source: ENAP R&C Management.
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3%

Domestic

5%

North America and the
Caribbean

6%
Europa
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Marc Llambías Gerente LN
Refinación y Comercialización.

Not counting complementary loads, in 2014
Enap’s Aconcagua, Bío Bío and Gregorio Refineries

processed 10.1 million cubic meters of crude oil,
mainly from South America (80%).
R&C Total
Mm3

Basket %.

580

5

3.528

30

949

8

Diesel

3.781

33

Fuel Oil

1.307

11

Industrial Products & Others

1.444

12

11.589

100

Liquefied Gas
Gasoline
Kerosene

TOTAL

Volumetric Yield 95,8%
Source: ENAP R&C Management.
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Camión cisterna con GNL.

Domestic Market
During 2014, domestic consumption of refined
oil products reached 18.16 million cubic meters,
equivalent to 312,975 barrels per day (bpd),
decreasing by 1.6% over the previous year.
The decrease in consumption is explained by
the impact of higher prices for the end user and
a slowdown in economic activity. Thus, according
to preliminary estimates by the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD),
Chile’s GDP expanded by 1.9% in 2014, contrasting
with the 4.1% growth in 2013. The lower production
of copper mining, a large consumer of oil-based
fuels, according to preliminary estimates of the
Mining Council, seems to have been particularly
relevant.
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By analyzing the change in consumption per
product compared to 2013, very different behaviors
are appreciated, stands out the declines in the
consumption of Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG),
kerosene, diesel, fuel oil and industrial products,
contrasting with the increased consumption of
gasoline.
Total diesel consumption fell by 1.3% to 9.06
million cubic meters (156,140 bpd), affected by a
4.3% rise of its real price (the price change minus
the rate of inflation) and by a lower mining activity.
Despite the drop, diesel maintained its status as
the most consumed product among oil-based fuels.
Domestic consumption of vehicle gasoline was
the second largest by volume, with 4.04 million
cubic meters (69,593 bpd), growing 0.4% over
the level of 2013. Due to a high income elasticity of
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demand for gasoline, the effect of income growth
of consumers associated with a higher GDP,
overcame the negative impact on demand of the
4.8% increase in the real price of this fuel.
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) became the third
most important product in terms of consumption,
with 2.23 million cubic meters (38,406 bpd),
registering a fall of 0.7% over the previous year.
In this case, the lower consumption is explained by
an increase in the real price of 0.8% and market
losses in favor of natural gas.
Kerosene consumption decreased by 1.5%,
to 1.31 million cubic meters (22,589 bpd). Of
the total, aviation kerosene, representing 90%

of consumption, fell marginally by 1%, while
household kerosene fell 5.9%, affected by an
increase of 8.4% of its real price.
Fuel oil consumption decreased 8.9% and
reached 1.07 million cubic meters (18,436
bpd). The consumption of fuel oil in industrial
applications fell by 12.0% (101,000 m3), while
the sales of fuel oil as marine fuel in the country’s
ports decreased by 1.0% (3,000 m3).
Finally, consumption of industrial products
-solvents, olefins (basic raw materials for the
petrochemical industry) and asphalts-, totaled
0.45 million cubic meters (7,812 bpd), 8.6%
lower compared to 2013.

Domestic Consumption
2014

2013 Mm3

Variation

Mm3

Mm3

2014/2013

Liquefied Gas

2.229

2.244

-0,7%

Vehicle Gasoline

4.039

4.024

0,4%

Kerosene

1.311

1.331

-1,5%

Diesel

9.062

9.183

-1,3%

Fuel Oil

1.070

1.174

-8,9%

453

496

-8,6%

18.164

18.452

-1,6%

Industrial Products and Others (*)
TOTAL
Source: ENAP R&C Management.
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Domestic Consumption of Fuels and ENAP’s Sales in 2013 and 2014
Ventas
Domestic
Consumption

Participación de exportaciones
ENAP
Domestic
Sales

2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

Liquefied Gas

2.229

2.224

399

Vehicle Gasoline

4.039

4.024

Kerosene

1.311

Diesel
Fuel Oil

Figures in Mm3

Industrial Products/
Others (*)
TOTAL

2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

Market

2013
Mm3

474

17,9%

21,1%

46

124

-0,7%

-15,9%

4.075

4.003

100,0%

99,5%

-

99

0,4%

1,8%

1.331

915

888

69,8%

66,7%

-

7

-1,5%

3,1%

9.062

9.183

4.295

4.768

47,4%

51,9%

24

410

-1,3%

-9,9%

1.070

1.174

1.149

1.204

100,0%

100,0%

91

228

-8,9%

-4,6%

453

496

293

335

64,6%

67,6%

122

119

-8,6%

-12,6%

18.164

18.452

11.127

11.672

61,3%

63,3%

283

987

-1,6%

-4,7%

Sales
Total sales reached 11.41 million cubic meters
(196,599 bpd), slightly below the previous year. This
decrease is mainly explained by the lower level of
export sales, which fell from 1.0 million cubic meters
in 2013 to 0.28 million cubic meters in 2014, i.e. a
decrease of 71.3%, and by the lower level of sales
to the domestic market, down from 11.67 million
cubic meters in 2013 to 11.13 million cubic meters
in 2014.
Gasoline and diesel were the products with greater
participation in ENAP sales, with an incidence of 36%
and 38%, respectively.

2014
Mm3

2013
Mm3

ENAP’s
Domestic
Sales

2014
Mm3

(*) Includes Propylene, Ethylene, Naphtha, Solvent and Asphalts, among others.
(**) Exports include offshore sales mainly to Peru.
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Variation
2014/2013

ENAP (**)

Domestic
Consumption

Fuente: Gerencia R&C de ENAP.

Sales to Domestic Market
Sales to the domestic market totaled 11.13 million
cubic meters (191,717 bpd), with a market share
of 61.3%, two percentage points less than in 2013.
The drop in LPG sales (-75,000 cubic meters)
affected significantly in the lower market share,
due in part to reduced availability for sale of butane
from refineries, as part of the production load was
allocated to the Aconcagua Refinery Alkylation
Plant. This caused a drop in LPG domestic market
share from 21.1% in 2013 to 17.9% in 2014.
However, thanks to the production of such
Alkylation plant, ENAP increased its market share
in gasoline, whose value is higher than LPG.
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DAO San Fernando.

Among domestic sales, again diesel was the
product with the highest sales, with 4.30 million cubic
meters (73,995 bpd) and a market share of 47.4%,
lower than the 51.9% share recorded in 2013.

with 0.40 million cubic meters (6,869 bpd) and a
market share of 17.9%. Finally, industrial products,
with 0.29 million cubic meters (5,048 bpd) and a
market share of 64.6%.

The second best-selling product was vehicle
gasoline, with 4.08 million cubic meters (70,236
bpd) and a market share of 100.0%, exceeding the
participation of 99.5% achieved in 2013.

In order of sales, the following volumes
correspond to fuel oil, with 1.15 million cubic
meters (19,799 bpd) and a market share of
107.4%; kerosene, 0.92 million cubic meters
(15,770 bpd) and a market share of 69.8%; LPG,
with 0.40 million cubic meters (6,869 bpd) and a
market share of 17.9%. Finally, industrial products,
with 0.29 million cubic meters (5,048 bpd) and a
market share of 64.6%.

In order of sales, the following volumes
correspond to fuel oil, with 1.15 million cubic
meters (19,799 bpd) and a market share of
100.0%; kerosene, 0.92 million cubic meters
(15,770 bpd) and a market share of 69.8%; LPG,
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Exports
ENAP exports reached 0.28 million cubic meters
of oil-based products, equivalent to 2.4% of the total
production of its refineries.

Exportaciones de combustibles de ENAP

Figures in Mm3

Argentina

Perú

Liquefied Gas

Brazil

Central
America

34,6

11,3

USA

Others
(*)

TOTAL

%

45,9

16,2%

Vehicle Gasoline

Kerosenes

Diesel

23,9

0,5

0,0

24,4

8,6%

0,2

90,8

32,0%

122,2

43,1%

283

100%

Fuel Oil

88,3

2,2

Industrial
Products/
Others (*)

75,2

47,1

174,8

49,8

TOTAL

168

23,9

34,6

0,3
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ENAP’s REFINING AND MARKETING
IN MAGALLANES
Fuel supply for the XII Región de Magallanes and Antártica Chilena
ENAP’s Refining and Commercialization Business
Line in Magallanes distributed a total volume of
259,800 cubic meters of liquid fuel (gasoline,

aviation kerosene, vehicle and marine diesel),
0,5% higher than 2013, thus fully supplying the
regional demand.

Fuel Supply for the XII Region
300

Marine Diesel
B Diesel

250

Kerojet

Mm3

200

Others
150
100
50
0
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014
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Refinería Gregorio
224.800 m3 of light crude is refined (° API > 27).
The basket was composed by 98% oil of national
origin and 2% from Argentina.

Of the total volume produced in Gregorio
Refinery, 15% corresponded to naphtha; 16% to
aviation kerosene; 23% to marine diesel and 46%
to reduced crude oil.

Fuel Supply for the XII Region
100%
Argentino

80%

Nacional
60%

40%

20%

0%
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014
Source: Gerencia R&C de ENAP.
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Origin of Crude Oils

Geopark

SipetrolB

E&P Magallanes

300
250

Mm3

200
150
100
50
0
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014
Source: Gerencia R&C de ENAP.

During the 2014 sales were as follows: 66.183 m3
of MGO, 34.805 of Kerojet, 38.267 naphtha and

112.485 of reduced crude oil. In addition, 160.686
m3 of crude oil were sold to Enap Refinerías S.A.
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Cabo Negro.

Cabo Negro Plant
At the plant of Cabo Negro 116.160 cubic
meters of raw product was fractioned, 100%

of national origin. 90.367 cubic meters of LPG
(propane and butane) and 25.793 cubic meters of
Natural Gasoline were obtained.

Fractured Raw Product
1000

800

Imported Raw
Product

600

National Raw
Product

400

200

0
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Source: ENAP R&C Management

Of the total LPG processed in Cabo Negro, 24.244
cubic meters (equivalent to 47.4 MTons.) went to
supply the demand of liquefied Gas in the XI Region
of Aysen del General Carlos Ibáñez del Campo and
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XII Region of Magallanes y Antártica Chilena. With
regard to LPG exports, these amounted to 45.906
cubic meters (equivalent to 86.6 MTon), with
destinations in Brazil and Uruguay.
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Quality Management System ISO
9001:2008
Currently the company has ISO 9001:2008
Quality Certification effective from November 2012
until November 2015. During 2014 the certifying
company Bureau Veritas satisfactorily conducted
two audits on management processes monitoring
of the R & C Directorate in Magallanes, certification
processes of products quality, maintenance,
operations of plants and terminals, logistics
planning and procurement planning and marketing,
as well as support processes such as training and
development and management of purchase of
materials and procurement of services.

Training and Learning
Approximately 3.680 hours of training activities
were conducted. The courses imparted by area
are: laboratory: hydraulic fracture, SafeStart,
operation and development of work teams, among
others. Courses in Maritime operations: Oil Spill
Preparedness and Response, fight against oil

spills, tools for hazardous waste management,
among other. Plants and terminals: formation of
firefighting brigades, technical rescue in heights,
TapRoot corporate system for investigation of
accidents, among others.
Regarding internal training, emphasis was given
to issues associated with SafeStart, execution
and development of skills for working in teams
and management of initiatives, in addition to the
participation in Latin America LPG seminar &
workshops.

Business Focus for 2015
In 2015 the focus will be set mainly on
the following: continue to develop markets
for the marine diesel and LPG (propane and
butane), continue with the implementation of
the investments development program of 2015
(approximately US$10 million), primarily aimed at
reducing gaps in risks mitigation and regulatory
compliance, improvements in safety of operations
and sustainability of the business.
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Enap Magallanes.
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INVESTMENT AND FINANCING MANAGEMENT
R&C Investments
Aconcagua and Bío Bío Refinerías made
investments of US$ 1.31 million and US$ 2.23
million, respectively.
The details of the progress of major industrial
projects are as follows:

operation was performed. The improvement plan
is expected to continue during 2015. The project
had an outlay of US$ 1,139 million in 2014.
Separation of Amine Regenerators for MDEA
and DEA, Aconcagua Refinery

Delivery of Industrial Diesel, Bío Bío Refinery

This project aims to lower operating costs and
provide greater security to the operation of the
facilities.

This project is based on the basis of improving
the quality of management and quantity of fuel
supply, in order to respond appropriately to the new
requirements the fuel market, while maintaining
reliability of supply to customers.

During December 2014 concluded the detailed
engineering and began the procurement process.
By 2015 it is planned to complete the procurement
process and initiate the construction phase. The
project had an outlay of US$ 363,000 in 2014.

During 2014 the detailed engineering of the
project was completed, acquisitions were carried

Expansion of Quintero Terminal Electrical
Substation Capacity, Aconcagua Refinery

out and the construction and assembly began,
which is expected to complete by 2015, as well as
the commissioning. The project had an outlay of
US$ 1,029 million in 2014.
Improvements to the Natural Gas Regasification
Plant in Pemuco, Bío Bío Refinery
The project allows to supply LNG to Bío Bío
Refinery from the Quintero Terminal, with the benefit
of reducing energy costs and the emissions to the
air. During 2014 engineering and construction
works associated with improvements in plant

This project is to expand the infrastructure
to supply external power to Aconcagua Refinery
facilities in Quintero Terminal, thus allowing to
provide electricity to new firefighting equipment, oil
pipeline heating and the pond heaters.
During 2014 the electrical and instrumentation
installation of the electrical substation was
completed, and the 110 kV connection was
tendered and awarded. The completion of this
project is expected by 2015. The project had an
outlay of US$ 935,000 in 2014.
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SUPPLIERS
In 2014 Enap Refinerías S.A. covered almost
all of its requirements of crude oil with imports
from South America (88%), Angola (7%), Canada
(3%) and the UK (2%), depending on the price and
quality conditions of crude oil. This corresponds to
purchases that arrived to Chile in 2014.
Purchases of crude oil were conducted, in part,
through contracts with international producers, in

addition to purchases in the spot market. The main
suppliers during 2014 were: Core, BG, Petrobras,
Unipec, Petrochina and Repsol.
As for purchases of refined products, the main
sources were the United States (90%) and Europe
(10%). The main suppliers of these imports were
Trafigura, Tesoro, Valero, Lyondell, Glencore and
Shell.

The chart below shows the purchase distribution:

Origin of the Purchase
of Imported Crude Oils.

80%

South America

2%
7%
UK

Angola

Origin of the Purchase
of Imported Products.

3%

3%

Canada

90%
USA
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Finland

7%

Netherlands
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Customers
There are three clients that individually
concentrate more than 10% of the demand in
the segment of fuels and other derivatives. The
marketing of the main products of Enap Refinerías
S.A., oil-based fuels, is performed through sales to
wholesale fuels distribution companies and other
direct clients.
ENAP Refinerías S.A. maintains supply contracts
with its customers, thus ensuring adequate supply
of fuel throughout the country.
Major national clients of liquid fuels are Copec
Enex, Petrobras, Hugo Najle Cia, Cabal, JLC, and
Santa Elena. Major national clients of LPG are
Gasco, Abastible, Lipigas, Norgas and Intergas.
Copec, Enex, Petrobras, Repsol-YPF and Lan
Airlines are also major customers of aviation
kerosene of Enap Refinerías S.A.

In 2014 exports totaled 213,517 cubic meters,
which represents a decrease by 73.59% from
2013 and is equivalent to 2.1% of the refineries’
total production.
ENAP also markets industrial products such
as: marine fuel, asphalt, solvents, coke and sulfur.
The company has a large number of customers of
these products, including: Copec and Agunsa, in
the area of Bunkers; Asfaltos Chilenos, Enex, Dynal,
Química Latinoamericana and Probisa, in the
area of asphalt; Cementos Bío Bío and Industrias
Profal and Comercial Andino, in the area of coke;
Reno, Dideval, Passol, Copec, Quimica Universal,
Solimpex, Brenntag and Oxiquim, in the area of
solvents; Fosfoquim, NTA and Inversiones Liguria
and Quimetal, in the area of sulfur.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT IN REFINING AND MARKETING
Enap Refinerías S.A. commitment is to refine
and store hydrocarbons and their derivatives to
meet the needs and requirements agreed upon
with its clients in quality, quantity and timeliness.
The quality management system (QMS) is part of
the Integrated Management System, and is aimed
to run and develop its processes, complying with
its requirements and continually improving the
effectiveness of its system, and therefore increase
its reliability and competitiveness in the market.

Aconcagua and Bío Bío Refineries develop
internal audits twice a year prior to the monitoring
audits carried out by the certification entity. In
January 2014 Aconcagua Refinery got its fifth
recertification of the ISO9001 Quality Management
System, thus ratifying the commitment of its
work team with continuous improvement and the
principles of the standard.
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LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT

For 2014, the Logistics Management
maintained its fundamental pillars of commitment
to safety, operation with a focus on the customer
and the achievement of competitive advantages.
These goals materialize, first, by the constant
search to ensure people’s health, their quality of
life and care of the environment. Second, by giving
solutions to facilitate the sale of the product,
providing a reliable delivery and, finally, working
steadily to achieve innovative solutions that allow to
operate in an economic optimum.
In relation to its organizational structure,
Logistics Management made no changes,
its organization of five directorates remained
unchanged, which are grouped into:
• Directorate of Supply Planning (DPA, Dirección
de Planificación del Abastecimiento).
• Directorate of Inventory Control (DCI, Dirección
de Control de Inventarios).
• Directorate of Maritime Transport (DTM,
Dirección de Transporte Marítimo).
• Directorate of Land Transport (DTT, Dirección
de Transporte Terrestre).
• Directorate of Storage and Pipelines (DAO,
Dirección de Almacenamiento y Oleoducto).
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Commitment with Safety: :
In this area stresses the achievement of
zero accidents of own personnel in plants of the
Directorate of Storage and Pipelines (DAO), totaling
more than 100 collaborators spread across
three plants (Maipú, Linares and San Fernando)
and two pumping stations (Molina and Chillán). On
December 31, 2014 the following records without
incident were obtained: 2.544 days in Maipú,
2.681 in Linares and 3.047 in San Fernando. All
these figures were recognized within the company
and are an example in terms of safety.
Considering the trend of the global shipping
industry, the Directorate of Maritime Transport
(DTM) outstands for the safe operation of ships,
based on a Vetting control thereof, allowing
progressively to reduce exposure to risk. In turn,
this directorate actively participated in joint drills
with marine terminals, faced to incidents involving
spills and damage to the aquatic environment.
Zero Accidents were also recorded in the
Directorate of Land Transport (DTT). In 2014
a total of 22,182 trips to customers and ENAP
Refinerías S.A plants was recorded, covering
17.5 million kilometers and mobilizing a volume
of 743,650 cubic meters of liquid fuels, LNG,
LPG and Coke. This is done through a centralized
scheduling of loads carried out by DTT through
SAP, improving coordination between the areas
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of Sales, Logistics and Loading Yard Operations.
Additionally, Management Programs in security
of transport companies were fulfilled, allowing to
achieve four years without Lost Time Accidents
and fatalities.
In preparation to potential major incidents, both
DAO plants and the Directorate of Land Transport,
conducted simulated incidents in all plants,
including all actors involved in these exercises,
which served to review response capabilities to
properly control these major accidents on time and
their coordination.
During 2014 all members of this division were
trained in SafeStart techniques to reduce critical
errors and thus help reduce work and domestic
incidents and / or accidents.
Finally, in October 2014, Logistics Management
in coordination with HSE Management an organized
a Safety Plenary Meeting, which brought together
major external suppliers of the Management, where
current issues on the subject were presented and
proposals were collected to reduce accidents in
the various operations.

Customer-Oriented Operations:
During 2014, monthly delivery planning meetings
were held with wholesale customers, in order to
improve communication and effective coordination
of supply.

Achieving Competitive Advantage:
In May 2014 a modern ship was added
as planned Cabotage fleet replacement. It is
a tanker ship that strengthened unloading
operations management, significantly
increasing the storage and transportation of
crude oil capacity. A smaller ship that supports
the supply of refined products in Easter Island
and between ENAP refineries, switched from
occasional to permanent mode. All of the
above, allowed for more robust structure of
the fleet dedicated to the national maritime
supply.
Best Practices of ships operation allowed
the Directorate of Maritime Transportation
substantially reduce marine fuel consumption
compared to the same period in 2013.
The land transportation fleet transported
higher volumes without increasing the number of
teams, which helped to optimize the operation and
the associated costs. Similarly, the facilities of the
loading yard ex-Terpel in the DAO Maipú Plant were
enabled, which in the future will allow ENAP to carry
out the loading of customers’ liquid fuels and own
tankers at their facilities.
Regarding the Directorate of Supply Planning,
the goal of a 95% compliance with contractual
monthly volumes per product family throughout
2014 was achieved.
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ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.

Results:
During 2014 Enap Refinerías S.A. threw
a consolidated profit of US$31 million. This is
explained in part by the significant reduction
in energy costs, both the fuel gas for internal
consumption, as well as natural gas, the cost of
both inputs closely following the drop in the price of
the Brent crude oil.
The increased production of gasoline and diesel
influenced positively, and to have managed to keep
the utilization rate of refineries similar to 2013,
despite unscheduled operational downtime.
Gross margin was a profit of US$ 284 million,
representing a slightly positive variation over the
fiscal year 2013, which was US$ 282 million. This
positive variation is explained by operational and
management improvements, as described above.
Administrative expenses at consolidated level
showed a decrease of US$ 5.2 million, from US$
24.7 million accrued to December 2013, to $
19.5 million in the same period of 2014.
At the operational level, refining volume, including
crude oil and supplementary loads, amounted to
11.7 million cubic meters. Production in both was
11.2 million cubic meters, the main products were
diesel and gasoline, with 33.3% and 31.2% of the
basket, respectively.

The refinery utilization rate was 73.6% and plant
availability of 92.3% (average of the Aconcagua
and Bio Bio refineries).
The total volume of sales to the domestic market
was 10.9 million cubic meters, representing
a market share of 59.8%. Meanwhile, exports
reached 0.2 million cubic meters, accounting for
2.1% of total products sold by ENAP Refinerías S.A.

Logistics
Logistics management is composed of five
directorates and has 154 employees, who are
grouped into:
•

Directorate of Supply Planning (DPA, Dirección
de Planificación del Abastecimiento).

•

Directorate of Inventory Control (DCI, Dirección
de Control de Inventarios).

•

Directorate of Maritime Transport (DTM,
Dirección de Transporte Marítimo).

•

Directorate of Land Transport (DTT, Dirección
de Transporte Terrestre).

•

Directorate of Storage and Pipelines (DAO,
Dirección de Almacenamiento y Oleoducto).

These directorates, in line with the management’s
objectives, support their operation on 3 pillars:
commitment to safety. Including the health of people,
their quality of life and care for the environment.
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Customer-oriented operations. Providing
solutions that facilitate the sale of the product,
providing reliability in deliveries.

which served to review response capabilities to
properly control these major accidents on time and

Achieving competitive advantage. Using
innovative solutions to operate in the economic
optimum.

In turn, the Directorate of Maritime Transport
(DTM), participated in joint drills with maritime
terminals, faced to incidents involving spills and
other major incidents.

their coordination.

Commitment to Safety:
Customer-Oriented Operations:
This area highlights the achievement of Zero
Accident of Own Staff in DAO plants, totaling 100
collaborators distributed in three plants (Maipú,
Linares and San Fernando) and two pumping
stations (Molina and Chillán), where each plant
has achieved several days without accidents:
2179 days in Maipú (5 years 11 months), 2,316
in Linares (6 years 4 months) and 2,682 in San
Fernando (7 years 4 months), including December
31, 2013. Also outstands the safe operation of
ships, based on a Vetting control thereof, which
allowed to reduce risk exposure.
Regarding equipment safety as of December
31, 2013 DAO plants had 100% of their pools
certified. In addition, scheduled “smart pig”
inspections were conducted to the south pipeline.
In the Directorate of Land Transport (DTT), Zero
Accident was also recorded in a total of 22,500
trips in 2013 and 13.3 million kilometers, mobilizing
a volume of 758,000 m3 during the year.
In preparation to potential major incidents, both
DAO plants and the Directorate of Land Transport,
conducted simulated incidents in all plants,
including all actors involved in these exercises,

184

Deliveries to customers were fully met. 100%
of the products contracted were delivered on
time, form and quality, thanks to a successful
coordination between the Directorate of Supply
Planning (DPA) and the Directorates of Maritime
and Land Transport, in addition to DAO plants.
Also in this year, the DPA became part of the
Logistics Management, which resulted in a very
neat job.
Achieving Competitive Advantage:
Oil unloading operations to the refineries were
optimized by changing ship to a larger capacity,
which added to the operation capabilities of the
new San Vicente Maritime Terminal, enabled
significant savings by decreasing the amount of
unloads, and reducing the waiting times for ships
importing crude oil.
The land transport fleet also transported
higher load volumes, which helped to optimize
the operation and the associated costs. Similarly,
a new unloading isle was enabled for the virtual
pipeline (trucks) transport system, which unload
the tanks at the Maipú DAO Plant.

Annual Report 2014 - ENAP

In the Chartering area of the Directorate of
Maritime Transport, an important agreement was
reached with foreign ship-owners to lease ships of
import products, allowing to access them at ports of
embarkation in opportunity and at preferential rates.

The Directorate of Supply Planning and the
different company areas involved met the goal of
average products inventory for 2013.
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GAS AND ENERGY BUSINESS LINE
Creation of the G&E Business Line
Among the measures taken by the
Administration to support the implementation of
Energy Agenda of the government of President
Michelle Bachelet, on July 14, 2014 ENAP
created a third Business Line, Gas & Energy
Business Line, whose mission is promote the use
of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) in the national
energy matrix, along with the incorporation of new
power generation capacity.

Objectives
- Promote the use of LNG in homes, industries
and power generation, thus promoting the use
of a cleaner fuel in the national energy matrix.
- Encourage the development of power
generation projects to improve the
competitiveness of the electricity market in
the national economy.

Organigrama
Gas & Energy
Management

Gerencia de Gas

Directorate of
Natural Gas
Development

Directorate of
Natural Gas

Energy
Management

Directorate of
Electric Systems

Project
Management

Directorate of
Aconcagua
Co-generation
Power Plant
Directorate
of Electricity
Generation
Projects
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GAS MANAGEMENT
Objectives
Develop LNG market in Chile through the
marketing of volumes of LNG or natural gas to
customers in the industrial, thermoelectric,
transport and distribution sectors; establish
partnerships for the development of strategic
projects that will promote the marketing and
improve ENAP’s position in the domestic natural
gas market.

This regasification terminal began operations
in September 2009 and has had a high utilization
rate, contributing significantly to the use of a clean
fuel and at lower-cost, reducing the increase in the
price of electricity during the period of drought that
has taken place in the country since 2010.

Gas Marketing through Gas Pipelines

History

The LNG regasified at the GNL Quintero plant
is injected to the Electrogas gas pipeline and
transported to ENAP Aconcagua Refinery.

Restrictions on the export of Argentine natural
gas began in 2004. These were progressively
worsen over time affecting industrial consumption
including ENAP Refineries as well as the supply of
the combined cycle plants.

The Electrogas gas pipeline, also allows ENAP
to access the main thermoelectric located in the
central area, and supply natural gas from GNL for
residential, commercial and industrial distribution
in the Fifth Region.

In May 2004 the Government of Chile
commissioned ENAP to lead the development of a
project of LNG import that would allow the country
to obtain greater independence and security of
supply by diversifying its energy matrix.

Virtual gas pipeline

Thus, a pool of consumers was formed,
generating the viable minimum demand to access
the international LNG market and created the
companies GNL Chile and GNL Quintero for the
development, construction and operation of
the project of the regasification terminal. ENAP
currently holds a participation interest in these
companies of 33.3% and 20%, respectively.
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To supply the Bio Bio Refinery, since there
are no pipelines that allow to transport gas from
the Metropolitan to the Eighth Region, LNG is
transported by tanker trucks and regasified in a
Satellite regasification Plant installed in Pemuco,
close to Chillán, in an area near the Gasoducto del
Pacífico (Pacific gas pipeline), through which the
natural gas is transported to Bio Bio Refinery.
Through the Gasoducto del Pacífico the product
may also be transported to distributors and
industries in the Eighth Region.
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Mobile LNG
In order to increase the share of natural gas
in the country’s energy matrix and strengthen the
ENAP’s position in the industrial segment, ENAP
has developed a business model that delivers a
clean and competitive energy solution that helps

mitigate the constant increase of energy costs in
the domestic industry.
Mobile LNG corresponds to a business model
based on a virtual pipeline of liquefied natural gas
(LNG) to different industrial customers through
wholesale distributors.
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ELECTRICITY MANAGEMENT
Objectives

LNG in Power Generation

Promote and participate in the management of
new electricity generation projects; to support the
different areas of the company and its subsidiaries
on issues relating to the functioning of the electricity
sector; participate in procurement and contract
management of power supply and represent
ENAP and its subsidiaries before regulators and
coordinators of the Chilean electricity sector.

During 2014, LNG maintained a significant level
of participation as fuel in the electricity generation
matrix of the Central Interconnected System
(SIC). Indeed, total gross production of SIC was
52,256,167 MWh, of which 7,986,481 MWh were
generated based on LNG, which is a 15.3% stake.
The chart below shows the production of
electricity based on LNG during 2014:

SIC’s Electricity Generation in 2014
11.4%
15.3%

Hydro
Coal

44.9%

LNG
28.4%
Other sources
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Expansion of Line of Business
On October 1, 2014, the Bill amending Act No.
9618 that created the ENAP 1950 was entered
for processing to the Chamber of Deputies. Among
other things, the purpose of this amendment is that:
a. ENAP expand the Business Line to the
generation and transmission of electricity, to
which it must establish societies in which the
participation of ENAP should be less than 50%
of the share capital.

b. Establishes that ENAP will develop generation
projects with their respective electric
transmission facilities, activities for which it is
not considered the limit of social participation
noted above.
The Presidency of the Republic declared, on
January 22, 2015, that the discussion of the bill is
urgent (15 days for the House to vote).

PROJECT MANAGEMENT
Objectives
Given the recent establishment of the Gas &
Energy Business Line and the strategic pillars that
define its purpose, it is necessary that this business
line has a Project Management in its structure to
promote the development of its projects.
Accordingly, Project management will
have among its main functions the definition,
management, control, planning and execution of
the projects of the G & E Business Line until their
start-up and implementation.

Aconcagua Steam Cogeneration
Project
The Aconcagua Steam Cogeneration project
is a co-generation plant of high pressure steam

and electricity to meet the needs of Aconcagua
Refinery in Concón, Fifth Region.
This project consists of a turbine generating
electricity based on natural gas burners equipped
with low emissions and high efficiency. This turbine
has a capacity to generate 77 MW of electrical
power, enough to meet the demand for Aconcagua
Refinery and export surplus to the SIC. The gas
turbine exhaust is used in a heat recovery boiler to
generate 125 tons of steam per hour, which will be
consumed by various refinery processes.
This project has environmental approval since
2007, and after a series of agreements with
the community and modifications to the original
Cogeneration project, is under implementation.
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MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
During 2014 ENAP was the recipient of 34%
of deliveries of natural gas from the Quintero LNG
terminal, either via gas pipeline or tanker trucks

loading yard, maintaining its position in the
market for natural gas in the central south
area of the country.

ENAP’s Market Share in 2014

34%

ENAP
Others

66%
Source: ENAP G&E Management

Deliveries 2014-2013 Comparison. GNL Quintero Terminal
90,000,000

ERSA

80,000,000

Others

70,000,000
60,000,000
50,000,000
40,000,000
30,000,000
20,000,000
10,000,000
2013

2014
Source: ENAP R&C Management
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While 2013 showed significant increases in
sales, mostly associated with spot sales mode
to the thermoelectric sector, the inherent risk of
hydrology on the marginal energy prices meant
a lower demand for natural gas by the electricity
generation companies over the past year. As a
result, during 2014 the sales volume of natural gas
showed a decrease of 16% from the previous year.

market, concentrated in more than 30% in a single
actor and including volumes delivered in the LNG
terminal of Mejillones, opening a new LNG market
for ENAP. The company’s position in the northern
market will be strengthened through agreements
reached during 2014, which will double the volume
delivered to that area in 2015.
According to the SIC electricity generation
matrix during 2014, ENAP has a 14% share of the
LNG electricity production.

However, more than 40% of ENAP’s natural
gas deliveries were destined to the electricity

Electricity Generation based on ENAP LNG in 2014
14%
ENAP
Others

86%

Source: ENAP G&E Management

NG Deliveries in 2014
ENAP Aconcagua Refinery

4%
25%

ENAP Bío Bío Refinery
RESCOM Industries Fifth Region

42%

Electricity Generation

15%
14%

RESCOM Industries Eighth Region
Mobile LNG
Source: ENAP G&E Management.
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Sales to the residential-commercial segment
(RESCOM) and industries of the Fifth Region
remained stable in relation to 2013, of which 14%
is concentrated on one customer. Meanwhile, the
sales for the same segment in the Eighth Region
increased by 200% over the previous year, as
the firm supply contracts signed with natural gas
distribution companies connected to Gasoducto
del Pacífico became effective.
Moreover, both the optimization of the logistics
of transferring LNG from the LNG Quintero
Terminal facilities to the Satellite Regasification
Plant in Pemuco, such as increasing the plant’s
capacity to 650,000 cubic meters per day, allowed
to increase the availability of gas in the area by

50%, which consolidated ENAP’s position in the
market for natural gas in the central-southern
zone, through underwriting firm supply contracts
as from 2015.
During 2014 began the supply to six LNG Mobile
projects, and agreements to supply natural gas to
9 additional projects as from 2015 were signed,
which will double the volume place by ENAP in this
segment.
At the end of the exercise, ENAP was
positioned as a leader in mobile LNG market
share, concentrating 59%, at national level, of the
installed PSR for supply of natural gas to industrial
customers.

Share in the LNG Mobile Segment in 2014

ENAP

41%

Others

59%

Note: The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 report G & E business line as part of the R&C Business
Line, since from a financial-accounting point of view, because the drivers of financial control have not been generated for this
purpose. As of 2015, this segment will be reported separately in the consolidated financial statements, as required by IFRS
8 “Operating Segments”.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2014

EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETRÓLEO
2014

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Note
N°

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Other current non-financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies
Inventories

7
8
9
10
11
12
13

153,511
210,788
4,973
702,455
30,063
740,801

469,013
152
4,163
995,817
33,128
1,300,602

81,731

29,318

1,924,322

2,832,193

14,154
48,690
15,542
2,435
126,922
3,083
2,753,166
7,642
761,336

47,253
48,538
18,584
1,916
117,028
3,083
2,637,254
7,732
560,470

Total non-current assets

3,732,970

3,441,858

TOTAL ASSETS

5,657,292

6,274,051

Current tax assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Other non-current financial assets
Other non-current non-financial assets
Non current receivable
Due from related companies
Investment accounted for using the equity method
Intangible assets other than goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Deferred tax assets

8
9
10
11
14
15
19
13

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Note
N°

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Other current financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies
Other short-term accruals
Current tax liabilities
Current accruals for employee benefits
Other current non-financial liabilities

20
21
11
22
13
23

459,241
730,005
46,167
2,775
98,514
44,927
10,791

485,545
1,533,032
45,999
4,215
116,679
44,620
9,078

1,392,420

2,239,168

3,372,248
5,442
105,584
129,253
105,864
905

3,415,982
7,864
143,695
124,372
110,611
1,777

Total non-current liabilities

3,719,296

3,804,301

Total liabilities

5,111,716

6,043,469

24
24
24

1,232,332
(637,827)
(61,400)

1,232,332
(902,217)
(112,253)

25

533,105
12,471

217,862
12,720

545,576

230,582

5,657,292

6,274,051

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Other non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current accounts payable
Other non-current long-term accruals
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for employee benefits
Other non-current non-financial liabilities

Equity:
Paid-in capital
Accumulated earnings (losses)
Other reserves
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company
Non - controlling interest

20
21
22
13
23

Total equity
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Note
N°

Revenues from ordinary activities
Cost of sales

27
28

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

9,836,645
(9,358,098)

11,210,719
(10,637,695)

478,547
37,641
(160,798)
(86,307)
(40,747)
1,833
7,615
(179,169)
18,685
(8,029)

573,024
56,301
(180,905)
(89,138)
(90,028)
125,728
5,780
(197,439)
30,092
(25,148)

69,271

208,267

87,327

(74,266)

Net income

156,598

134,001

Attributable net income:
Net income attributable to owners of parent company
Net income attributable to non - controlling interest

154,937
1,661

132,418
1,583

156,598

134,001

Gross margin
Other income, per function
Distribution cost
Administrative expenses
Other expenses, per function
Other income (loss)
Financial income
Financial expense
Equity in earnings of associates recorded using the equity method
Exchange differences

29
30
31
33
32
14
35

Income before taxes
Income (loss) tax expense

13

25

Net income
The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
12.31.2014
ThUS$

Net income (loss)

12.31.2013
ThUS$

156,598

134,001

Components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
before tax
Other comprehensive income before tax actuarial, gain (losses) on defined benefit plans
Total of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss before
tax

(6,273)

426

(6,273)

426

Components of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to profit or loss
before tax
Currency translation differences
Gain (losses) on currency translation differences, before taxes
Cash Flow Hedges
Gain (losses) from cash flow hedges, before taxes
Reclassification adjustments on cash flow hedges before tax

(2,885)

(2,649)

475,023
(436,675)

(121,833)
161,834

Other comprehensive income, before taxes, cash flow hedges

38,348

40,001

Share of the other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity
method

23,598

16,098

Other components from other comprehensive income, that will be reclassified to profit or
loss before taxes

59,061

53,450

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss
Income tax relating to remeasurements of defined benefit plans of other comprehensive
1,317

(85)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that will be
reclassified to profit or loss
Income taxes related to currency translation differences of other comprehensive income
Income taxes related to cash flow hedges of other comprehensive income

606
(3,933)

530
(20,541)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

50,778

33,780

Total comprehensive income (loss)

207,376

167,781

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Result of income attributable to owners of parent company
Result of income attributable to non - controlling interest

205,715
1,661

166,198
1,583

Total comprehensive income (loss)

207,376

167,781

income

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
Changes in other reserves
Revaluation

Paid in
capital
ThUS$

Opening balance at 01/01/2014

Reserves for
exchange
differences for
translation
ThUS$

Revaluation
Surplus
ThUS$

Actuarial reserves
on defined
benefit plans
ThUS$

-

(74,282)

(66,697)

-

-

-

-

(74,282)

(66,697)

341

Other comprehensive income

-

(2,279)

58,013

(4,956)

Comprehensive income

-

(2,279)

58,013

(4,956)

Increase (decrease) due to correction of errors
Restated initial balance

1,232,332

Reserves for
cash flow
hedges
ThUS$

1,232,332

341
-

reserve on
financial assets
available
for sale
ThUS$

1,190

Retained
earnings and
accumulated
losses
ThUS$

Subtotal
Other
reserves
ThUS$

Other
reserves
ThUS$

Net equity
attributable to
the owners of the
Parente Company
ThUS$

Non controlling
interest
ThUS$

Total
Equity
ThUS$

27,195

(112,253)

(902,217)

217,862

12,720

-

-

-

-

-

-

27,195

(112,253)

(902,217)

217,862

12,720

230,582

154,937

154,937

1,661

156,598

-

-

50,778

-

-

50,778

154,937

205,715

1,661

207,376

1,190

230,582

Comprehensive income
Income (loss)

Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes

-

-

Total changes in equity

-

-

(2,279)

58,013

(4,956)

-

(76,561)

(8,684)

(4,615)

-

(54,798)
(54,798)

(102,255)
(102,255)

-

(2,119)

35,558

341
341

Final balance at 12/31/2014

1,232,332

Opening balance at 01/01/2013
Increase (decrease) due to correction of errors
Restated initial balance

1,232,332
1,232,332

Comprehensive income
Income (loss)
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income

-

-

(2,119)

35,558

Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes

-

-

(17,365)

-

Total changes in equity

-

-

(19,484)

35,558

(74,282)

(66,697)

Final balance at 12/31/2013

-

-

1,232,332

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

-

50,778

-

50,778

-

75

75

109,453

109,528

(1,910)

107,618

-

75

50,853

264,390

315,243

(249)

314,994

1,190

27,270

(61,400)

(637,827)

533,105

12,471

545,576

1,190
1,190

27,671
27,671

(128,192)
(128,192)

(1,034,262)
(1,034,262)

69,878
69,878

12,757
12,757

82,635
82,635

-

-

33,780

132,418
-

132,418
33,780

1,583
-

134,001
33,780
167,781

-

-

33,780

132,418

166,198

1,583

-

(476)

(17,841)

(373)

(18,214)

(1,620)

(19,834)

341

-

(476)

15,939

132,045

147,984

(37)

147,947

341

1,190

27,195

(112,253)

(902,217)

217,862

12,720

230,582

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, DIRECT METHOD
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Statement of Cash Flows, Direct Method
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Proceeds from sales of goods and services
Receipts from premiums and benefits, annuities and other benefits from written policies
Other receipts (payments) from operating activities
Payments to suppliers for goods and services
Payments to and on behalf of employees
Other payments for operating activities
Dividends paid
Dividends received
Interest paid
Interest received
Income taxes refunded (paid)
Other inputs in cash

14,163,079
37,072
(11,018,226)
(394,529)
(2,338,190)
(1,350)
23,830
(109)
6,974
(71,358)
14,687

15,493,831
274
120,349
(11,919,297)
(350,413)
(2,485,665)
(1,134)
14,417
(372)
816
(26,366)
39,899

421,880

886,339

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Purchase of non - controlling interest
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Cash advances and loans to third parties.
Proceeds from other long term assets
Collections from the reimbursement of advance payments and loans granted to third parties
Collections to related entities
Interest received

(430,103)
(2,146)
2,502
1,524
-

(194)
(473,645)
(2,834)
255,168
2,748
3,017
2,810

Cash flows used in investing activities

(428,223)

(212,930)

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Proceeds from short-term loans
Proceeds from long-term loans
Loan payments
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Interest paid
Other inputs (outputs) in cash (Note N° 3.1.y.)

372,065
(920,588)
(3,632)
(165,584)
428,349

434,491
200,000
(1,349,281)
(2,560)
(176,871)
513,110

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

(289,390)

(381,111)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, before the effect of changes in the exchange rate

(295,733)

292,298

Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(19,769)
(315,502)
469,013

(4,137)
288,161
180,852

153,511

469,013

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014

(In thousands of dollars)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (hereinafter “ENAP” or the “parent company”) is the parent entity of the group of
companies (hereinafter the “ENAP Group”) referred to in these consolidated financial statements.
On October 4, 2002, ENAP was registered in the Securities Register of the Superintendent of Securities and
Insurances, (SVS, Superintendencia de Valores y Seguros), under number 783. As such, ENAP is subject to the
regulations of the above mentioned Superintendent.
ENAP was created through Law 9,618, dated June 19, 1950 and is owned by the Republic of Chile, and its corporate
purpose is the exploration, production and marketing of hydrocarbons and its by-products. The addresses of ENAP are
Avenida Vitacura 2736 Floor 10, Las Condes in Santiago and José Nogueira 1101 in Punta Arenas.
The Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 were approved by its Board of Directors at
Regular Meeting #1,114 held on January 29, 2015. The Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended 2013
were approved by its Board of Directors at Regular Meeting #1,098 held on January 28, 2014.
2.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

According to the mentioned previously law and its subsequent amendments, ENAP’s main activity is exploring,
operating or monetizing ore deposits containing hydrocarbons, which is authorized to be performed both inside and
outside the country.
Its main subsidiary ENAP Refinerías S.A. (“ERSA”) is a closed corporation, which officially began operating in
January 2004. It was created according to an agreement that was approved at the general meeting of shareholders of
Petrox S.A. Refinería de Petróleo (Petrox), on December 23, 2003, under which this subsidiary of ENAP merged with
Refinería de Petróleo de Concón S.A. (RPC). Petrox, now ERSA was organized as a closed corporation on July 16,
1981, before the notary Raúl Undurraga Laso, from Santiago, and its registered address is Avenida Borgoño 25,777,
Concón. Its line of business is the import, processing, storage and marketing of hydrocarbons and its derivatives and
all other activities that are directly or indirectly related and which are expressed in detail in the third article of its
statutes.
The direct subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. performs one or more of the upstream activities abroad.
ENAP Sipetrol S.A. has branches in Ecuador and Venezuela (the latter without any economic activity) and associates
in Argentina, the United Kingdom (UK), Ecuador, Uruguay, and its joint operations. Through the subsidiary in
Uruguay, it participates in production activities in Egypt. ENAP Sipetrol (UK) Limited (United Kingdom) is in the
process of closing down its operations.
PetroServicio Corp. S.A. is in the process of closing down.
Gas de Chile S.A. without any economic activity.
The subsidiaries ENAP Refinerías S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol S.A. are privately held corporations, voluntarily registered
in the Special Register of Reporting Entities of the SVS under N° 95 and N° 187, respectively.
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(In thousands of dollars)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Accounting principles
These consolidated financial statements are stated in thousands of US dollars and were prepared from the accounting
records kept by ENAP and its subsidiaries. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2014 have been prepared in accordance with Standards and Instructions issued by the Superintendency
of Securities and Insurance (SVS) which are consistent with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
with the exception of disposition number 856 as detailed in the next paragraph.
On September 26, 2014, law 20.780 was enacted, and published on September 29, 2014. This law introduces changes
to the tax system in Chile regarding income tax, among other issues. In relation to such law, on October 17, 2014, the
SVS issued circular 856, which stated that changes to deferred income tax assets and liabilities arising as direct effect
from the increase in the corporate income tax rates introduced by law 20.780 (Tax Reform) will be made against
equity and not as stated in IAS 12. Notes 3r and 13 detail the criteria used and impacts related to the record of the
effects resulting from the reform and the application of the mentioned circular.
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 have been prepared according to the
International Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter
“IASB”).
Preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions by the
Management of the ENAP Group. These estimates are based on the best knowledge of Management on the amounts
reported, events or actions. The detail of significant accounting estimates is shown in Note 5.
The following describes the main accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been defined according to the IAS and IFRS effective as of December 31, 2014, and
have been applied consistently over the years in which these consolidated financial statements are presented.
a. Bases of preparation – These consolidated financial statements of the ENAP Group include the statement of
financial position as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the statement of income, the statement of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for financial
instruments which are measured at fair value, as explained in the policies described below. The historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration delivered in an asset exchange.
b. Bases of consolidation – These consolidated financial statements of ENAP include all the assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses and cash flows of ENAP and ENAP–controlled entities, whether subsidiaries or special–purpose
entities, after eliminating intercompany transactions.
The financial statements of controlled entities use US Dollars as their functional currency and presentation currency.
The income or losses of businesses acquired during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the effective date of acquisition; the income or losses of businesses sold during the year are included in the
consolidated financial statements through the effective date of sale. The income of losses on sales is calculted as the
difference between the sale proceeds (net of expenses) and the assets attributable to the proportion sold.´
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i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries (including the Structured Entity - SE) are those companies over which ENAP directly or indirectly
exercises control, with the latter being understood to mean the ability to direct the financial and operational policies of
a company in order to obtain benefits from its activities. This ability is generally, although not exclusively, evidenced
by direct or indirect ownership of 50% or more of the company. Similarly, this method is used to consolidate those
entities whose activities are understood to benefit the company, while being exposed to all the risks and rewards of a
dependent entity, even if the Group does not own at least 50%of the company.
When assessing whether the ENAP Group controls another entity consideration is given to the existence and the effect
of the possible voting rights currently exercised. Subsidiaries are consolidated as of the date on which control is
transferred to the Group, and they are excluded from consolidation on the date on which control is no longer exercised.
The acquisition method is used by the Group to account for the acquisition of affiliates. The cost of acquisition is the
fair value of the assets received, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Identifiable assets acquired and the identifiable liabilities and contingencies assumed in a business combination are
initially measured at their fair value at their acquisition date. The excess of the acquisition cost over the fair value of
the group´s participation in the identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the affiliate acquired, the difference is recognized directly as income in
the income statements.
The non-controlling interest in the equity and in the comprehensive income of partially owned subsidiaries are
presented, respectively, in “Total Equity: Non-controlling interest” in the statement of consolidated financial position,
and in “Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest” and “Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Intercompany transactions are eliminated, as are balances and unrealized earnings on intercompany transactions.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction is evidence of an impairment loss on a transferred asset .
The accounting policies of affiliates are amended when necessary to ensure a uniformity of policies.
Detailed in the following chart are the direct and indirect subsidiaries (including the Structured Entity – SE), which are
included in the consolidation of the ENAP Group.

Company

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.

Domicile

Relationship
with the parent company

Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Argentina
United Kingdom
Uruguay

Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary

Shareholder percentage
percentage
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
99.98%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

99.98%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
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Company

Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Enap Ecuador S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A. (1)
Petrosul S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A.

Domicile

Relationship
with the parent company

Ecuador
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Structured entity

Shareholder percentage
percentage
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
10.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
10.00%

Changes during 2014:
(1) As of September 10, 2014, ENAP sold to subsidiary ENAP Refinerías S.A. 2,087 shares of Eteres y Alcoholes
S.A., corresponding to 20.87% of share capital, in ThUS$ 3,800 equivalent to the shares’ carrying amount. Through
this sale, all shares of Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. are owned by ENAP Refinerías S.A., thus dissolving the company
according to art. 103 N° 2 of the Corporation Law.
Changes during 2013:
In December, 2013 ENAP group sold its total shareholding on the fuel retail and consumer products business
“Primax” in Perú and Ecuador, accepting the offer from the Romero group for US$308.5 million. This transaction
resulted in proceeds of US$255 million and income before taxes of US$ 111 million in the consolidated income
statements, which was recorded in “Other profits (loss)”. The original investment was part of a business strategy to
export the surplus production of the refineries. Nowadays all production is sold in the internal market, therefore the
decision of the Romero group of accepting the offer is consistent with the long term strategy of the Group.

The financial statement of the subsidiary Manu Perú Holding S.A. at the time of the sale (December 23, 2013) is the
following:
ASSETS

ThUS$

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

ThUS$

Current assets
No-current assets

34,648
135,710

Current liabilities
No-current liabilities
Equity, Net

27,565
142,793

Total

170,358

Total

170,358

ii) Joint Arrangements
The principles for the presentation of financial information where the company has an involvement in arrangements
that are jointly controlled, are recognized according to IFRS 11 “Joint Agreements”

A joint agreement can take the form of a joint operation or a joint business, in order to distinguish them an entity must
select the type of joint agreement in which it is involved considering its rights and obligations in accordance with that
type of joint arrangement. Additionally it will assess its rights and obligations considering the structure and legal form
of the arrangement, the clauses agreed by the parties on the contractual agreement, and other factors and circumstances
where relevant.
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A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Those parties are called joint operators

A joint operator recognizes in relation to its interest in a joint operation:
(i)
its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
(ii) its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
(iii) its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation;
(iv) its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
(v) its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.


A joint business is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. Those parties are called joint business participants.

A joint business participant recognizes its interest in a joint business in the consolidated financial statements as an
investment in associates and shall account for that investment using the equity method.
iii) Structured Entity (“SE”)
A Structured Entity (SE) is an entity set up for a specific purpose or limited duration. These SE frequently function as
agent organizations. Such entities serve to isolate financial risk.
Thus, although the ENAP Group’s ownership interest in the Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A. (hereinafter
“CHBB”) is less than 50%, it is considered to be a “Subsidiary”, because, pursuant to agreements or covenants
between shareholders, or as a result of their structure, ENAP Group directly or indirectly exercises control over the
above company. The minority interests corresponding to the percentage of third party participation in this Subsidiary
has also been recognized.
The accounting principles and procedures used by the ENAP Group’s companies were standardized with those of the
Parent, in order to present consolidated financial statements based on uniform valuation standards.
iv) Transactions with minority interests
When there are changes in the proportion of capital representing a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary, the Group
adjusts the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests on the books to reflect the changes in their relative
interest in the subsidiary. The Group recognizes any difference between the amount of the adjustment to the noncontrolling interest and the fair value of the amount paid or received by owners of the parent company directly in
equity.
c. Functional Currency - The functional and presentational currency of the ENAP Group is the US Dollar. The
functional currency for each entity of the ENAP Group is determined as the currency of the main economic
environment in which it operates. Transactions other than those performed in the entity’s functional currency will be
converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the functional one will be converted again at the year-end exchange rates. Net equity is kept at
the historical exchange rate at the date of its acquisition or contribution. Gains or losses from the conversion will be
included in net income or losses for the year, within other financial items.
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d. Foreign currency translation and indexation - Assets and liabilities denominated in Chilean pesos, in Unidades
de Fomento (UF) and other currencies are translated into US dollars at the closing rates of exchange, as per the
following detail:

Chilean Peso
Argentinian Peso
British Pound
Egyptian Pound
UF
Swiss Franc
EURO

12/31/2014
US$
606.75
8.55
0.64
7.16
0.02
0.99
0.82

12/31/2013
US$
524.61
6.52
0.61
6.94
0.02
0.89
0.72

e. Offsetting balances and transactions – As a general standard, assets and liabilities, income and expenses, are not
offset in the financial statements, except for those cases in which offsetting is required or is allowed by some standard
and the presentation is a reflection of the substance of the transaction.
Income or expenses originating from transactions, which, for contractual or legal reasons, consider the possibility of
offsetting and which the ENAP Group intends to liquidate for their net value or realize the assets and pay the liabilities
simultaneously, are stated net in the statement of income.
f. Foreign currency – Transactions in a currency other than a company’s functional one are considered to be ”foreign
currency” transactions and they are recorded in their functional currency at the exchange rate in effect on the date of
the operation. At each year end, the balance sheet amounts of monetary items in a foreign currency are valued at the
year-end exchange rate, and the exchange rate differences arising from such valuation are recorded in the statements of
comprehensive income, in the item “Exchange differences”.
g. Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, excluding regular
maintenance costs and less accumulated depreciation and value impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes their purchase price plus all costs directly related to the location of
the asset and getting it into an operating condition, as provided by management, and the initial estimate of any cost
involved in dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the physical site where it is located.
Financing interest costs directly attributable to the purchase or construction of assets requiring a substantial period of
time before being ready for use or sale will also be capitalized as a property, plant and equipment cost.
Repair, preservation and maintenance expenses are charged to income for the year in which they occur. Some ENAP
Group property, plant and equipment elements require regular inspections. In this regard, elements subject to
replacement are recognized separately from the rest of the asset, detailed at such a level that they can be depreciated in
the period from the current repair to the next one.
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The exploration operations are recorded in conformity with the standards established in IFRS 6 “Exploration for and
Evaluation of Mineral Resources”.
The Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production operations are recorded in conformity with the successful-efforts
method. The accounting treatment of the various costs incurred under this method is as follows:
i) Costs from the acquisition of new rights or interests in areas with proven or unproven reserves.
ii) Costs involved in acquiring interests in exploration areas are capitalized at purchase cost and amortized with a
charge to income in “Exploration costs”, in accordance with the criterion specified. If no reserves are found, these
previously capitalized expenses are recorded as expenses in the statement of income. If the exploration produces
positive results, leading to a commercially workable discovery, the costs are reclassified in Properties, Plant and
Equipment, at their net book value when so determined. Wells are only classified as commercial, if they are expected
to generate sufficient volume of reserves to justify their commercial development.
iii) The exploration costs, as for example geology and geophysics expenses, costs associated with maintaining
unproven reserves and other exploration-related costs, prior to drilling are charged to income when incurred.
iv) Drilling costs incurred in prospecting campaigns, including stratigraphic test wells, are capitalized and presented
in the item Properties, Plant and Equipment, pending the decision as to whether proven reserves justifying their
commercial development were discovered. If no proven reserves have been found, these initially capitalized costs are
charged to profit or loss.
v) The drilling costs of wells leading to a positive discovery of commercially workable reserves are capitalized and
presented in Property, Plant and Equipment.
vi) Development costs incurred in extracting proven reserves and treating and storing the oil and gas (including the
drilling costs of production wells and developing dry wells, platforms, recovery improvement systems, etc.) are
capitalized and presented in Property, Plant and Equipment.
vii) Costs for the future abandonment and dismantling of oil fields are calculated on a field by field basis and
capitalized at present value. This capitalization is credited to Non-current accruals.
Investments capitalized according to the above criteria are amortized as follows:


Investments involved in the acquisition of proven reserves are amortized over the estimated useful life of the field
indexed to the existing ratio between the year’s production and the field’s proven reserves at the start of the
amortization period.


Investments related to unproven reserves or fields in the process of being evaluated are not amortized. These
investments are analyzed at least once a year, or earlier if there is any indication of impairment, and in case of
impairment, this is recognized and charged to income for the year.


Costs from drillings and subsequent investments made to develop and extract the reserves of hydrocarbons are
amortized over the estimated useful life of the field indexed to the existing ratio between the year’s production and the
field’s proven reserves at the start of the amortization period.
Changes in estimates of reserves are considered in calculating the amortizations on a prospective basis.
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Whenever there is an indication that there might be an impairment of the value of the assets, their recoverable value is
compared to their net book value.
Any impairment or reverse of impairment arising as a result of such a comparison will be recorded and charged or
credited to net income for the year, as appropriate.
h. Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment, except those related to hydrocarbon exploration and production
activities, are depreciated using the straight line method by distributing the acquisition cost of the assets less the
estimated salvage value over the estimated useful life of the assets. The main components of property, plant and
equipment and their useful lives are presented below:
Years of
useful life
Buildings
Plants and equipment:
Plants
Equipment
Computer equipment
Fixed facilities and accesories
Motor vehicles
Improvements to leased assets - buildings
Investments in exploration and production
Other property, plants and equipment

30 and 50
10 and 15
10 and 18
4 and 6
10 and 20
7
10
depletion rate
3 and 20

Property, plant and equipment related to hydrocarbon exploration and production activities are amortized using the
production unit amortization method (depletion rate).
The salvage value and useful life of the fixed assets are reviewed every year and their depreciation begins when the
assets are in a condition to be used.
Land is recorded separately from any buildings or facilities that may be constructed on it, and has an indefinite useful
life; therefore, it is not subject to depreciation.
The ENAP Group considers the existence of a possible impairment of fixed assets, when there is impairment evidence.
Through the method of discounting future flows to a real discount rate before tax, forecasts consider a target date of 5
years plus perpetuity for the R&C line and a target date of 20 years without perpetuity for the E&P line. The last
analysis was performed on December 31, 2014 and it concluded that investments of R&C and E&P lines to not require
adjustments regarding that matter.
i. Investment property - The item “Investment property” includes mainly buildings and land assets that are used for
earning income through leases or an increase in their value when sold.
Investment properties are stated at their acquisition value net of their corresponding depreciation and the impairment
losses that they have experienced. Iinvestment properties, excluding land, are depreciated by distributing the cost of
their components using the straight-line method over their useful life.
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j. Associates or Affiliates – Associates or affiliates are companies in which the ENAP Group can exercise a
significant influence, but not control or a joint control, through the power to participate in decisions on their operating
and financial policies. They are included in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method. In
general, a significant influence is presumed whenever the Group holds more than 20%.
According to the equity method, the investment is recorded initially at cost and is subsequently adjusted by changes in
the net assets of the investee subsequent to acquisition by the investor. The consolidated income or loss from the
period includes the share in the earnings or losses of the investee in the period, recorded under “Share in earnings
(losses) of associates accounted for by the equity method.” Other comprehensive income includes its share in other
comprehensive income of the investee.
Upon acquisition of an investment, the goodwill relating to an associate is not recognized separately, but it is included
in the investment’s book amount, its amortization is not permitted, and it is controlled in the functional currency of the
country of the investment.
When the Group’s share in losses of an associate exceed the investment in that associate, the Group discontinues
recognizing its share in further losses. Further losses are only recognized when the Group incurs legal or constructive
obligations or has made payments in the name of the associate.
Unrealized earnings on transactions between the Group and its affiliates or associates are eliminated on the basis of the
percentage interest of the Group in those affiliates or associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction is evidence of an impairment loss of the asset being transferred. The financial information of associates
and affiliates is adjusted when necessary to ensure uniformity with the policies adopted by the Group.
k. Impairment of other non-financial assets - The policy defined by ENAP is that each time there exists objective
evidence that the book value cannot be recovered, as a result of one or more events occurred after the initial
recognition, then impairment tests are performed.
An impairment loss is recognized for the excess of book value of the assets over its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher between the fair value of an asset less its costs of sale and its value in use.
In order to evaluate the value impairment losses, assets are grouped at the lowest level in which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
This methodology is applied to the following assets:



Properties, plant and equipment related to the operations of refining, logistics, and production and exploration of
hydrocarbons.
Investments accounted for using equity method.

l. Other financial assets – The ENAP Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value
with changes taken to net income, loans and accounts receivable, financial assets held to maturity and financial assets
available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets are acquired and it is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value with changes taken to net income: Financial assets at fair value with changes
taken to net income are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired
mainly with the purpose of selling it in the short-term.
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Loans and accounts receivable: Loans and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
calculable payments, which are not quoted on an active market. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities over 12 months as of the date of the balance sheet that are classified non-current assets. Loans and accounts
receivable include commercial debtors and other accounts receivable.

Financial assets held to maturity: Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or calculable payments and fixed maturities, which the ENAP Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity.
If the Group sells a significant portion of financial assets held to maturity, the complete category would be reclassified
as available for sale. These financial assets are classified under other non-current financial assets, except for those with
a maturity of less than 12 months as of the date of the Statement of Financial Position, which are classified as current
financial assets.

Financial assets available for sale: Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial assets
designated specifically in this category, or not classified in any other category. They are included in non-current assets,
unless the Management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months after the date of the Statement of
Financial Position.
i) Impairment of financial assets: Financial assets, other than those valued at fair value with changes taken to net
income, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the date of each statement of financial position. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected negatively.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The financial investments of the ENAP Group are maintained at institutions with the highest credit
quality and maintained in the short-term, and therefore they do not present at this date any indication of impairment
compared to their book value.
Securities classified as available for sale will have experienced impairment losses, if there has been a significant or
prolonged drop in their fair value below their cost. If there is any such evidence, the cumulative loss on financial
assets available for sale, is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, also any impairment
loss in the value of that financial asset previously recognized in retained earnings must be reversed from equity and
recognized in the statement of income in “other expenses by function.” These impairment losses from equity
instruments recognized in the statement of income, are not reversed.
ii) Valuations at the time of initial recognition and sale: The acquisition and sale of financial assets are recognized on
the negotiation date, that is the date when the ENAP Group promises to acquire or sell the asset. Investments in
financial assets not classified at fair value with changes taken to net income are initially recognized at fair value, plus
transaction costs. Financial assets at fair value with changes taken to net income are initially recognized at their fair
value and the transaction costs are carried to income. Investments are retired from the books when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has substantially
transferred all risks and benefits resulting from holding them.
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iii) Subsequent valuation: Financial assets available for sale and financial assets at the fair value with changes taken to
net income are subsequently recorded at their fair value. Loans and accounts receivable and financial assets held to
maturity are recorded at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Losses and earnings from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value with changes taken to net income
are included in the statement of income under “Other income / loses” in the period in which they occur. Income from
dividends on financial assets at fair value with changes taken to net income are recognized in the statement of income
under “Other income / losses” when the right of the Group to receive the payment is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial investments in debt securities denominated in a foreign currency, classified as
available for sale, are separated into exchange differentials resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the
securities and other changes in the carrying amount. The exchange differentials are recognized in fiscal year income
and other changes in the book amount are recognized in equity and these latter are reflected according to IAS 1
through the statement of other comprehensive income. Exchange differentials in financial investments in equity
instruments held at fair value with changes taken to net income are shown classified as financial assets available for
sale, for the earning or loss at the fair value. The exchange differentials in investments classified as financial assets
available for sale are included in equity, in the corresponding reserve account, and are reflected in the statement of
other comprehensive income.
When a security classified as available for sale is sold or its value becomes impaired, the cumulative adjustments for
fluctuations in the fair value recognized in equity are recognized in the statement of income under “Other income /
losses”
Interest on securities available for sale calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in the statement of
income under “other income by function.” Dividends earned by instruments available for sale are recognized in the
statement of income under “other income by function” when the right of the Group to receive the dividend payment
has been established.
The fair value of traded investments is based on the current purchase price. If the market for a financial asset is not
active (or the instrument is not exchange-traded), the ENAP Group sets the fair value using valuation techniques that
include using reported prices in recent open market transactions, references to other substantially similar instruments,
an analysis of discounted cash flows and option pricing models, with maximum use of market information and
minimum use of specific internal information of the ENAP Group. If no such technique can be used to set the fair
value, the investments are recorded at their acquisition cost, net of any impairment loss, if any.
m. Derivative and hedging financial instruments – The ENAP Group usually holds derivative financial
instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge risks associated with fluctuations in
interest rates and exchange rates. Also Time Spread Swaps (TSS), to cover the risk associated with the time elapsed
between the purchase of crude oil and the sale of its refined products. These are all hedge contracts, and therefore the
changes in fair value of these instruments are recorded in hedge assets and liabilities, as long as the hedging of this
entry has been stated as effective, in accordance with its hedge purpose.
The corresponding income or loss is recognized in net income only when the contracts are liquidated o when they no
longer comply with hedging characteristics.
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Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract
is signed, and they are then marked to market to fair value. The method to recognize the loss or gain depends on
whether the derivative has been designated as a hedge instrument and, if so, the nature of the item that is being hedged.
The ENAP Group currently only has instruments designated as hedges for an actual risk associated with a recognized
liability or an expected highly probable transaction (cash flow hedges).
The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated in reference to other current forward exchange rates of
contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated based on the market
values of similar instruments. The fair value of TSS contracts is calculated taking as a reference the market values of
the Brent marker for the ICE Brent Crude Futures in London.
The total fair value of hedge derivatives is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is higher than 12 months and as a current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
lower than 12 months.

i)

Cash flow hedges: The effective portion of the changes in fair value of derivatives that are assigned and which
qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity through the statement of comprehensive income. The income or
loss related to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the statement of net income.
The amounts accumulated in net equity are reclassified in the statement of income when the hedged item affects net
income (for example, when the hedged forecasted sale occurs or when the hedged flow is executed). However, when
the hedged projected transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example inventories), the gains
or losses previously recognized in net equity are reclassified as part of the initial cost of the asset. Deferred amounts
are finally recognized in the costs of goods sold, in case of inventories.
When a hedge instrument matures or when it is sold, or when it does not comply with the criteria to be recognized as a
hedge, any accumulated loss or gain in net equity to this date stays in the net equity and is recognized when the
expected transaction affects the statement of net income. When a projected transaction is not expected to occur, the
accumulated gain or loss in equity is transferred to the statement of net income.
ii) Embedded derivatives: ENAP assesses the existence of embedded derivatives in contracts of financial instruments
to determine whether their characteristics and risks are strongly related with the host contract, provided that the host
contract is not recorded at fair value. Embedded derivatives are separated from the main contract, which is not valued
at fair value with changes taken to net income, when the analysis shows that the financial characteristics and risks of
the embedded derivatives are not closely related to the main contract.
n. Recognition of revenue - Revenue from sales and services are recognized by the ENAP Group when the relevant
risks and benefits of ownership of the products are transferred to the buyer, and the products are delivered to their
agreed location. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents the
receivable amounts for the rendered services during the ordinary course of operations, net of any discount or related
tax.
The ENAP Group recognizes revenue when it can be reliably measured, and it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group, as described below:
i) Sale of goods: Sales revenues from goods are recognized when the Group has delivered the products to the
customer and when there exists no pending obligation to be complied with which could affect the acceptance of the
products by the customer. The delivery will not occur until the products have been sent to the location indicated by
the buyer, the obsolescence and loss risks have been transferred to the customer, and the customer has accepted that
the products comply with the sales contract, the acceptance period has expired, or when the ENAP Group has
objective evidence that the necessary acceptance criteria have been complied with. Sales are recognized according to
the price established in the sales contract, net of volume discounts and the expected returns at the sales date. It is
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presumed that there exists no significant financing component, as the sales are performed with a reduced average
collection period, which is in line with the normal practices of the market.
ii) Sale of services: Revenues from the sale of services are recognized when they can be reliably estimated and in
accordance with the services actually provided at the closing date of the financial statements.
iii) Income from dividends: Dividends are recognized when the right of the ENAP Group to receive payment is
established.
iv) Interest income: Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method.
v) Deferred income: Deferred income is income received in advance from a signed contract. This income is
amortized using the straight-line method on an accrual basis.
o. Inventories – Raw materials, work in progress, finished goods and materials are valued initially at cost. After
initial recognition, they are valued at the lesser of net realizable value and cost. The ENAP Group uses the first-in
first-out (FIFO) method for all the inventory items, except for materials which are valued using the Weighted Average
Price method.
The net realizable value represents the estimated price of sale at year-end less all estimated finishing costs and costs
that will be incurred in the marketing, selling and distributing processes.
p. Provision for employee benefits – Costs associated with employees’ contractual benefits, related to services
rendered by employees during the year, are charged to income for the respective year. Actuarial gains and losses are
recognized in other actuarial income in Equity reserves.
The obligations recognized for the concept of severance payments arise as a consequence of the collective agreements
signed with the employees of the Group, which states the commitment agreed by the company. The ENAP Group
recognizes the cost of employee benefits according to an actuarial calculation, as required by IAS 19 "Employee
benefits”, which includes variables such as life expectation, salary increases, etc., and an annual discount rate of 5.91%
has been used (6.49% at December 31, 2013).
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense related to the Variable Remunerations System (VRS) that is
applicable to all its executives, with the sole exception of the General Manager. This system is based on the annual net
income of the Company, departmental results and goal accomplishment for each management area. A provision is
recorded when the company is contractual obliged or when an implicit obligation arises.
q. Provisions and contingent liabilities – Provisions are recorded for current, legal or assumed obligations arising as
a result of a past event, whose payment is expected to involve a disbursement of resources and whose amount and time
of payment can be reliably estimated.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events and whose existence can only be confirmed
when one or more uncertain future events occur that are not entirely under the Company’s control ; or a present
obligation arising from past events that has not been accounted for because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and incorporate economic benefits ; or because the amount of the
obligation cannot be reliably measured.
The ENAP Group does not record contingent assets or liabilities, except for those stemming from valuable contracts,
which are recorded as a provision and then reviewed at each balance sheet date and, if necessary, adjusted to reflect
the best estimate at the time.
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r. Income taxes and deferred taxes - The Parent Company and its Chilean subsidiaries determine the tax base and
calculate their income taxes in conformity with the legal provisions in force during each period. In the case of the
foreign subsidiaries, these submit their tax returns individually, in conformity with current tax standards in their
respective countries.
The deferred taxes generated by temporary differences and other events giving rise to differences between the
accounting and tax base of assets and liabilities are recorded in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. Except as
described in the following paragraph, current and deferred income tax is recorded in the income statement unless
related to an item recognized in Other comprehensive income, directly in equity or resulting from a business
combination. In that case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in net income, or with a
credit to goodwill, respectively.
According to the instructions provided by the Chilean Superintendency of Securities and Insurances in circular N° 856
dated October 17, 2014, the effects arising from the change in the income tax rate approved by law 20.780 (Tax
reform) on deferred income taxes, which according to IAS 12 should be recorded in net income for the year, have been
accounted for as Retained Earnings. This caused an increase in deferred assets of ThUS$ 109,495 credited to retained
earnings in Equity. Subsequent changes will be recognized in the income for the period according to IAS 12.
The company does not register deferred taxes on the temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates, provided that the timing in which temporary differences are reversed is controlled by the Company and
the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
Income tax is recorded in the Consolidated Net Income Statement or in the net equity of the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position according to where the profits or losses causing them were recorded. The differences between the
accounting value of assets and liabilities, and their tax base generate the deferred tax assets or liabilities which are
calculated using the tax rates that are expected to be in force when the assets and liabilities are realized.
The variations generated in the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded in the Consolidated Net Income
Statement or directly in the net equity of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position or , as appropriate.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is expected that the Company will have sufficient future tax income to
recover the temporary differences.
s. Other financial liabilities - Loans accruing interest, bonds payable and financial liabilities of a similar nature are
recognized initially at their fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred. Subsequently they are valued at amortized
cost and any difference between the funds obtained (net of necessary costs to obtain them), and the reimbursement
amount, is recognized in the statement of net income throughout the useful life of the financial debt instrument, using
the effective interest rate method.
Financial obligations are classified as current liabilities unless the ENAP Group has the unconditional right to defer its
liquidation for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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t. Financial leases - When the lessor transfers substantially all the inherent risks and advantages of the ownership of
the asset to the lessee. The ownership of the asset may or may be not be transferred, as the case may be. The cost of
leased assets is presented in the consolidated statement of financial position, according to the nature of the asset
referred to in the contract, and, simultaneously, a liability for the same amount is recorded in the statement of financial
position. This amount will be the lesser of the fair value of the leased asset and the sum of the current values of the
amounts to be paid to the lessor plus, if applicable, the price of exercising the purchase option. These assets are
depreciated using similar criteria to those applied to the property, plant and equipment used by the Company itself or
within the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.
Financial expenses arising from the financial liability are charged to “Financial expenses” in the consolidated
statement of net income.
u. Issued capital – Issued capital is contributions and/or capitalized profits, authorized through rulings and/or decrees
issued by the Ministry of Finance, which constitute the legal obligation that gives rise to its registration.
v. Distribution of dividends – The dividend distribution policy used by ENAP is the one established through official
letters and/or decrees issued by the Ministry of Finance, which constitutes the legal obligation that gives rise to its
registration.
w. Environment –ENAP’s accounting policy relating to the recognition of environmental expenses establishes their
capitalization when disbursements are associated with projects, recognizing the other disbursements against net
income.
x. Commercial creditors and other accounts payable - Commercial creditors and other accounts payable are
recognized initially at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost.
y. Cash and cash equivalents – The cash flow statement recognizes cash movements throughout the year, determined
by the direct method. In these cash flow statements the following expressions are used:
 Cash and cash equivalents: The ENAP Group considers liquid financial assets, deposits or liquid financial
investments, which may be easily converted into cash within no more than three months and where the risk of a
change in their value is insignificant, to be cash equivalents.
 Operating activities: these are the activities that constitute the main source of ordinary income of the ENAP
Group, as well as other activities that cannot be classified as investment or financing activities.
“Other payments from operating activities” includes ThUS$ 2,295 for the payment of specific tax on fuel in subsidiary
ENAP Refinerías S.A., for the period between January and December 2014, and ThUS$ 2,458 for to the period
between January and December 2013.
 Investing activities: these correspond to activities of acquisition, sale or disposal through other methods of longterm assets and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.
 Financing activities: these are the activities that cause variations in the composition of the net equity, and of the
financial liabilities.
“Other cash inflows (outflows)” used in financing activities, at December 31, 2014, includes: ThUS$ 150,000 related
to payment of 144 A bond on March 14, 2014 (Note 20 b) iii b.1), offset with the placement of 144 A bond on October
27, 2014 for ThUS$ 600,000 (Note 20 b) iiib.6) and ThUS$ 280,318 at December 31, 2013 related to placement of
national bonds amounting to UF 6 million, in January 2013.
Transactions not representing cash flows:
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On November 17, 2014, subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. recognized an accrued obligation of ThUS$
100,000 debited against Property, plant and equipment, related to the signing of the extension agreement of the
Magallanes Area concession, making a commitment to make future contributions to the Incremental CGU Project with
YPF S.A. At December 31, 2014, the subsidiary has made effective contributions of US$ 8 million (See Note
20.b.ii.(8)).
3.2 New accounting pronouncements
a)

New Regulations and amendments to regulations adopted by the company:

IFRS Amendments

Effective date:

IAS 32, "Financial Instruments: Presentation"- Clarification of requirements for financial assets and liabilities netting: This standard clarifies the
requirements for offsetting financial assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. Specifically, it states that the offsetting right must be
available as at the date of the financial statement and not depend on a future event.

01.01.2014

IAS 27, "Separate Financial Statements", IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and IFRS 12 "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities"- The
modifications include the definition of an investment entity and introduce an exception to consolidate certain subsidiaries owned by investment
entities.

01.01.2014

IAS 36, "Impairment of Assets"- This standard amends the disclosures over the recoverable amount of non-financial assets, aligning them with the
requirements of IFRS 13.

01.01.2014

IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement"- This standard establishes certain conditions the novation of derivatives should meet,
to allow continuing with hedge accounting; this in order to avoid novations that are a consequence of laws and regulations affecting the financial
statements.

01.01.2014

New Standards:
IFRIC 21, Levies, defines a levy as an outflow of resources that involve economic benefits that is imposed by the Government to entities in
accordance with current legislation. IFRIC 21 sets the accounting treatment for a liability to pay a levy if this liability is within the scope of IAS 37.

Effective date:
January 01, 2014.

The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations did not have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

b) New standards, interpretations and amendments issued, which have not yet been adopted but will apply to
future periods are the following:
New IFRS and IAS
IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments"- The main change is that, in the cases where the option of fair value of financial instruments is taken, the part of the
change in fair value attributable to changes in own credit risk is recognized in other comprehensive income rather than income, provided this creates
an accounting asymmetry.

Effective date:
Annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018.

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”. This standard is applicable to entities applying IFRS as first-time adopters, which are involved in activities Annual periods beginning on
with regulated rates, and which recognized amounts on regulatory deferral account balances in their prior GAAP. This standard requires separate
or after January 1, 2016.
presentation in the statement of financial position and the movements in the statement of comprehensive income.

IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers.” This new standard provides a five-step model framework: i) Identify the contract(s) ii) Identify Annual periods beginning on
the obligations iii) Determine the transaction price iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract v) Recognize
or after January 1, 2017.
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
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IFRS Amendments
IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments:" The modifications include as main element a substantial review of the hedge accounting to allow entities to better
reflect in financial statements their risk management activities.
IAS 19, "Employee Benefits"- This amendment applies to third party or employee contributions to the defined benefits plans.

Effective date:
Undetermined

July 01, 2014.

NIIF 11 “Acuerdos Conjuntos”: . Esta enmienda incorpora a la norma una guía en relación a cómo contabilizar la adquisición de una participación en
una operación conjunta que constituye un negocio.

01.01.2016

NIC 16 “Propiedad, Planta y Equipos” y NIC 38 "Activos intangibles": Clarifica que el uso de métodos de amortización de activos basados en los
ingresos no es apropiado, ya que son en general una base inapropiada para medir el consumo de los beneficios económicos que están incorporados
en activo intangible

01.01.2016

NIC 16 “Propiedad, Planta y Equipos” y NIC 41 "Agricultura": Modifica la información financiera en relación a las “plantas portadoras”, como
vides, árboles de caucho y palma de aceite.

01.01.2016

NIC 27 “Estados financieros separados”: Esta modificación permite a las entidades utilizar el método de la participación en el reconocimiento de las
inversiones en subsidiarias, negocios conjuntos y asociadas en sus estados financieros separados. Su aplicación anticipada es permitida.

01.01.2016

NIIF 10 “Estados Financieros Consolidados” y NIC 28 “Inversiones en asociadas y negocios conjuntos”: Aborda una inconsistencia entre los
requerimientos de la NIIF 10 y los de la NIC 28 en el tratamiento de la venta o la aportación de bienes entre un inversor y su asociada o negocio
conjunto.

01.01.2016

NIIF 10 “Estados Financieros Consolidados” y NIC 28 “Inversiones en asociadas y negocios conjuntos”: La enmienda clarifica sobre la aplicación
de la excepción de consolidación para entidades de inversión y sus subsidiarias.

01.01.2016

NIC 1 “Presentación de Estados Financieros”. La enmienda clarifica la guía de aplicación de la NIC 1 sobre materialidad y agregación, presentación
de subtotales, estructura de los estados financieros y divulgación de las políticas contables.

01.01.2016

Improvements to the International Financial Reporting Standards (2011). Issued on December, 2013.
IFRS 2, "Share- based Payment"- The definitions of “Conditions for consolidation (or irrevocability) of the concession” (vesting conditions) and
“Market conditions” are clarified and the “Performance conditions” and “Service conditions” are defined separately.

Effective date:
07.01.2014

IFRS 3, "Business Combination"- The standard is amended to clarify that the obligation of paying a contingent consideration that complies with the
definition of financial instrument is classified as financial liability or as equity, based on the definitions of IAS 32, "Financial instruments:
Presentation".

07.01.2014

IFRS 8, "Operating Segments"- The standard is amended to include the disclosure requirement of judgments made by management in the
aggregation of operating segments.

07.01.2014

IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement" The IASB has changed the basis of the conclusions of IFRS 13 to clarify that they did not have the intention of
eliminating the capability of measuring the short-term accounts receivable and payable at nominal amounts in such cases.

07.01.2014

IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment" and IAS 38, "Intangible Assets"- Both standards are amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and
accumulated depreciation are treated when the entity uses the revaluation model. In these cases, the asset’s carrying amount is restated at the
revalued amount and the division of such revaluation between the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation is treated in one of the
following ways: 1) either the gross carrying amount is restated consistently with the revaluation of the carrying amount and accumulated depreciation
is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and carrying amount after taking into account the accumulated impairment
losses; 2) or the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

07.01.2014

IAS 24, "Related Party Disclosure"- The standard is amended to include, as a linked entity, an entity which delivers services of key management
personnel to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (“the controlling entity”).

07.01.2014
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Improvements to the International Financial Reporting Standards (2013). Issued on December, 2013.
IFRS 1, "First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards"- The standard is amended to include, as a linked entity, an entity which
delivers services of key management personnel to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (“the controlling entity”).

Effective date:
07.01.2014

IFRS 3, "Business Combination"- The standard is amended to clarify that IFRS 3 is not applicable to the accounting for the formation of a joint
arrangement under IFRS 11. The amendment also clarifies that the exemption of the scope in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself
is applied only.

07.01.2014

IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement"- It is clarified that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13, which allows an entity to measure the fair value of a
group of financial assets and liabilities at the net amount, applies to all contracts (including non-financial contracts) within the scope of IAS 39 or
IFRS 9.

07.01.2014

IAS 40, "Investment Properties"- The standard is amended to clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive. IAS 40 provides guidelines
to distinguish between investment property and properties occupied by their owners. Upon preparation of financial information, the guidelines for
application of IFRS 3 must also be taken in consideration to determine whether the acquisition of an investment property is or not a business
combination. The amendment is applicable for years starting on July 1, 2014, but applying the amendment to individual acquisitions of investment
property before that date is possible, if and only if the information necessary to apply the amendment is available.

07.01.2014

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (2014). Issued in September 2014.
IFRS 5, “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations. The amendment clarifies that, when an asset (or group for disposal) is
reclassified from “held for sales” to “held for distribution”, or vice versa, this does not represent any change to a sales or distribution plant, and
should not be accounted for as such.

Effective date:
01.01.2016

IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures”. There are two amendments to IFRS 7. (1) Service contracts: If an entity transfers a financial asset to a
third party in conditions which allow the assignor to dispose of the asset, IFRS 7 requires the disclosure of any type of continuing involvement that
the entity can still have in the transferred assets

01.01.2016

IAS 19, “Employee benefits” – The amendment clarifies that, in determining the discount rate for the post-employment benefit obligations, the
important thing is the currency in which liabilities are denominated, and not the country where they are generated

01.01.2016

IAS 34, “Interim financial information” – The amendment clarifies what is understood by the reference in the standard to “information disclosed
elsewhere in the interim financial information”. The new amendment changes IAS 34 to require a cross reference of the interim financial statements
to the location of that information. The amendment is retrospective.

01.01.2016

The Group’s Management estimate that the adoption of the above Standards, Interpretations and amendments will not
affect the consolidated financial statements.
4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEDGE DEFINITION

During the normal course of its business and financing activities, ENAP is exposed to different financial risks that
could have a significant effect on the economic value of its cash flows and assets and, therefore, on its net income.
The Group has an organization and information systems, managed by Corporate Financial Management, to identify
such risks, calculating their magnitude, proposing mitigating measures to the Board, implementing such measures and
controlling their effectiveness.
A definition of the risks faced by the Company is presented, including their features and value for ENAP, and a
description of the mitigating measures currently being used by the Company, if applicable.
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a) Market risk
This is the possibility that the fluctuations of market variables, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
prices or indices of crude oil and by-products, etc., may cause financial losses due the devaluation of cash flows or
assets or the revaluation of liabilities, as a result of their being denominated in, or indexed to, such variables.
a.1) Interest rate risk – ENAP’s financing structure considers a mixture of sources of funds subject to a fixed rate
(mainly bonds) and variable rate (bilateral loans, syndicated loans, notes payable or forfeiting, short-term bank loans
and suppliers credit).
The portion of financing subject to a variable interest rate, usually consisting of the 3 or 6 month LIBO floating rate
plus a spread, exposes the company to changes in its financial expenses due to fluctuations in the LIBO rate.
ENAP's total financial debt as of December 31, 2014 is summarized in the table below, separating the fixed rate debt
from the floating rate debt:
In millions of US dollars

Fixed Rate

Floating Rate

Total

Current bank debt
Non-current bank debt
Financial lease (Corporate building)
International bonds
Local bonds

153
7
2,118
-

300
516
639

300
669
7
2,118
639

Total

2,278

1,455

3,733

Note: The data in the attached table correspond solely to the principal, not to any accrued interest or other concepts.
The international and local bonds are presented at face value, and not on amortized cost basis as in the balance sheet.
As the interest rate is applied at face value of the bonds, such value allows quantifying adequately the exposure of the
Group at fixed or variable rate, as observed in this section. The local bonds denominated in UF are presented with their
face value equivalent in US$ as of December 31, 2014.
Additionally, there is supplier financing of US$ 286,844 at December 31, 2014 at a monthly average rate of 0.52%
(ThUS$ 829,407 at December 31, 2013 at a monthly average rate of 0.53%).
Risk mitigating instruments:
In order to reduce the variability of its financial expenses, ENAP obtained several hedging instruments for some of the
debt items in the above table.
Interest rate swaps were obtained to swap floating rate of ThUS$ 238,547 of the long-term bank debt to fixed and
cross currency swaps to fix the interest rate and exchange rate of the bond issued in UF and CHF (the notional value
amounts to ThUS$ 860,500).
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Residual risk exposure:
Considering the existence of the hedge instruments indicated above, the net balance of obligations of the Group whose
financing cost is fully subject to fluctuations in the LIBO rate is ThUS$ 1,455,000, which amounts to 39.96% of the
total. As such, a 1% increase in the applicable LIBO rate (quarterly or twice yearly, depending on the type of debt)
would generate an annual increase of about ThUS$ 14,355.
a.2) Exchange rate risk: The functional currency of the ENAP Group is the US dollar. However, there are some
relevant items of the financial statements denominated in local currency (Chilean pesos or UF - inflation index-linked
unit of account), such as sales invoicing and financial obligations, and in Swiss Francs (CHF). These are exposed to
changes in their dollar value as a result of fluctuations in the Chilean peso/USD, UF/USD or CHF/USD parities.
Mitigating measures:
The exposure of the exchange rate variations from invoicing is minimized basically via a product pricing policy, based
on import parity pricing, a mechanism whereby the local sale price for products is recalculated on a weekly basis in
accordance with the current exchange rate.
The main balance sheet items exposed are local bonds (denominated in UF - inflation index-linked unit of account)
and accounts receivable from local sales (denominated in Chilean pesos). ENAP performs hedging operations to
mitigate the exchange rate risks associated with both items.
The capital owed by ENAP’s local bonds as of December 31, 2014 was UF 15.75 million. Based on that amount and
the CLP/USD and CLP/UF parities in effect on that date ($ 606.75 and $ 24,627.10), a change of $50 in the CLP/USD
exchange rate would produce the following effects on the bond’s value measured in dollars :

Exchange rate
Increase $50 ($656.75)
Decrease $50 ($556.75)

Bond valuation ThUS$
48,669
(57,411)

In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has entered into cross-currency swap contracts, whereby the company receives
cash flows in UF from the other parties equal to the cash flows payable to the bond holders and pays them fixed cash
flows in US dollars, thereby being free from the above exchange rate risk.
The balance of accounts receivable from local sales as of December 31, 2014 was ThUS$ 485,941. As such an
increase of CLP $50 in the exchange rate would produce a reduction of ThUS$ 36,996 in the dollar value of the
accounts receivable.
In order to minimize this risk, ENAP has a hedging policy in place, which consists of entering into weekly forward
exchange rate contracts for an amount equivalent to 100% of the estimated sales for the corresponding week and for
terms relating to the estimated collection dates of the respective invoicing.
a.3) Commodities price risk: ENAP’s Downstream business line consists mainly of buying crude oil in the
international markets for refining and the subsequent sale of its by-products in the domestic market, based on import
parity prices.
The refining margin obtained by ENAP is subject to the fluctuation in the international prices of crude oil, of refined
products and the difference between them (international margin or “crack spread”). Considering an average level of
refining of 72 million barrels per year, a variation of USD1/barrel in the crack spread all things being equal, would
have an effect on net income of ThUS$72,000.
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The central strategy of the ENAP Group to confront the risk of a variation in the refining margin is to orient its
investments toward increasing its flexibility in production and the quality of its products. Until now, has not been
signed derivative contracts to set the refining margin, but market price levels are constantly being monitored.
Moreover, due to the time elapsing between the purchase of crude oil and the sale of refined products, ENAP is also
exposed to a time spread or risk that prices at the time of sale of the products are below the price prevailing at the time
of purchase of the crude oil. Earnings or losses for this reason increase the volatility of ENAP’s Group operating
income.
On average, ENAP imports about 6 million barrels of crude oil per month. A drop of USD 1/barrel in the price of the
by-product during the refining inventory cycle has an immediate effect of US$6 million on refining margin.

The hedging policy to mitigate the risk of inventory devaluation (crude oil shipments) consists of entering in timespread swap hedge contracts, which are intended to move the financial pricing window of a crude oil shipment (which
is usually during the days that are near the loading date) and adjust it to the dates when the refined products made from
that crude oil are priced. This will bring inventory costs in line with the prices of the products that will be sold. This
mitigates quite well the time spread to which the company is naturally exposed. This strategy is complemented by
refined product swaps. However, it should be mentioned that these instruments, by their nature and mode of operation,
protect against the fluctuation in the crude oil prices but do not fully ensure the elimination of effects on income as a
result of the volatility in the purchase of raw material.
At this time, Brent crude oil is the most relevant marker in the oil market and has direct effects in the prices of the
products that ENAP uses as a reference to determinate the sales prices of the products that we produce, because these
markets, as its prices, are strongly correlated to the price of this marker. For that reason, when the trading area awards
purchases of crude oil priced on the WTI, a “differential swap” is contracted to financially transfer a WTI position to a
Brent position and thus maintain the standard of optimization that prevailed at the time the purchase of that crude oil
was awarded.
Furthermore, the E&P business Line consists mainly in the exploration and exploitation activities of hydrocarbon
reserves and their sales in the international market. Consequently, its results are directly related with the international
oil and gas prices.
In order to mitigate such risk, ENAP centers its efforts on constant operational improvements in order to maintain a
cost efficient structure. The Company does not systematically use derivatives as a hedging mechanism for the sales of
its own production, although certain specific operations of this kind have been performed.
b) Liquidity risk
This risk arises from the funds required to meet capex commitments and the normal operation of the business, debt
maturities, derivatives settlement etc. The Group has a financial policy with guidelines to manage this risk, consisting
in long-term committed credit facilities and temporary financial investments, for amounts sufficient to meet projected
requirements for a period which relates to the situation and the expectations of the debt and capital markets.
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The Market Risk Management and Financial Transactions Department and the Corporate Finance Department, both
reporting to Financial Management, continuously monitor the Group’s fund requirements.
In addition to the balance sheet balances, the Group has as additional liquidity resources currently available: (i) a
committed credit line for US$ 100 million with Santander Bank, NA (ii) a committed credit line for Ch$ 15,000
million with Banco de Chile and (iii) non-committed credit lines for approx. US$ 1,000 million with different
domestic and foreign banks.
The above mentioned projected requirements include net financial debt maturities, i.e., after financial derivatives. The
table below shows the current financial obligations of ENAP and its affiliates at December 31, 2014:

In millions of U.S. dollars

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Current bank debt
Non-current bank debt
Financial lease, corporate building
International bonds
Local bonds

300
103
2
-

110
2
-

207
2
-

146
1
218
81

300
396

2020
onwards
55
1,600
162

Total

405

112

209

446

744

1,817

48

Total
300
669
7
2,118
639
3,733

For more details on the features and conditions of financial debts and derivatives, see note 20.
The following table shows the capital maturity profile of the remaining financial obligations of the ENAP Group as of
December 31, 2014:
In millions of U.S. dollars

2015

Trade payables
Accouts payable to related entities
Hedging derivatives

729
46
6

Total

781

2016

2017

5
5

15

17

2

2020
onwards
58

15

17

2

58

-

2018

-

2019

-

Total
734
46
98
878

c) Credit risks
This risk refers to the ability of third parties to fulfill their financial obligations towards ENAP. There are three
different categories:
c.1) Financial assets - These are the balances of cash and cash equivalent, time deposits, operations with repurchase
agreements and marketable securities as a whole. ENAP’s ability to recover these funds at maturity depends on the
creditworthiness of the bank in which they are deposited.
In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a financial policy specifying the creditworthiness parameters that must be met
by financial institutions in order to be considered eligible as a depositary of the above products, as well as each
institution’s concentration ceilings.
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c.2) Obligations of counter-parties in derivatives - These are the ENAP market values of current derivative
contracts with banks.
In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a derivative management policy specifying creditworthiness parameters that
must be met by financial institutions in order to be considered eligible as counter-parties to derivative contracts.
c.3) Trade debtors - The risk of uncollectibility of Group trade debtors is significantly low, insofar as nearly all local
sales (>95%) are invoiced to the 4 main fuel distributors or liquefied petroleum gas distributing companies.
Meanwhile, the incorporation of new clients is subject to an analysis of their financial creditworthiness and their
approval by ENAP’s Credit Committee. This committee coordinates the collection actions required, if payments are
delinquent.
As of December 31, 2014, the total exposure of the Group to accounts receivable amounts to ThUS$ 571,166 as
indicated in Note 10.
There are no guarantees for significant amounts to cover such exposure, because as indicated above, almost all sales
correspond to distributing companies of fuel or liquefied petroleum gas, with whom the Group operates based on
credit sales without guarantees. The estimation of the doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2014 amounts to
ThUS$1,282.
Information regarding capital management is included in Note 24.
5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Responsibility for the information and estimates
Senior Management of the ENAP Group is responsible for the information contained in these consolidated financial
statements.
In these consolidated financial statements the Senior Management of the ENAP Group and its consolidated entities
have used estimates to quantify some of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and commitments recorded therein.
Regardless of the fact that these estimates were made with the best information available at the time, they may
possibly need to be revised in future years as a result of future events (upwards or downwards). This would be done
prospectively, as stipulated in IAS 8, by recognizing the effect of the change in the estimate if the review affects this
year only, or in the year of review and future years if the change affects both.
In applying the accounting policies of the ENAP Group, which are described in Note 3, management makes future
estimates and judgments regarding the book values of its assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on past experience and on other factors considered relevant. The results could differ from these
estimates.
Management has made estimates and judgments that have significant effects on the figures presented in the financial
statements. Any changes in assumptions and estimations could have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments made by Management are detailed below:
1. Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment - ENAP Group Management estimates the useful lives that are
used to calculate the respective depreciation charges for its fixed assets. This estimate is based on technical studies
prepared by internal and external experts. Where there are indications which recommend changes in the useful lives of
these assets, it must be done using technical estimates for this purpose. Management will increase the charge for
depreciation when the useful lives are less than the estimate or depreciate or eliminate technically obsolete assets that
are abandoned or sold. The ENAP Group reviews the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment
assets at the end of each annual financial reporting year.

2. Reserves of crude oil and gas - Estimates of reserves of crude oil and gas are an integral part of the ENAP
Group's decision-making process. The volume of reserves of crude oil and gas is used for calculating the depreciation,
using the production unit ratios, and also for evaluating the recoverability of the investment in Upstream assets.
3. Fair value of derivative instruments and other financial instruments - The fair value of the financial
instruments not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The ENAP Group uses its
judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions based mainly on existing market conditions at each
balance sheet date. The assumptions for derivative financial instruments are based on market rates quoted and adjusted
to the specific characteristics of the instrument.
Other financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported,
whenever possible, by observed market prices or rates.
4. Provisions for litigation and other contingencies - The final cost for claims and lawsuits could vary due to
estimates based on different interpretations of the regulations, opinions and final evaluations of the amount of
damages. Therefore, any change in the circumstances involved in this contingency could have a significant effect on
the amount of the contingency provision recorded.
The ENAP Group makes estimates and relies on its judgment when recording costs and stipulating provisions for
environmental remediation and clean-up. These estimates and judgments are based on current information about
expected remediation costs and plans, the timing of disbursements, the interest rate used for discounting future flows,
etc., in order to calculate their fair value. The costs of environmental provisions could differ from the estimates due to
changes in laws and regulations, the discovery and analysis of the conditions at the location, and also changes in cleanup technology. Therefore, any change in the factors or circumstances involved in this provision, and also in the
standards and regulations, could have a significant effect on the provisions recorded for such costs.
5. Calculation of income tax and deferred tax assets – Tax assets and liabilities are reviewed regularly and
balances are adjusted as appropriate. The ENAP Group considers that an adequate provision has been made for future
tax effects, based on facts, circumstances and current tax laws. Also, the assets from accumulated tax losses from
Chilean companies at the date of these consolidated financial statements have been estimated as totally recoverable by
management. However, the tax position might change, creating different results with an impact on the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements.
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6.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

The ENAP Group classifies its financial assets using the following categories: at fair value with changes taken to net
income, financial assets held to maturity, loans and accounts receivable, assets available for sale and hedge
derivatives, as itemized below as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:
December 31, 2014
Financial assets at
fair value with
changes taken to
net income

Investment
held to
maturity

Loans and
accounts
receivable

Financial
assets
available-forsale

Hedge
derivates

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies

153,511
-

-

702,455
30,063

-

210,788
-

Total current assets

153,511

-

732,518

-

210,788

Other financial assets
Rights receivable non-current
Due from related companies non-current

-

35
-

357
15,542
2,435

13,762
-

-

Total non-current assets

-

35

18,334

13,762

-

December 31, 2013
Financial assets at
fair value with
changes taken to
net income
ThUS$

Investment
held to
maturity
ThUS$

Loans and
accounts
receivable
ThUS$

Financial
assets
available-forsale
ThUS$

Hedge
derivates
ThUS$

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies

469,013
-

-

995,817
33,128

-

152
-

Total current assets

469,013

-

1,028,945

-

152

Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies non-current

-

35
-

9,866
18,584
1,916

13,762
-

23,590
-

Total non-current assets

-

35

30,366

13,762

23,590
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7.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 this item is composed of:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Cash
Bank
Mutual Funds
Time deposits
Repurchase agreement

45
119,463
34,003
-

114
278,231
19,067
152,535
19,066

Total

153,511

469,013

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

38,152
51,515
34,409
82
29,353

373,559
63,892
362
82
31,118

153,511

469,013

Detail:

Cash and cash equivalents by currency of origin is as follows:

Detail:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Currency
US$
Ch$
AR$
GBP
EGP

Time deposits expire in a period of less than three months from the date of acquisition and accrue market interest for
this type of investment. Repos are fixed income and correspond to purchase agreements with a resale expiring in less
than 30 days. In cash and cash equivalents there are no cash flows subject to restrictions.
As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 there are no bank overdrafts presented as cash and cash equivalents.
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8.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 the detail of this is as follows:
Current
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Other financial assets
Hedging derivatives
Investment in other companies
Other receivable
Escrow account

(a)
(b)

Total

Non-Current
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

210,788
-

152
-

13,762
357
35

23,590
13,762
9,866
35

210,788

152

14,154

47,253

(a) See detail in Note 20 a).
(b) The detail of investment in other companies at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Details:
Terminales Marítimos Patagónicos S.A.
Electrogas S.A.
Asociación Gremial de Industriales Químicos A.G.

Country
Argentina
Chile
Chile

Ownership
2014
2013
13.79%
15.00%
N/A

13.79%
15.00%
N/A

Total

9.

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

7,664
6,091
7

7,664
6,091
7

13,762

13,762

OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND NON- CURRENT

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 the detail of this is as follows

Details:

Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Prepaid vessel lease
Prepaid expenses of Torquemada Substation
Platinium incorporated in catalyst
Others

3,516
582
875

3,050
582
531

4,556
43,277
857

5,138
43,277
123

Total

4,973

4,163

48,690

48,538
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10.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 this item is composed as follows:

Items

Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Trade debtors
Sundry debtors
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

571,166
83,376
49,195
(1,282)

934,082
40,708
22,309
(1,282)

15
15,527
-

18
18,566
-

Total

702,455

995,817

15,542

18,584

The fair values of trade receivables, sundry debtors and other receivables are their book value.
a) Age of overdue accounts receivable but not impaired
The maturity of non-impaired overdue accounts receivable, is detailed below:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Over 1 day to 5 days
Over 6 days to 30 days
Over 31 days to 60 days
Over 61 days to 90 days
Over 91 days to 1 year
Over 1 year

3,170
5,768
1,496
8,933
38,944
14,709

74,652
18,344
12,403
13,240
4,090
2,343

Total

73,020

125,072

The amounts included in this area bear interest, calculated using the maximum conventional rate published in the
official newspaper.
The average collection period from customers at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is around 20 days for the
R&C business segment, and between 80 and 90 days for the E&P business segment.
b) Allowance for doubtful accounts
The allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Over 1 year

(1,282)

(1,282)

Total

(1,282)

(1,282)
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Considering the creditworthiness of debtors and historical collection performance, the ENAP Group has estimated that
the provision for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, is sufficient.

11.

BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES

The accounts receivable, accounts payable and transactions with related parties are the following:
a) Accounts receivable
Current:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

10,093
11,069
3,183
2,933
874
522
618
771

21,861
969
4,369
2,777
1,363
618
913

US$

-

Tax Number

Company

Country

Relationship

Currency

76.418.940-K
78.335.760-7
0-E
96.762.250-8
96,861,390-1
78.889.940-8
96.971.330-6
81.095.400-0

GNL Chile S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Chile S.A.
Innergy Soluciones Energéticas S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.
Golfo de Guayaquil Petroenap
Compañía de Economía Mixta

Chile
Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated

Ecuador

Affiliated

0-E
Total

258

30,063

33,128

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

2,435

1,524
392

2,435

1,916

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$
29,447
3,601
12,547
404

Non-current:
Tax Number

Company

Country

Relationship

Currency

96.856.650-4
76.418.940-K

Innergy Holding S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.

Chile
Chile

Affiliated
Affiliated

US$
US$

Total

b) Accounts payable
Current:
Tax Number

Company

Country

Relationship

Currency

78.335.760-7
81.095.400-0
76.418.940-K
96.655.490-8

Petropower Energía Ltda.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile) S.A.

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated
Affiliated

US$
US$
US$
US$

32,371
3,367
8,831
391

96.861.390-1

Innergy Soluciones Energeticas S.A.

Chile

US$

493

-

96.856.700-4
96.655.490-8

Innergy Transportes
Oleoducto
TrasandinoS.A
Chile S.A.

Chile

Affiliated
Relationship through a
Parent
Company
Affiliated

US$

208

-

Chile

Relationship through a
Structured Entity

US$

2

-

US$

7

-

US$

497

-

76.030.514-6

SK. Converge S.A.

99.598.300-1

Sigdo Koppers S.A.

Chile

99.515.800-0

SK Inversiones Petroquímicas S.A.

Chile

Total

Relationship through a
Structured Entity
Relationship through a
Structured Entity

46,167

45,999
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The balances and transactions with related parties are adjusted in accordance with Article 89 of Law No.
18,046, which establishes that transactions between investees, between the parent company and its
subsidiaries, and those with a publicly traded company have to be on arm’s length terms, similar to those that
usually prevail in the market, which means, performed under conditions of mutual independence between the
parties.
c) Transactions with related companies
The details of transactions with related companies are as follows:
More significant transactions
Tax Number

Company

Country

76.418.940-K

GNL Chile S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

O-E
78.889.940-8

Primax S.A.
Norgas S.A.

Perú
Chile

Affiliated
Affiliated

78.335.760-7

Petropower Energia Ltda.

Chile

Affiliated

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

76.384.550-8

Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

96.856.650-4

Innergy Holding S.A.

Chile

Relationship

Affiliated

96.856.700-4
76.788.080-4

Innergy transportes S.A.
GNL Quinteros S.A.

Chile

Affiliated
Affiliated

96.655.490-8

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

96.762.250-8

Gasoducto del Pacífico Chile S.A.

Chile

Affiliated

Description of the
transaction

Amount
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Effect
in income
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Purchase of natural gas
Interests received
Sale of products
Sale of products
Dividend accrued
Purchase of services
Distribution of profits

424,400
42
15,076
162
49,808
1,422

276,093
42
200,523
16,887
38,221
555

42
(817)
-

Surplus e insurance
Purchase of services
Sale of services
Dividend received
Purchase of services
Sale of services
Purchase of natural gas
Sale of products
Loan collection
Plant operation
Dividend received
Dividend accrued
Purchase of services
Purchase of services
Dividend accrued
Dividend accrued

7,609
35,088
6
2,474

19,140
25,742
119
2,012
17,465
608
1,553
7,267
2,777

7,609
5

6,353
-

-

2,085
7,483
1,525
1,171
9,915
27
3,073
653
1,348

2,899
355

2,506

42
1,649
542
19,140
75
(26)
2,604

-

d) Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The details of the remuneration of the Board of Directors are as follows:

Name
Curre nt me mbe rs of the Board
Máximo Pacheco Matte
Eduardo Bitrán Colodro
Fernando Ramirez Pendibene
Fernán Gazmuri Plaza
Ramón Jara Araya
Jorge Fierro Andrade
Fidel Miranda Bravo
Sub-total

Tax Numbe r

Position

6.371.887-4
7.950.535-8
7.876.527-5
4.461.192-9
5.899.198-8
9.925.434-3
6.923.830-0

President
Vice president
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

12.31.2014
ThUS$
-

12.31.2013
ThUS$

16
9

10
4
14
-

46

28

16
5
-
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Forme r me mbe rs of the Board
Jorge Bande Bruck
Carlos Díaz Vergara
Felipe Morandé Lavín
Jorge Bunster Betteley
Hernán Cheyre Valenzuela
Rodolfo Krause Lubascher

5.899.738-2
7.033.701-0
7.246.745-0
6.066.143-k
6.375.408-0
4.643.327-0

Director
Director
Director
President
Vice president
Director

11
5
4
-

13
14
8

Sub-total

20

35

Total

66

63

Board compensation bears no relationship to the Company’s performance.
Key management personnel
The executive area’s gross remuneration, paid during 2014, amounts to ThUS$ 2,686 and takes into account the main
executive positions of ENAP Group; the gross remuneration paid during 2013, amounted to ThUS$3,183. The
positions considered in the reported amounts are those executives who have authority and responsibility to plan, direct
and control the entity activities.
The company has no accrued obligations for the Main Executives under the concept of long and short-term benefits
and share-based payments.
Incentive plans for executives
ENAP has a Variable Remunerations System (VRS) that is applicable to all its executives, with the sole exception of
the General Manager, and at the end of each year it provisions an estimate of such disbursement during the first
quarter of the following year.
The purpose of this system is to encourage them to add value to the company, improve teamwork and individual
performance.
The incentive factors considered in this model are the following:
-

The financial results obtained by the company.

-

The results per area, including the goals achieved for each management area.

-

Individual performance results.
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12.

INVENTORIES

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 this item was composed as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Crude oil in inventories
Crude oil in transit
Finished products
Products in transit
Material in warehouse and in transit

208,053
12,022
407,218
40,968
72,540

474,652
118,815
579,073
62,314
65,748

Total

740,801

1,300,602

Detail:

Additional Inventory Information
Write-downs of inventory amounts to net realisable value.
Inventory costs recognized as expense during the year

12.31.2014
ThUS$
(194,595)
(9,754,552)

12.31.2013
ThUS$
(10,357,345)

(1) At December 31, 2014, management has estimated that the cost of inventories of crude oil and finished products
exceeds its net realizable value by ThUS$ 194,595, as a result of the decrease in their price on the international market.
The decrease in the inventories’ value, charged to cost of sales, was fully offset with the effects of the cash flow
hedges taken by the company for that purpose. See Note 28.

13.

a)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX

Current tax assets and liabilities

The detail as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

VAT fiscal credit (remanent)
Recoverable tax, foreign
Specific tax on fuel
Customs duties
Other taxes

62,166
2,806
2,393
11,510
2,856

17,529
5,653
6,136

Total

81,731

29,318

Current tax assets:
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12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Curre nt tax liabilitie s:
Specific tax on fuel
Other foreign taxes
Withholding taxes
Royalties and exploitation rights
Income tax payable
Other taxes

56,448
7,201
3,674
30,886
305

78,792
27,915
2,495
6,276
1,201

Total

98,514

116,679

b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The origin of the deferred taxes recorded as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Related to tax losses
Related to net realisable value of inventories
Related to financial lease
Related to reserves for cash flow hedges
Related to property, plant and equipment
Related to provisions
Related to other

586,209
45,724
4,408
9,076
41,708
66,803
7,408

433,748
5,568
14,385
30,769
68,740
7,260

Total

761,336

560,470

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Asse ts for de fe rre d taxe s:

Liabilities for deferred taxes:
Related to assets in leasing
Related to depreciations
Related to obligations for severance benefits
Related to deferred expenses
Related to other
Total

2,312
61,453
6,821
29,379
29,288

8,244
51,726
8,282
26,084
30,036

129,253

124,372
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12.31.2014
ThUS$
Move me nts in liabilitie s for de fe rre d taxe s (pre se ntation):
Amount recognized in profit (loss) for the year
Amount recognized in retained earnings
Reversion of opening balances, merged company Etalsa S.A.
Amount recognized in other comprehensive income
Amount in other items

12.31.2013
ThUS$

86,351
109,495
(3,456)
(2,616)
6,211

3,818
(20,011)
(3,589)
I

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities,

c)

195,985

(19,782)

Current tax expenses

All companies of the ENAP Group individually submit their tax returns, in compliance with the tax laws in
their countries.
The tax and deferred tax income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is
the following:

(Expense) income for income taxes:
(Expense) income - current tax
Adjustments to current tax from prior period
Other (expense) income for current taxes

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

(42,574)
44,613

(31,858)
(1,351)
(44,875)

2,039

(78,084)

Deferred (expense) income for taxes related to the creation and reversal of
temporary differences

85,288

3,818

(Expense) income for deferred taxes, net, total

85,288

3,818

(Expense) income for income taxes

87,327

(74,266)

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

(Expense) income for current taxes, net, total

(Expense) income for deferred and income taxes by source
(Expense) income for current taxes, net, foreign
(Expense) income for current taxes, net, national
(Expense) income for current taxes, net, total

(31,467)
33,506

(21,024)
(57,060)

2,039

(78,084)
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(Expense) income for deferred taxes, net foreign
(Expense) income for deferred taxes, net, national
(Expense) income for deferred taxes, net, total
d)

12.31.2014
ThUS$
7,558
77,730
85,288

12.31.2013
ThUS$
(12,076)
15,894
3,818

Reconciliation of the income tax rate

The reconciliation from the statutory tax rate in Chile to the effective tax rate applicable to the ENAP Group
is as follows:

(Expense) income for taxes using the legal rate
Tax effects of rates in other jurisdictions
Tax effect of ordinary income, not taxable
Tax effect of expenses, not deductible from taxes
Reversal of tax effect of prior years
Tax decree Law N°2398
Other increase (decrease) in charge for legal taxes
Adjustment to tax expenses using the legal rate, total
(Expense) income for taxes using the effective rate

12.31.2014
ThUS$
(14,708)
11,740
(4,875)
5,484
83,012
6,674
102,035
87,327

12.31.2013
ThUS$
(41,653)
10,974
9,192
(7,564)
(1,351)
(12,727)
(31,137)
(32,613)
(74,266)

Additional information:
Legal rate used in Chile is 21% in 2014 and 20% in 2013, which is the legal income tax rate in Chile. Tax rates for
other jurisdictions are: Argentina, 35% both years; Ecuador, 22% both years;, since the Uruguayan subsidiary is not
operating in that country, it is subject to a special regime without tax; Egypt, the joint operation agreement with EGPC
grants a special regime without tax for ENAP.
By Ordinary Official Letter N° 1,292 dated June 15, 2012, the Financial Ministry resolved to authorize a policy of
profit distribution in order to contribute to the company’s stability and strengthen equity, in the following terms:
Authorize the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize the net income for 2010, 2011 and 2012ENAP, according to
the audited financial statements. As a result, the Company reversed the provisions for 2010, 2011 and 2012 for special
taxes associated with accrued dividends from the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A.
Tax Reform in Chile
As mentioned in Note 3, law N° 20.780 was published on September 29, 2014 “Tax Reform that changes income tax
system and introduces several adjustments in the tax system”.
Among the main changes, the law distinguishes two taxation systems: attributed income regime and partially
integrated regime. Taxpayers may freely choose either of these regimes to calculate and pay taxes, remaining in that
regime for a minimum term of 5 years.
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In addition, a progressive increase in the corporate income tax rate was introduced for the fiscal years 2014, 2015 and
2016, increasing the rate to 21%, 22.5% and 24% respectively. From 2017 onwards, the increase in this tax rate will
depend on the regime chosen by the taxpayer, i.e., if the attributed income regime has been chosen, the rate will be
25% from 2017 onwards; and if the partially integrated regime has been chosen, the rate will be 25.5% in 2017 and
27% from 2018 onwards. Additionally, the ENAP parentwill suffer an increase of 40% in the single tax rate, due to the
application of law 2.398.
In relation to deferred tax, the provisions of circular N° 856 of the SVS dated October 17, 2014 were considered.
These provisions state that movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities that result directly from the increase in
corporate income tax rates introduced by law N° 20.780 will be accounted for in the corresponding year against equity.
Regarding other increases (decreases) made to the legal tax rate, these are permanent differences for the year, arising
mainly from the accrued income in subsidiaries and related entities and associates, and to ENAP´s single tax rate
mentioned above.
The taxes for foreign companies are calculated according to the tax rates in their corresponding jurisdictions.

e) Results and tax rates
12.31.2014
Subtotal
Total
ThUS$
ThUS$
Income (loss) before taxes
Current taxes
Income tax
Deferred tax
Foreign tax

12.31.2013
Subtotal
Total
ThUS$
ThUS$

69,271

208,267

4,315

(61,539)

(1,399)
37,181
(31,467)

(10,813)
(27,281)
(23,445)

Income (loss) after current taxes

73,586

146,728

Tax - decree Law N°2398
Income tax (40%)
Deferred tax (40%)

83,012

(12,727)

Net income (loss)
Non - Controlling Interes
Net income (loss)

36,666
46,346

(44,866)
32,139
156,598

134,001

1,661

1,583

154,937

132,418
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14.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Below is a description of the investments accounted for using the equity method and their movement as of December
31, 2014 and 2013.
a) Detail of the investments

Companies
A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltd.
Geotermica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap Cía. de E.
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.

Main Activity
Investment and financing in general.
Production of biomasses and their transformation into biofuels.
Exploration and exploitation projects related to oil, gas and derivatives.
Exploration and exploitation of geothermal energy.
Biodiesel production and comercialization.
Transport natural gas .
Transport natural gas .
Investing and financing in general.
Exploration and exploitation of geothermal energy.
Storage, processing and regasification capacities of liquid natural gas.
Operation and maintenance of a LNG regasification terminal.
Execution of activities in all and any of its phases of the oil industry.
Exploit and operate all kinds of transport networks of natural gas.
Import, export and purchase of LPG and its sale.
Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and Chile.
Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and Chile.
Generation of energy and processing of fuels.
Transport fuels and their derivatives.

Country
I.Cayman
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
I.Cayman
Chile
Chile
Chile
Ecuador
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile

Currency
USD
CLP
CLP
CLP
CLP
USD
USD
USD
CLP
USD
USD
USD
USD
CLP
USD
CLP
USD
USD

Ownership
Percentage
2014 2013
%
%
36.25 36.25
47.41 47.41
40.00 40.00
49.00 49.00
40.00 40.00
25.00 25.00
22.80 22.80
22.80 22.80
48.60 48.60
33.33 33.33
20.00 20.00
40.00 40.00
25.00 25.00
42.00 42.00
35.79 35.79
35.83 35.83
15.00 15.00
10.06 10.06

b) Movement of investments
December 31, 2014

Companies

A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera
S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltda.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap
Economía mixta
Mixta
Compañía de economía
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Total

Opening
balance
01.01.2014
ThUS$
152

Addition
ThUS$

Equity in
earnings
(loss)
ThUS$

ThUS$

(1,596)
(13,915)

10
2,164
3,230
2,701
3,763
17,351
15,245

-

2,045
(150)
(52)
308
1,710
3,549

(162)
(653)
(3,822)
(3,327)

(423)
(2,126)

(3,684)
(1,444)

10
4,553
2,426
2,649
3,418
11,555
11,897

117,028

-

(23,475)

(2,605)

17,289

126,922

18,685

-

Final
balance
12.31.2014
ThUS$

3,888
552
(417)
1,929
6,216

-

-

Other Increase
(Decrease)

322
2,411
191
1
9,160
1
50,133
1,065
9,128

88
(2)
(979)

-

Transalation
Difference
ThUS$

-

-

-

Dividends
received
ThUS$

(12)
(44)
-

(75)
(26)
(1,355)
23,598
344
(69)

152
1
276
1,432
165
2,534
8,116
1
49,716
2,994
25,027
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December 31, 2013

Companies

A&C Pipeline Holding
Biocomsa S.A.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera
S.A.
Empresa
Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltda.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Golfo Guayaquil Petroenap
Compañía de Economía Mixta
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Primax Holding S.A.
Primax S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Total

Opening
balance
01.01.2013
ThUS$

Addition
ThUS$

152
125
351
3,988
278
1
8,882
1
51,441
787
1

-

10
411
3,952
2,722
3,922
22,845
12,073
91,582
16,663
3,142
223,329

Equity in
earnings
(loss)
ThUS$

Transalation
Difference
ThUS$

ThUS$

-

1,753
170
(21)
183
4,779
14,851
3,885
(1,508)

(571)
(355)
(557)
(3,701)
-

(321)
(17,498)
(1,602)
(53)

13
(9,716)
(12,073)
(88,935)
(1,581)

10
2,164
3,230
2,701
3,763
17,351
15,245
-

30,092

(11,537)

(19,484)

(105,620)

117,028

194

248

(31)
21
-

(179)
143
1,190
(47)
5,565

Final
balance
12.31.2013
ThUS$

2
(1,577)
(445)
(1,190)
278
(1,261)
278
9,915

-

-

Other Increase
(Decrease)

(6,353)

54

-

Dividends
received
ThUS$

-

152
322
2,411
191
1
9,160
1
50,133
1,065
9,128

c) Additional information on investments accounted by the equity method.
Fair Value
None of the investments accounted by the equity method is traded publicly, so the fair value is not disclosed.
Interest below 20% in Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A., Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A. and Petropower
Energía Ltda.
The ENAP Group exercises a significant influence in Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. and Sociedad Nacional
Marítima S.A. even though it holds less than 20%. The reason is the relatively important transactions between the
investor and the investee. It also is involved in commercial and financial decisions. The same situation is observed in
Petropower Energía Ltda. where the interest is below 20%; however, the ENAP Group has a significant influence over
this investment given the existing comercial contracts and agreements.
Investmensts in ThUS$1
The interests in Biocomsa S.A. and Gasoducto del Pacífico Cayman Ltda. are shown at ThUS$1 since they had
negative equity on the closing date.
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Changes and/or modification in share in associates
At the year ended December 31, 2014, there have been no changes or modifications to the ownership percentages.
At the year ended December 31, 2013; the following capital contributions were made:
In Biocomsa S.A., on September 10, 2013, the Group increased its shareholding to 47.41%, through a ENAP
Refinerías S.A.’s contribution and the failure of the rest of the shareholders to subscribe this capital increase.
In Fornergy, on July 31, 2013 there was a capital contribution of ThUS$ 194 for 400 shares, maintaining the
shareholding.
On November 15, 2013 Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A. was sold for ThUS$ 18, resulting in a loss on the sale of
ThUS$1,066.
On December 23, 2013, the parent company ENAP’s board, completed a sales transaction with Romero Trading S.A.
for the subsidiary Manu Peru Holding S.A. and the indirect shareholding of its respective associates, 49% of Primax
Holding S.A. and 49% of Primax S.A. The transaction was agreed at ThUS$ 255,168, creating a profit of ThUS$
110,665, presented in Note 32 Other profits (losses).

d) Detail of financial information
The summary of the financial statements of the investees with significant influence is as follows

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Total current assets
Total non-current assets

476,725
1,561,512

530,605
1,697,506

Total assets

2,038,237

2,228,111

Statements of financial position

12.31.2014

12.31.2013

Statements of comprehensive
income

ThUS$

ThUS$

Total income
Total expenses

1,347,409
(1,232,753)

1,552,141
(1,433,863)

114,656

118,278

Net income

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total equity

299,621
1,215,877
522,739

394,086
1,340,039
493,986

Total equity and liabilities

2,038,237

2,228,111
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15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes in property, plant and equipment items as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are
presented below:

Current year

Land
ThUS$

Buildings,
Net
ThUS$

Plant and
Equipment,
Net
ThUS$

Installations
ThUS$

Investment in
Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

Works in
Progress
ThUS$

Other
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Initial balance at 01.01.2014
Additions
Exploratory dry holes and exploratory campaigns
Withdrawals and write-offs
Depreciation expenses
Geological studies and unabsorbed costs
Transfer
Other increases (decreases)
Change, Total

230,342
-

13,032
59
(1,409)
(1,350)

1,291,790
33,722
(315)
(185,388)
62,403
(89,578)

50,200
1,763
(5,600)
3,954
117

117,997
64,603
(222)
(38,817)
25,564

750,112
399,823
(13,072)
(168,490)
(7,107)
(3,815)
(13,357)
193,982

183,781
25,294
(148)
(11,677)
(23,725)
(2,567)
(12,823)

2,637,254
525,264
(13,072)
(685)
(372,564)
(7,107)
(15,924)
115,912

Ending Balance at 12.31.2014

230,342

11,682

1,202,212

50,317

143,561

944,094

170,958

2,753,166

Buildings,
Net
ThUS$

Plant and
Equipment,
Net
ThUS$

228,810
1,531

13,782
701

1,196,511
86,301

28,019
6,319

267,266
40,249

710,218
264,498

167,189
56,942

2,611,795
456,541

1
1,532

(1,451)
(750)

(378)
(175,112)
185,046
(578)
95,279

(3,637)
19,499
22,181

(189,518)
(149,269)

(52,606)
(1,656)
(142,705)
(23,253)
(4,384)
39,894

(8,388)
(15,028)
(16,934)
16,592

(52,606)
(2,034)
(331,293)
(23,253)
(21,896)
25,459

230,342

13,032

1,291,790

50,200

117,997

750,112

183,781

2,637,254

Prior Year

Initial balance at 01.01.2013
Additions
Abandonment exploratory dry holes
Withdrawals and write-offs
Depreciation expenses
Geological studies and unabsorbed costs
Transfer
Other increases (decreases)
Change, Total
Ending Balance at 12.31.2013

Land
ThUS$

Installations
ThUS$

Investment in
Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

Works in
Progress
ThUS$

Other
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

The balances of the items as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are presented below:
Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross
Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration and Production
Others
Total

12.31.2014
ThUS$
230,342
68,144
2,891,375
113,766
143,561
3,921,230
276,898

12.31.2013
ThUS$
230,342
68,085
2,795,565
108,049
117,997
3,558,759
278,561

7,645,316

7,157,358
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Property, Plant and Equipment, Acumulated Depreciation
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Investment in Exploration and Production
Others
Total

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Fixed Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration and Production
Others
Total

12.31.2014
ThUS$
56,462
1,689,163
63,449
2,977,137
105,939

12.31.2013
ThUS$
55,053
1,503,775
57,849
2,808,647
94,780

4,892,150

4,520,104

12.31.2014
ThUS$
230,342
11,682
1,202,212
50,317
143,561
944,093
170,959

12.31.2013
ThUS$
230,342
13,032
1,291,790
50,200
117,997
750,112
183,781

2,753,166

2,637,254

No assets included in property, plant and equipment have been encumbered, whether by mortgage or as pledge.
Additional information
a) Works in progress: As of December 31, 2014, works in progress are mainly: plant refurbishing works, for heavy
crude oil refining in the Bio Bio refinery, standstill of refinery plants in Aconcagua and Biobio, in addition to
maintenance of tanks and ducts.
b) Leased assets: The following assets acquired under financial leases are presented in Other Property, Plant and
Equipment:
Corporate offices acquired under a financial leasing that included purchase option with Banco Santander Chile, the net
value is ThUS$ 13,418 and as of December 31, 2014 and ThUS$ 13,741 as of December 31, 2013. Payments are
made on a monthly basis and the contract terminates in August 2018.
c) Decommissioning, withdrawal or restoration costs: As part of its fixed asset costs the Group has included
decommissioning costs of platforms and oil fields, for a net amount as of December 31, 2014 of ThUS$27,041 and
December 31, 2013 of ThUS$ 23,181.
d) Interest compounding: ENAP Group has not capitalized interest during the year ended on December 31, 2014;
during 2013 interest of ThUS$738 related to several projects was capitalized, with an applied interest rate of 3.56%.
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e) Insurance: The Group has insurance policies to cover any potential risks to property, plant and equipment, as well
as any potential claims that could be filed in connection with their use. These insurance policies are sufficient to cover
any pertinent risks. Additionally, the benefit loss that might occur as a consequence of a business interruption is
covered
f) Depreciation cost: The charge to income for depreciation included in exploitation costs, distribution costs and
administrative expenses is as follows:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

In cost of sales
In distribution cost
In administrative expenses

365,537
4,953
2,074

326,205
2,441
2,647

Total

372,564

331,293

g) Investment in exploration and production
The balances of investments in exploration and production through its direct subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, are as follows:

Joint Ventures

Ownership
percentage
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Net amount of the
investment, before
impairment losses
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Less:
impairment losses
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Net amount of the
investment in
joint ventures
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (*)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (*)
Cam 2A Sur (*)
East Rast Qattara (*)

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.50

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.50

186,027
93,487
106
30,283

79,146
88,658
130
27,061

-

-

b. Exploration
Bloque 2 - Rommana (*)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (*)
Bloque Mehr (*)

40.00
30.00
33.00

40.00
30.00
33.00

8,668
27,262

8,447
27,262

8,447
27,262

8,447
27,262

221
-

345,833

230,704

35,709

35,709

310,124

Total

Other Business

Pampa el Castillo (*)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (*)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (*)
Intracampos (*)
Total

Net amount of the
investment, before
impairment losses
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Less:
Impairment losses
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

186,027
93,487
106
30,283

79,146
88,658
130
27,061
194,995

Net amount
of the investment
in other business
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

98,667
36,799
73,936
16,840

143,669
27,694
89,623
4,061

-

-

98,667
36,799
73,936
16,840

143,669
27,694
89,623
4,061

226,242

265,047

-

-

226,242

265,047

Additionally ThUS$ 391,452 as of December 31, 2014 and ThUS$ 290,334 as of December 31, 2013 are investments
in exploration and production by ENAP in the Magallanes Region that include the geographic zones named as Costa
Afuera, Continent and Island.
(*) Note 17 and 18 explain and provide the status of each of these projects.
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16.

i)

IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND PROVISIONS

Asset Impairment

During 2014 and 2013 the Company has not recognized any asset impairment.
ii) Mehr Block Provisions
Exploration and Production Investments include a reduction registered in connection with the Mehr Block.
OMV is operator of the Mehr Block and represents the consortium of Repsol and ENAP Sipetrol S.A., through its
subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A. OMV delivered a letter addressed to the Exploration Director of the National
Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) on January 24, 2009, reporting that a unanimous decision had been made not to continue
with negotiations to develop the Band-e-Karkheh field. This decision is due to the fact that it has not been possible to
reach an agreement with NIOC regarding the Development Plan needed to exploit this discovery made by the
consortium.
Considering that contractual obligations were fulfilled, the consortium informed NIOC that it would be activating the
clause entitling it to recover exploration expenses and the remuneration fee, according to the terms stipulated in the
Exploration Services Contract signed by the consortium and NIOC.
Nevertheless, and taking into account management’s judgment and analysis, the ENAP Group, created a provision for
the investment of ThUS$ 27,262, in December 2008, which is presented as net of the investment.
On October 21, 2010, the NIOC informed the operator of the block (OMV) of their acceptance of the exploration costs
incurred by the consortium.
The consortium is currently arranging with the NIOC the refund of the exploration costs incurred, as well as the
payment of a fee for the exploration services.
iii) Abandonment of dry exploratory wells with no commercially exploitable reserves
Exploration and Production Investments within property, plant and equipment, shows decreases as of December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013 due to the abandonment of dry exploratory wells with no commercially exploitable
reserves. They are itemized below:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Exploratory dry holes and exploratory campaigns

13,072

52,606

Total

13,072

52,606

The charges mentioned above are included in the statements of comprehensive income under the section “other
expenses by function”.
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17.

PARTICIPATION IN JOINT VENTURES

Detail of the main joint exploitation and exploration operations through which revenues are obtained and expenses are
incurred, is presented below.
a) Exploitation
(a) Magallanes area
On January 4, 1991, Sociedad Internacional Petrolera Sociedad Anónima (which has now become ENAP Sipetrol
Argentina S.A. after several transformations) and Yacimientos Petrolíferos Fiscales Sociedad del Estado (which has
now become YPF S.A. after several transformations)entered into a Temporary Company Union (TCU, similar to a
joint operation) contract, for hydrocarbon development and drilling activities in the Magellan Block Area, located in
the eastern mouth of the Magellan Strait, Argentina.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., as operator of this contract, is responsible for performing all operations and activities
in this area.
On November 17, 2014, the Company, represented by its General Manager and by YPF’s president and CEO, signed
an agreement to extend the Temporary Company Union (TCU, similar to a joint operation) contract, that both
companies share in equal parts in the Magallanes area in the south of Argentina. This agreement extends the
amortization term of the proven reserves.
(b) Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido
In December 2000, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. (later ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A.) signed an agreement with YPF S.A.
whereby the latter assigns and transfers to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 50% of the concession that YPF S.A. holds
for exploiting hydrocarbons in the areas known as Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido in the province of Chubut,
Argentina, which is subject to Law 24,145 and its regulations. YPF S.A. operates this concession.
On November 17, 2014, YPF S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. signed an extensionagreement until through to
2042.
(c) Cam 2A Sur
Regulatory decision 14 dated January 29, 1999, awarded YPF and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. the right to explore
the area known as CAM 2A Sur. On October 7, 2002, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. entered into a
Temporary Company Union (TCU, similar to a joint operation) in the Tierra del Fuego Province.
The exploitation concession’s term is 25 years (expires in 2028), which can be extended for an additional period of 10
years.
(d) East Rast Qattara
As part of the bidding process opened in 2002 by the Egyptian General Petroleum Company (EGPC) for tenders to be
submitted for various blocks in the Western Desert, the East Rast Qattara block was awarded to the subsidiary Sipetrol
International S.A., together with the Australian company Oil Search Ltd., on April 16, 2003.
The contract was signed on March 30, 2004 in the presence of the Egyptian Oil Ministry, with an ownership interest of
50.5% for Sipetrol International S.A., Egyptian branch, as the operator, and 49.5% for Oil Search Ltd.
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During December 2007 the exploitation stage began and in August 2008 the Australian company Oil Search Limited
sold its entire stake to Kuwait Energy Company.
b) Exploration
(a) E2 (Formerly CAM 3 and CAM 1)
The CAM-1 (Cuenca Austral Marina 1) area was awarded on September 4, 2003 to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and
Repsol-YPF S.A. by the Energy Secretariat of the Ministry of Federal Planning, Public Investments and Services, who
accepted the tender submitted by the companies during the International Public Bidding process for this project.
The area is located in the Atlantic Ocean in southern Argentina and is adjacent to other concessions where ENAP
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. is currently exploring and producing hydrocarbons.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF have formed a Temporary Company Union (TCU, similar to a joint operation)
to carry out hydrocarbon explorations in this area and exploit it commercially, if oil is found.
In October, 2005, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. was informed by the Energy Secretariat that the CAM-1 exploitation
area would be registered to ENARSA (a State-owned company). This was based on the fact that the area had been
awarded to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. in 2003 by the Energy Secretariat, but approval by
administrative decree issued by the Executive was pending.
On September 26, 2006, ENARSA, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. signed a joint operation agreement,
whereby the parties agreed to enter into a Temporary Company Union with each party holding a 33.33% interest.
ENARSA, as the owner of CAM 1 (hereinafter E2), contributed this block, and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., jointly
with YPF S.A., contributed the CAM 3 block. ENAP Sipetrol and Repsol YPF expressly reversed CAM-3 to the
Energy Secretariat, so that the latter could then award it to the new the consortium.
Within the framework of the agreement signed between ENARSA, YPF S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. for
the joint exploration, development and possible exploitation of the new E2 area, the Energy Secretariat accepted the
transfer of the CAM-3 area to ENARSA, which, together with the former CAM-1 area, now make up the E2 area that
is the subject of the agreement. Likewise, the Energy Secretariat accepted offsetting the promised investments
pending in the CAM-3 area with the promise to drill a second exploration well in the new E2 area.
On March 31, 2008, the parties signed the E2 Area Hydrocarbon Exploration and Exploitation Temporary Company
Union (TCU, similar to a joint operation), with the purpose of regulating the rights and obligations of ENAP Sipetrol
Argentina S.A., YPF S.A. and Energía Argentina S.A. (ENARSA) as partners and co-participants in exploring and
exploiting the E2 area. This TCU was registered on April 17, 2008 with the Corporate Records Office under number
63, Book 2 of the Joint Operation Company Contracts. The exploration permit finishes its third period in 2018, which
can be extended for an additional period of 5 years.
(b) Block Mehr - Iran
Through its subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A., ENAP Sipetrol S.A. holds a 33% interest in the Mehr Block, in
partnership with Repsol YPF and OMV, with the latter operating the concession..
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On June 30, 2007, the NIOC (National Iranian Oil Company) declared the Block to be commercially viable, thereby
launching negotiations for a development plan for the area and the respective development contract. In December,
2008, since it was not economically viable for the companies composing the consortium (Sipetrol, OMV and Repsol),
a unanimous decision was made in December 2008 to withdraw from the negotiation process, reserving the right to
demand reimbursements of expenses incurred in the exploration stage and a fee for services rendered, as stipulated in
the exploration services contract.
As mentioned in Note 16 ii), the investment in Mehr Block is held with a 100% provision.
The assets and liabilities of each of the joint operations are detailed below:

Joint ventures

Current assets
in joint ventures
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current assets in
joint ventures
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Current liabilities
in joint ventures
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current liabilities
in joint ventures
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)

32,204
19,036
138
42,983

15,866
29,341
277
71,862

189,369
96,542
241
28,834

80,232
90,334
189
29,054

47,838
34,776
1,921
6,873

26,375
35,434
1,826
30,696

105,649
27,049
8,581
-

20,870
37,397
8,532
-

29
129
-

75
226
-

9
221
-

8
238
-

558
109
234
-

1,082
209
235
-

31
-

37
26,229
-

94,519

117,647

315,216

200,055

92,309

95,857

141,310

93,065

b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
Bloque 2 - Rommana ( c)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (d)
Bloque Mehr ( e)
Total

The amounts specified below detail the ordinary revenue, costs of sales and net income (loss) of each of the joint
operations.

joint ventures

Ordinary Revenue
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Cost of sales
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Net income (loss)
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)

128,025
91,828
310
129,342

120,600
93,660
119,032

71,985
69,572
2,532
28,735

82,231
48,425
6,829
25,222

28,903
10,201
(987)
95,153

13,206
26,153
(5,898)
91,002

-

-

164
(1)
-

103
2
-

(91)
(9)
-

(102)
(2)
-

349,505

333,292

172,987

162,812

133,170

124,359

b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
Bloque 2 - Rommana ( c)
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman (d)
Bloque Mehr ( e)
Total
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c) Joint Operations Agreements of ENAP in Chile
Dorado Riquelme Block:
On August 26 2009, the Special Operations Contract was signed for the exploration and exploitation of the Bloque
Dorado Riquelme hydrocarbon reservoirs , between the government of Chile and Methanex Chile S.A. and the
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP). The Joint Operating Agreement between the parties involved in the block
operation was endorsed, with 50% participation from Methanex and 50% from ENAP, the latter operating the
concession.
During January and February, 2014, hydraulic fracturing of wells Dorado ZG-1, Palenque Oeste ZG-1 and Dorado Sur
12. Between March and June, 2014, production tests are performed on wells Dorado ZG-1, Palenque Oeste ZG-1 and
Dorado Sur 12. In June, well Dorado 5 was drilled, resulting in a gas production well. Well Palenque Norte 12 has not
been fractured due to mechanical problems in the well. Wells Dorado ZG-1, Palenque Oeste ZG-1, Dorado Sur 12 and
Dorado 5 continue to be tested.
At a meeting on July 23, it was decided not to continue with the exploration stage, thus continuing with the block’s
exploitation stage only.
At the end of December 2014, the accumulated investment in the Bloque Dorado Riquelme was US$ 233 million and
accumulated production was 783 million cubic meters of gas.

Lenga Block
On July 28, 2008 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reservoir, Lenga block, was signed between the government of Chile and the companies Apache Chile Energía Spa
and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP). On June 15, 2009, the Joint Operating Agreement was signed
between the parties partaking in the Block with a 50% participation of ENAP and 50% from Apache Chile Energía
Spa, the latter operating the concession. At the end of 2011, Apache Chile Energía SpA transferred its interest in the
CEOP for the Lenga Block to Methanex, and the transfer the role of Concession Operator in the CEOP for the Lenga
Block, from Apache Chile Energía SpA to ENAP. These were then approved by the Ministry of Energy and
Comptroller General of the Republic of Chile.
With the information resulting from the studies performed to investigate the potential of non-conventional gases in the
Block, Methanex and ENAP made the decision of not passing to the second Exploratory Period. The Chilean Energy
Ministry approved a Provisional Protection Area of 100 Km 2 around these wells.
The studies to measure productive potential are still continuing at Springhill levels. Also, the benefits of the hydraulic
fracture in other non-conventional levels that can potentially hold hydrocarbons remain to be defined.
On January 31, 2014, Methanex communicated by letter its decision to withdraw from the JOA. A minute was
prepared to request authorization from the Business and Resources Committee to inform Methanex and the Energy
Ministry of ENAP’s withdrawal from the CEOP for the Lenga Block under the terms of Article 13 of the JOA. On
November 24, 2014, a letter was sent to the Energy Minister to communicate the contractor’s decision to terminate the
agreement with the State and return the exploitation area.

47

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014

(In thousands of dollars)

Coirón Block
On July 28, 2008, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reserve Coirón Block was signed between the government of Chile and the companies Pan American Energy Chile
Limitada and ENAP. Subsequently, on November 10, 2008, the Joint Operating Agreement was signed between the
parties involved in the block operation with a 50% participation from ENAP and 50% from Pan American Energy
Chile Ltda., the latter being the concession operator.
Term and development of the CEOP contract for the Coirón Block:
The Coirón Block CEOP contract is for a maximum period of 35 years, from the effective date. It includes an
Exploration Stage of three periods of 36, 24 and 24 months respectively, and an Exploitation stage. The first
Exploration Stage, which had three extensions of 6, 3 and 3 months each, concluded on July 28, 2012. Upon
completion, PAE and ENAP informed the Energy Minister of their decision to not continue with the second
Exploration stage and return the State of Chile only the Coirón Block area agreed in the CEOP, keeping the
exploitation areas only. Consequently, from June 28, 2012, activities in the CEOP Coirón Block relate solely to
development-exploitation activities.
Project financing in Coirón Block:
The development of exploitation projects, which included 3D seismic information and the drilling of exploratory wells
in Coirón Block, was according to a minimum plan set in the CEOP for the Exploration Stage, was performed at full
expense by PAE (ENAP under carry mode), whereas the development of exploitation projects has been financed
equally by PAE and ENAP.
Exploitation project development in Coirón Block:
Currently, PAE and ENAP interpret 3D seismic data and assess the possibility of performing works and essays in
existing wells. The purpose is to collect more background information to increase the productive results of the oil
exploitation project in the Los Cerros area and to assess the feasibility of developing two new gas projects: (a) Stage
II-A of the gas exploitation project in the Los Cerros-El Fierro area, and (b) gas exploitation of the Dinamarquero area,
for which there are contractual commitments (CEOP) related to its Commercial Declaration (July 24, 2012), which
imply return of the area if exploitation is not performed before July 24, 2015.
ENAP roles: in addition to its partner role, ENAP has played the following roles in Coirón Block: (I) Service supplier
of PAE in the following stages (a) exploration, (b) development and (c) operation. As the service supply option by
any of the parties was agreed in the Joint Operation Agreement (JOA) subscribed by PAE and ENAP, and that the
mentioned exploitation is a Joint Operation.
(II) Product buyer: in the case of gas, upon bidding of gas from the development of a Pilot Project: STAGE I of the
gas exploitation project in the Los Cerros-El Fierro area, and based on an instruction from the Ministry of Energy,
ENAP exercised its reacquisition right from the State of Chile included in the CEOP. For this purpose, it subscribed a
gas purchase contract with PAE, which is currently in force. Regarding oil, whose production has been marginal,
ENAP has performed spot purchases from PAE, according to the provisions of the Ministry of Energy.
Investment in the exploitation project made by ENAP, as of December 31, 2014, was US$ 29.8 million.
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Caupolicán Block
On April 28, 2009, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon
reserve Caupolicán Block was signed between the government of Chile and the companies Petro Magallanes
Operaciones Ltda. (Concession Operator) and ENAP. In March 2012, Methanex Chile S.A. was incorporated into the
CEOP with a 20% interest, which was formalized by the Ministry of Energy.
During 2014, the following components of the commitment to the State have been performed: a) Drilling of well Rio
del Oro SurOeste-1 with a depth of 3,293 mt, currently in the productivity evaluation stage; b) 187 km2 of 3D seismic
tests were performed in the China Creek sector. The data processing and interpretation stage is currently taking place;
c) Construction works of the location for the Caupolicán 2 well are finished. The well is to be drilled during the first
months of 2015; d) Topography tasks have started in the Clarencia area to complement the 3D seismic test data
committed in the minimum WP&B with the State.
Currently, ENAP’s investment for the 2° exploratory period is US$6.1 million, which is 36% of the Joint Venture’s
total investment. For the 1° exploratory period, ENAP’s investment was US$11.5 million.

Flamenco Block
On November 7, 2012 the Special Operations Contracts (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Flamenco
Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark (Concession Operator) and the Empresa Nacional
del Petróleo (ENAP), both with a 50% interest. Afterwards, as of December 3, 2012, the Joint Operating Agreement
(JOA) was signed between both parties in order to operate the Block.
During 2014, 6 exploratory wells were drilled: Tenca x-1, Tagua x-1, Kaum x-1, Chirihue x-1, Cupanaca x-1, Kosphy
x-1, in which completion of production also took place. They are currently in evaluation process. In addition, wells
Chercán X-1 (gas), Omeling X-1(oil) and Tenca X-1 started definitive production. Also during this period, the
development wells Chercán 2 y and Tenca 3 were drilled, the former being completed and the latter pending
completion.
Additionally, the “WO of Flamenco 28” and re-drilling of the existing well Bandurria 12 were carried out.
The work program for 2014 has been completed regarding the minimum commitments of the First Exploration Period,
but it also included: drilling of 4 additional wells in development, and two have been completed: Chercan 2 and Tenca
3. In addition to the re-drilling of two existing wells Bandurria 12 and Flamenco 28. In addition to the production
startup of exploratory wells which proved preliminarily successful, and in which ENAP, according to Exhibit H, had
to contribute with 50% of the finishing expenses: Chirihue x-1, Tenca x-1, Chercan x-1 and x-2, Omeling x-1.
ENAP’s investment in this stage at December 31, 2014 is US$ 9.1 million.
Isla Norte Block
On November 7, 2012 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Isla Norte
Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark TdF(Concession Operator) with a 60% interest and
the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with a 40% interest. Afterwards, on December 3, 2012; the Joint
Operating Agreement (JOA) was subscribed between both parties in order to operate the Block.
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On this date the first exploratory period started which lasts three years and whose commitments are: Record and
interpret 350 Km2 of 3D seismics; reprocess 350 Km2 of existing 2D seismics; drill 2 exploratory wells of up to 2300
meters, and drill 1 exploratory well of up to 1300 meters.
After this first exploratory period there are 2 additional periods of 2 years each to reach an agreement for a maximum
contract of 25 years.
During the first half of 2014 the operator completed the registration of the 3D Seismics and is currently working in
reinterpreting the existing 2D Seismics. In addition, drilling started forthe first exploration well named Pantano Oeste
X-1, resulting in a production well after its hydraulic fracturing.
In addition, the program considers the re-drilling of an existing well which was postponed to 2015.
ENAP’s investment in this stage at December 31, 2014 is US$ 0.8 million.

Campanario Block
On January 9, 2013, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Campanario
Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark TdF(Concession Operator) with a 50% interest
and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50% interest.
On this date the first exploratory period began, which lasts three years and whose commitments are: Record and
interpret 578 Km2 of 3D seismics; drill 6 exploratory wells of up to 2400 meters, and drill 2 exploratory wells of up to
1800 meters.
After this first exploratory period, there are 2 additional periods of 2 years each to reach an agreement for a maximum
contract of 25 years.
During 2014, exploratory wells Primavera Sur x-1, Keternen x-1; Tanu x-1, Aneki x-1 and Bellavista Sur x-1 and
development well Primavera Sur 2 were drilled, along with the re-drilling or WO of well Chillan 15.
The 2014 work schedule included the drilling of four exploratory wells, plus two development wells and the re-drilling
of an existing well.
ENAP’s investment in this stage at December 31, 2014 is US$ 2.9 million.
San Sebastián Block
As of January 4, 2013, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the San
Sebastián Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile,YPF Tierra del Fuego (Operator) with a 40%
interest; Wintershall with a 10% interest and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50%. The
Joint Operating Agreement (JOA) needed to operate the Block has not yet been signed.
On this date, the first exploratory period has started, which lasts three years and whose commitments are: Record and
interpret 400 Km2 of 3D seismics; drill 2 exploratory wells of up to 1,600 meters, drill one exploratory well of up to
2,300 meters and drill 2 exploratory well of up to 2,350 meters.
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After this first exploratory period, there are 2 additional periods of 2 years each to reach an agreement for a maximum
contract of 25 years.
In early March the seismic registration process was finalized in the block. Currently work is being made processing
the seismics in the CDP process center of YPF in Buenos Aires. As of this date two possible prospects have been
identified for drilling: Cisne Sur x-1 y Gaviota Sur x-1.
In the last TCM YPF presented on a preliminary basis, 5 possible drilling locations, which are being reviewed by the
G&G Specialist team at ENAP.
During the last quarter of 2014, action was taken for contracting drilling services and its complementary services. The
start of drilling tasks is expected during the first half of January 2015.
In this CEOP, ENAP has a 100% share under “carry” mode.
Marazzi – Lago Mercedes Block
On January 7, 2013 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Marazzi –
Lago Mercedes Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, YPF Tierra del Fuego (Concession
Operator) with a 50% interest and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50%. The Joint
Operating Agreement (JOA) needed to operate the Block has not yet been signed.
On this date, the first exploratory period started, which lasts three years and whose commitments are: Record and
interpret 272 Km2 of 3D seismics and drill one exploratory well of up to 3,500 meters.
After this first exploratory period, there are 2 additional periods of 2 years each to reach an agreement for a maximum
contract of 25 years.
By mid-May the registration process of seismic records for the Marazzi Block was completed. The data processing is
currently taking place.
The JV agrees the drilling of exploratory well Loica x-1which is 3,650 mt deep and with Springhill objective, to be
drilled after the two wells previously scheduled in the San Sebastián Block.
18.

OTHER BUSINESS

The main exploitation activities are detailed below.

a) Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra
On September 25, 2001, Pecom Energía S.A. assigned to Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 100% of the rights to the
exploitation concession of the hydrocarbon area referred to as Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra, located in the province
of Chubut, Argentina. There is a 25 years period for the exploitation concession (expires in 2016) which can be
extended for an additional period of 10 years.
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b) Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito y Mauro Dávalos Cordero e Intracampos
On October 7, 2002, a contract was signed with Empresa de Petróleos del Ecuador - PETROECUADOR and its
subsidiary Empresa Estatal de Exploración y Producción de Petróleos del Ecuador - Petroproducción, to exploit and
develop the oilfields Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (PBH) and Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC), located in the eastern
Ecuador basin. By means of this specific service contract, the Company committed to make investments in the
development of these fields for an amount estimated in US$90 million, which include drilling 16 wells (9 in PBH and
7 in MDC), the construction of a production station in MDC, the adaptation of facilities and a camp. At the same time,
it acquired the exploration and operations rights, assuming 100% of the operation and management costs of the fields.
On August 8, 2006, the MD field contract with PETROECUADOR was modified, and ENAP SIPEC agreed to
increase the investment program to include the drilling of 7 wells and expansion of production facilities. These new
wells will certify additional reserves, increasing current reserves from 31.6 to 57.0 million barrels of crude oil.
These contracts stipulated that ENAP Sipetrol S.A. could exploit a maximum of 57 million barrels in MDC and 20.1
million barrels in PBH.
On July 27, 2010, the Reform to the Hydrocarbon Law and the Internal Taxation Law was enacted in Ecuador. The
first transitory provision provides that existing contracts, including for MDC and PBH, had to be amended within 180
days and the reformed model had to be adopted for hydrocarbon exploration and exploitation services contained in
Article 16 of the Hydrocarbon Law.
According to the aforesaid first Transitory Provision, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. began the renegotiation of the MDC and
PBH contracts, which concluded on November 23, 2010 with the signature of two amendments to the Service
Contracts for the Exploration and Exploitation of Hydrocarbons (crude oil) in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC)
Block and Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos (PBHI) Block in the Ecuadorian Amazon Region.
According to governing law, those amendments were registered with the Department of Hydrocarbons on December
15, 2010. The effective date of the amendment was January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the terms of the contracts signed
on October 7, 2002 were in effect through December 31, 2010. The terms of the amendments governed became
effective on January 1, 2011.
c) 3 Jambelí Block
On October 3, 2011, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. (branch Ecuador) and the Department of Hydrocarbons of Ecuador signed a
service contract for the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons (oil-crude) in the “3 Jambelí Block”, located in
the Gulf of Guayaquil.
During 2012 the contract requirements related to Block 3J's existing seismic reprocessing were completed, as well as
obtaining permits for the acquisition of an offshore 2D seismic.
On May 8, 2013 the offshore 2D seismic acquisition was initiated, with the Russian company Sevmorgeo. On May 31
the first stage of seismic acquisition was finished (35% progressed: 130.5Km). During the second week of December
the 2D Seismic acquisition program was concluded (518 Km vs. the planned 500 Km), thus complying with the
minimum contractual commitment of investments and activities.
In July and August 2014, together with Company Lumina Geophysical, the 518 km acquired in the 2013 campaign
was reprocessed, whose interpretation indicated the existence of favorable conditions for the placing of traps in the
coastal area outside of the block limited to two prospective areas.
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Between October and December 2014, French-American company Stat Marine performed a conceptual study for the
development of production scenarios in the defined prospective areas. With this information and the updated
interpretation of reserves, an update of the economic model of the Block was carried out. With the results of the new
evaluation, the strategy to be applied in the future will be defined, since the exploratory period of the B-3J finishes in
October 2015.
Current assets
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Projects

Non-current assets
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Current liabilities
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current liabilities
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Pampa el Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)
Bloque 3 Jambelí

28,553
3,736
16,212
-

18,729
4,530
17,041
-

103,929
25,677
111,412
-

146,697
31,417
118,189
-

46,643
3,128
13,576
-

40,525
3,446
12,964
-

25,626
213
924
-

37,445
199
749
-

Total

48,501

40,300

241,018

296,303

63,347

56,935

26,763

38,393

Projects

Ordinary Revenue
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Cost of sales
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Net Income (loss)
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Pampa el Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)
Bloque 3 Jambelí

139,225
23,356
62,157
-

149,057
17,876
68,156
-

163,494
12,543
39,904
-

144,619
11,801
34,639
-

(17,101)
4,061
13,839
(926)

(4,834)
4,668
25,798
(12,723)

Total

224,738

235,089

215,941

191,059

(127)

12,909

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The detail and movements in investment properties of the ENAP Group at December 31, 2014 and December
31, 2013 are as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Opening balance
Additions
Depreciation expense

7,732
(90)

2,050
5,693
(11)

Final Balance

7,642

7,732

Investment properties of the ENAP Group are mainly land and properties held for operating leasing. The company has
selected the cost method of accounting to measure its investment property after the initial recognition. The
depreciation method in use is the straight-line method and the useful life period assigned to such items fluctuates
between 10 and 20 years.
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20.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Details of the ENAP Group’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are as
follows:

December 31, 2014
Item

Financial
liabilities held
for negotiation
ThUS$

Financial liabilities at
fair value with
changes taken to net
income
ThUS$

Loans and
accounts payable
ThUS$

Hedge derivates
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

-

446,318
730,005
46,167

12,923
-

Total current financial liabilities

-

-

1,222,490

12,923

Other non-current financial liabilities
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

-

3,287,259
5,442

84,989
-

Total non-current financial liabilities

-

-

3,292,701

84,989

Loans and
accounts payable
ThUS$

Hedge derivates
ThUS$

December 31, 2013
Item

Financial
liabilities held
for negotiation
ThUS$

Financial liabilities at
fair value with
changes taken to net
income
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

-

445,246
1,533,032
45,999

40,299
-

Total current financial liabilities

-

-

2,024,277

40,299

Other non-current financial liabilities
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

-

3,385,647
7,864

30,335
-

Total non-current financial liabilities

-

-

3,393,511

30,335

a)

Hedging derivatives

The ENAP Group, in compliance with financial risk management policy described in Note 4, acquires financial
derivatives to cover its exposure to the interest rate variations, currency (exchange rate) and commodities (crude oil
and imported products).
The interest rate derivatives are used to fix or limit the variable interest rate of the financial obligations and are interest
rate swaps.
The currency derivatives are used to fix the exchange rate for the US dollars in comparison to the Chilean peso (CLP)
and Unidad de Fomento (UF), due to investments or existing obligations in currencies other than the US dollar. These
instruments are mainly to Forwards and Cross Currency Swaps.
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Crude oil derivatives are intended to hedge against a negative variation in the price of crude oil shipments from the
moment of purchase until the sale of the products refined from that crude oil.
i)

Presentation of assets and liabilities

The detail of the hedging assets and liabilities, considering the nature of the operations, is as follows:
12.31.2014
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$

Hedge assets
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Time Spread Swap
Cash flow hedge

828

-

209,960

-

Total

210,788

-

152
-

Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Refining margin hedging
Cash flow hedge
Diferential Swap WTI / Brent hedging
Cash flow hedge
Total

23,590
-

152

12.31.2014
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$

Hedge liabilities

12.31.2013
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$

23,590

12.31.2013
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$

4,757

-

7,125

-

7,210

84,989

6,710

30,335

956
12,923

-

26,357

-

-

107

-

84,989

40,299

30,335

ii) Fair value of hedging derivatives

The detail of the hedging instruments portfolio of ENAP is as follows:
Detail of hedge
instruments

Description of hedge
instruments

Cross-Currency Swap
Cross-Currency Swap
SWAP
TSS
SDI
Forward

Exchange rate and interest rate
Exchange rate and interest rate
Interest rate
Petroleum Crude
Diferential WTI - Brent
Exchange rate

Total

Description of instruments
against which is hedged

Unguaranteed obligations (bonds
Leasing
Bank loans
Inventories
Inventories
Trade receivables

Fair value of instruments
against which is hedged
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$
(68,747)
1,162
(24,614)
209,960
(956)
(3,929)

19,453
2,287
(35,194)
(15,966)
(107)
(8,598)

112,876

(38,125)
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iii) Effect in net income of hedging derivatives
The amounts recorded in comprehensive income as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 that were
transferred from net equity to the income statement during the year were as follows:

Credit charge in other comprehensive income during the year
Credit transfer from equity to net income during the year

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

58,013

35,556

431,562

233,933

iv) Other data on financial instruments
The maturities of hedges are detailed below:
December 31, 2014

Notional
Fair value
ThUS$

Financial derivaties

2015
ThUS$

2016
ThUS$

2017
ThUS$

2018
ThUS$

2019
ThUS$

2020
and after
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging

(71,514)

996,667

1,825

97,894

238,302

430,000

192,000

1,956,688

Cash flow hedge

(24,614)

38,550

38,190

38,112

40,045

41,363

44,005

240,265

Total

(96,128)

1,035,217

40,015

136,006

278,347

471,363

236,005

2,196,953

Thousands of
barrels
ThBbl

Fair value
ThUS$
WTI/Brent and TSS hedging: Cash flow hedge

209,004

December 31, 2013

Financial derivatives

25,140

Notional
Fair value
ThUS$

2014
ThUS$

2015
ThUS$

2016
ThUS$

2017
ThUS$

2018
ThUS$

2019
ThUS$
-

Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging

13,142

871,857

386,833

1,998

98,073

238,426

Cash flow hedge

(35,194)

21,107

38,550

38,190

38,112

40,045

Total

(22,052)

892,964

425,383

40,188

136,185

278,471

Fair value
ThUS$
WTI/Brent and TSS hedging: Cash flow hedge

(16,073)

2020
and after
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

192,000

1,789,187

41,363

44,005

261,372

41,363

236,005

2,050,559

Thousands of
barrels
ThBbl
18,960

(1) As of December 31, 2014, management decided to reclassify ThUS$ 194,595 of the accrued effect of the Time
Spread Swap from Other reserves to income for the period, in order to offset it against the negative effect in the
income statement of the adjustment to inventories to their net realizable value for the same amount. See note 28.
The contractual notional amount of the contracts entered into does not represent the risk taken on by ENAP, as this
amount is only the nominal basis on which the settlement of the derivative is calculated.
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v) Hierarchies of Fair Value
The ENAP Group calculates the fair value for the financial derivatives by using market parameters, which are adjusted
to the maturity profile of each operation.
The forward operations hedging the exchange rate exposure of the accounts receivable from sales invoices in Chilean
pesos are recorded using as reference the forward peso-US dollar curve available in the market.
The cross currency swap operations hedging the exposure to the fluctuation of the US dollar of the financial liabilities
denominated in UF are recorded at the present value of the future flows in UF (asset) and US dollar (liability). To
calculate such present values the rate curves of the UF and market LIBO are used, which are adjusted to the relevant
dates of the flows included in each operation.
The interest rate swap operations hedging the exposure to the fluctuation of the LIBO rate of the financial liabilities
that accrue a variable rate based on LIBO are recorded at the present value of future flows. To calculate such present
values the rate curves of the market LIBO are used, which are adjusted to the relevant dates of the flows included in
each operation.
The operations with options on ICE Brent, hedging the exposure to the variation of the international price of the crude
oil imports of ENAP, are recorded by using calculation tools provided by financial information platforms. Such tools
use the future curves of the ICE Brent prices in the market, adjusting these to the maturity profile of each operation.
The financial instruments recognized at fair value in the statement of financial situation are classified according to the
following hierarchies:
Level 1: Quoted price (not adjusted) in an active market for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2: Alternative data to quoted prices which are included in Level 1 and which are observable for assets and
liabilities, whether directly (as price) o indirectly (as derived from a price); and
Level 3: Alternative data for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market information (non-observable
data)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Hedge assets - Cash flow hedge
Hedge Liabilities - Cash flow hedge

Total
12.31.2014
ThUS$

Financial instruments rank
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$

210,788

-

210,788

-

97,912

-

97,912

-
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b) Loans accruing interest
i) Summary of loans - The detail of the loans accruing interest as of December 31, 2014 and December 31,

2013 is the following:
Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Not guaranteed
Bank overdrafts
Borrowings from financial institutions
Bonds payable
Financial lease

360,108
37,067
2,033

660
206,360
185,450
2,221

355,645
2,718,818
5,161

915,743
2,207,863
7,766

Subtotal

399,208

394,691

3,079,624

3,131,372

Guaranteed
Borrowings from financial institutions

47,110

50,555

207,635

254,275

Subtotal

47,110

50,555

207,635

254,275

446,318

445,246

3,287,259

3,385,647

Total

ii) Detail of loans accruing interest - The detail per currency and maturity of the loans from financial

entities (guaranteed and not guaranteed) accruing interest as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
is the following:
December, 31, 2014
December 31, 2014:

Creditor name
BNP - Paribas (1)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (Cesce) (2)
Société Générale
Banco Latinoamericano
de Comercio Exterior S.A. (3)
YPF S.A. (8)
Société Générale ( 4 )
BNP Paribas ( 4 )
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Banco Santander
HSBC Bank USA (7)

Nominal
value
410,000
34,459
13,917
53,215
21,981

Up to 3
months
ThUS$
17,709
2,117
843
2,801
1,179

Current
From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$
16,971
2,029
847
2,614
-

Total
ThUS$
34,680
4,146
1,690
5,415
1,179

Interests
payment
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Nominal
rate
3.75%
3.10%
6.04%
4.38%
6.43%

Effective
rate
3.75%
3.10%
6.04%
4.38%
6.43%

Monthly

4.02%

4.02%

55,000

6,887

20,625

27,512

Quarterly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
Quarterly

8.00%
1.98%
4.07%
0.92%
0.80%
0.78%
1.73%

8.00%
1.14%
5.19%
0.92%
0.80%
0.78%
1.92%

100,000
100,000
78,258
100,000
100,000
100,000
200,000

827
4,181
-

6,000
16,866
3,585
100,222
100,522
100,123
270

6,827
16,866
7,766
100,222
100,522
100,123
270

36,544

370,674

407,218

Total

Non-current
From 1 to 3 From 3 to 5 5 years and
years
years
more
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
71,929
80,550
44,005
2,094
868
8,189
-

Total
ThUS$
196,484
2,094
868
8,189
-

-

-

-

86,000
32,301
13,431
198,817

14,340
-

10,756
-

86,000
32,301
38,527
198,817

413,629

94,890

54,761

563,280

The nominal interest rates presented are annual.
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Other information related to loans from financial entities as of December 31, 2014:

Name
BNP - Paribas (1)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (Cesce) (2)
Société Générale
Banco Latinoamericano
de Comercio Exterior S.A. (3)

Tax number
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E

YPF S.A. (8)
Société Générale ( 4 )
BNP Paribas ( 4 )
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Banco Santander
HSBC Bank USA (7)

Currency
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

Country
USA
Spain
Spain
Spain
France

0-E

US$

Panama

0-E
0-E
0-E
97004000-5
97004000-5
97036000-K
0-E

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

Argentina
France
Spain
Chile
Chile
Chile
USA

Entity
Enercón S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
CHBB S.A.
Enap Sipetrol
Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol
Argentina S.A.
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Tax number
99519820-7
99548320-3
99548320-3
99548320-3
99519810-K

Currency
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Warranty
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed

0-E

Argentina

Not guaranteed

0-E
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed

December, 31, 2013
December 31, 2013:

Creditor name
BNP - Paribas (1)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (Cesce) (2)
Société Générale
Banco Latinoamericano
de Comercio Exterior S.A. (3)
Société Générale (4)
BNP Paribas (4)
Banco de Chile
The Bank of Tokyo (5)
Bank Of America (6)
ITAU
HSBC Bank USA (7)
Total

Interests
payment
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Nominal
rate
3.75%
3.10%
6.04%
4.38%
6.43%

Effective
rate
3.75%
3.10%
6.04%
4.38%
6.43%

Monthly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
At maturity
Half-yearly
Quarterly
At maturity
Quarterly

4.06%
1.98%
4.07%
1.18%
1.54%
1.96%
0.85%
1.14%

4.06%
1.14%
5.19%
1.18%
0.86%
1.96%
0.85%
1.14%

Nominal
value
410,000
34,459
13,917
53,215
21,981

From 1 to
3 months
ThUS$
21,700
2,080
499
2,783
1,229

Current
From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$
16,231
1,906
469
2,503
1,154

Non-current
From 1 to 3 From 3 to 5 5 years and
years
years
more
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
68,407
76,141
85,369
6,090
1,876
1,877
13,361
1,154
-

Total
ThUS$
37,931
3,986
968
5,286
2,383

55,000
100,000
78,258
100,000
300,000
300,000
50,000
200,000

4,270
858
50,018
-

27,525
16,939
3,586
101,823
306
756
280

27,525
16,939
7,856
102,681
306
756
50,018
280

27,500
31,873
13,132
298,619
297,022
-

16,667
14,407
198,515

18,008
-

27,500
48,540
45,547
298,619
297,022
198,515

83,437

173,478

256,915

759,034

307,607

103,377

1,170,018

Total
ThUS$
229,917
6,090
3,753
13,361
1,154

The nominal interest rates for the loans presented are annual

59

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014

(In thousands of dollars)

Other information related to loans from financial entities as of December 31, 2013:

Name
BNP - Paribas (1)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (2)
BNP - Paribas (Cesce) (2)
Société Générale
Banco Latinoamericano
de Comercio Exterior S.A. (3)
Société Générale (4)
BNP Paribas (4)
Banco de Chile
The Bank of Tokyo (5)
Bank Of America (6)
ITAU
HSBC Bank USA (7)

Tax number
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
97004000-5
0-E
0-E
76645030-K
0-E

Currency
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

Country
USA
Spain
Spain
Spain
France

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

Panama
France
Spain
Chile
Japan
USA
Chile
USA

Entity
Enercón S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
Prodisa S.A.
Enap Sipetrol
Argentina S.A.
CHBB S.A.
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Tax number
99519820-7
96969000-4
99548320-3
99548320-3
99548320-3

Currency
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Warranty
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed
Guaranteed

0-E
99519810-K
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed
Not guaranteed

(1) BNP – PARIBAS
On June 15, 2005, Energía Concón S.A. signed a Loan Agreement for ThUS$ 410,000 with a bank syndicate led by
BNP Paribas, Citigroup and Calyon, for an amount of ThUS$ 410,000 and a 15-year term. Annual interest rate ranging
from Libor + 50 basis points to + 175 basis points.
(2) BNP – PARIBAS
During 2005 and 2006, Productora de Diesel S.A., subscribed Credit Contracts with a syndicate of banks headed by
BNP Paribas, amounting US$ 102 million and semi-annual amortizations until 2017. The interest rate for tranches A
and B varies between Libor + 0.875% and Libor + 2.0%; and for tranch C it varies between 0.875% and Libor +
4.31%.
(3) BANCO LATINOAMERICANO DE EXPORTACIONES S.A. (BLADEX).
On June 30, 2009 ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. obtained a loan of ThUS$ 65,000 which originally matured on June
28, 2010, with payment of capital upon maturity and semiannual payments of interests with an interest rate of LIBO +
3.5%. This loan is guaranteed by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo.
On January 5, 2010, the maturity date was extended until December 27, 2010, with a new rate of LIBOR 180 + 3.00%
being agreed. On September 15, 2010 the contract was amended in order to agree a new rate of LIBOR 180 + 2.75%.
On December 27, 2010 there was a payment of ThUS$10,000.
On December 23, 2011, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. extended the maturity of the mentioned loan to December 27,
2012 agreeing an interest rate of LIBO 180 + 2.75%.
On December 27, 2012 the maturity of the outstanding debt for ThUS$ 55,000 was extended to December 27, 2015.
Interest will be paid monthly, and principal will be paid from January 27, 2014, agreeing in a new rate of LIBO 1
month +3.85%.
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(4) BANCO BNP PARIBAS Y SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE
On 2010, ENAP entered into two loan agreements, with BNP Paribas and Société Générale for ThUS$ 78,258 and
ThUS$ 100,000 where each hold 50% of the participation, in order to construct an alkylation plant for Refinería
Aconcagua. Both credits function as revolving credit lines, from which they can make partial withdrawals when they
comply with certain conditions. Annual interest rate is 4.07% and Libor + 150 basis points, with maturities in 2021
and 2017 respectively.
(5) THE BANK OF TOKYO
On November 23, 2011, the Company secured a syndicated loan amounting to ThUS$300,000, granted by a group of
banks, with The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. acting as agent. Through this operation, ENAP signed a
syndicated loan agreement under the law of New York (called “Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement”) with
7 international banks.
The loan has a 5 year term and will be amortized in 3 equal semiannual installments, the first due on November 29,
2015. The interest rate of this loan is LIBO + 0.8%
On November 28, 2014, ENAP fully prepaid the capital corresponding to this loan.
(6) BANK OF AMERICA
On October 31, 2012, the Company secured a syndicated loan amounting to ThUS$300,000, granted by a group of
Banks with Bank of America acting as agent. The loans have a 3-year term from November 9, 2012 and will be repaid
in a single payment at maturity. The annual interest rate applicable is LIBO at 3 or 6 months, at the option of ENAP +
1.65%.
On November 13, 2014, ENAP fully prepaid the capital corresponding to this syndicated loan, which was due on
November 13, 2015.
(7) HSBC BANK USA
On November 18, 2013, the Company signed a funding contract with HSBC Bank USA, National Association and
Scotiabank & Trust (Cayman) Ltd., with the former acting as administrative agent. The contract amounts to ThUS
200,000 and has a 5-year term from December 3, 2013. The capital will be amortized in 4 biannual installments on the
42nd, 48th ,54th and 60th months respectively.
This loan will accrue interests calculated on the basis of LIBOR rate plus a margin or spread of 1.5% annually.
(8) YPF S.A.
On November 17, 2014, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. submits to YPF S.A. a proposed agreement for TCU Contract
Extension in the Magallanes area. This proposal seeks to extend the rights and obligations of ENAP Sipetrol Argentina
S.A. with the TCU Contract and its nature as operator, keeping its current 50% share until the end of the extensions.
In return for the extension, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. will pay YPF S.A., as contributions for the TCU, ThUS$
100,000. This amount will be paid as follows: a) ThUS$ 8,000 at the agreement date, b) ThUS$ 6,000 until the final
decision date of the incremental project, being 50% of bonuses, contributions and/or moneys incurred by YPF S.A.
with State of Argentina, c) one year after the final decision date of the project, 50% of the balance, and d) the the
remaining 50% during the following year.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. will pay YPF S.A. an 8% annual fixed interest rate, with quarterly payment periods.
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iii) Detail of Bonds Payable

The detail and maturities of the bonds payable as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 classified as
current and non-current is indicated in the following table:
December 31, 2014

Description
B-ENAP - B ( a.1 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.2 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.3 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.4 )
B-ENAP - D ( a.2 )
B-ENAP - E ( a.2 )
SIX Swiss (b.5)
Tipo 144 A ( b.6 )

Country

Currency

Chile
USA
USA
USA
Chile
Chile
Swiss
USA

UF
US$
US$
US$
UF
UF
CHF
US$

Nominal
value

Nominal
rate

9,750
300,000
500,000
500,000
2,000
4,000
215,000
600,000

Up to 3
months
Effective rate ThUS$

4.55%
6.25%
5.25%
4.75%
3.40%
3.70%
2.88%
4.38%

4.28%
6.58%
5.46%
5.12%
4.28%
4.28%
2.88%
4.56%

Totales

Tipo 144 A ( b.1 )
B-ENAP - B ( a.1 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.2 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.3 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.4 )
B-ENAP - D ( a.2 )

Total
ThUS$

8,456
9,068
10,646
687
1,495
-

1,715
457
4,543

8,456
9,068
10,646
1,715
687
1,495
457
4,543

30,352

6,715

37,067

December 31, 2013

Description

Current
From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$

From 1 to 3
years
ThUS$

Non-current
From 3 to 5
5 years and
years
more
ThUS$
ThUS$
398,107
297,802

Country

Currency

Nominal
rate

Up to 3
months
Effective rate ThUS$

USA
Chile
USA
USA
USA
Chile

US$
UF
US$
US$
US$
UF

150,000
9,750
300,000
500,000
500,000
2,000

4.88%
4.55%
6.25%
5.25%
4.75%
3.40%

5.77%
4.28%
6.58%
5.46%
5.12%
4.28%

B-ENAP - E ( a.2 ) Chile
SIX Swiss (b.5)
Swiss

UF
CHF

4,000
215,000

3.70%
2.88%

4.28%
2.88%

Totales

151,948
9,213
9,074
10,457
180,692

From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$

591,886

911,750

1,727,458

2,718,818

79,610
151,104

Current
Nominal
value

215,841
-

398,107.0
297,802.0
495,012.0
489,456.0
79,610.0
151,104.0
215,841.0
591,886

495,012
489,456

79,610

Total
ThUS$

Non-current
Total
ThUS$

From 1 to 3
years
ThUS$

From 3 to 5
years
ThUS$

5 years and
more
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

1,781
776

151,948
9,213
9,074
10,457
1,781
776

-

86,841

436,270
297,360
494,169
487,981
-

436,270
297,360
494,169
487,981
86,841

1,687
514

1,687
514

-

240,146

165,096
-

165,096
240,146

4,758

185,450

-

326,987

1,880,876

2,207,863

Other information related to public obligations as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

( a.1 )
( b.2 )
( b.3 )
( b.4 )
( a.2 )
( a.2 )
( b.5 )
( b.6 )

Creditor nomber

Tax number

Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Banco de Chile
Credit Suisse AG
HSBC y JP Morgan

97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E
0-E
97.004.000-5
97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E

Local /
Foreign
Local
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Local
Local
Foreign
Foreign

Company
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Country
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Tax number
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6

Interest
payment

Capital
payment

Maturity

Guarantee

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Yearly
Half-yearly

Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time
Single time

12/1/2019
8/7/2019
10/8/2020
6/12/2021
1/10/2017
1/10/2033
5/12/2018
10-27-2024

No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee
No Guarantee

a) Local bonds
1. On January 15, 2009, the Company registered at the Securities Register of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance under No. 303, the issuance of indexed UF bonds in the local market.
The placement of bonds in the local market was performed during January, 2009 and amounted to UF 9,750,000. The
maturity period is 10 years, the payments of interests are semiannual, the annual interest rate is of U.F. + 4.33% and
the amortization of principal is at the end of the period (bullet).
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2. On January 17, 2013 the Company placed indexed bonds in “unidades de fomento” (U.F.) in the local market,
chargeable to the line registered under No. 585 in the Securities Register of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance dated May 7, 2009.
The bond placement amounted to UF 6,000,000 and was performed in two subseries:

- D Class Bonds: for an amount of UF 2,000,000; the maturity period is 5 years, only with a single final amortization
on October 1, 2017 and semi-annual interest payments. The coupon interest rate is 3.4% annually and the placement
rate was 3.75% annually.
- E Class Bonds: for an amount of UF 4,000,000, the maturity period is 21 years, only with a single final amortization
on October 1, 2033 and semi- annual payments. The coupon interest rate is 3.7% annually and the placement rate was
4.09% annually
b) International bonds:
1. On March 16, 2004, the Company issued and placed 144 A bonds in the US market, at an annual interest rate of
4.875%, for ThUS$ 150,000. The maturity period is 10 years. Interest is paid on a semiannual basis and the
amortization of capital will be performed upon maturity (bullet). This bond was repaid on March 14, 2014.
2. On December 31, 2009, ENAP issued and placed 144 A-type bonds in the Unites States market at a 6.25% interest
annually for ThUS$ 300,000.
The maturity period is 10 years. Interest is paid on a semiannual basis and the amortization of capital will be
performed upon maturity (bullet).
3. On August 5, 2010, the company issued and placed144 A type bonds in the US market, at a yearly interest rate of
5.25% for ThUS$ 500,000.
The maturity period is 10 years. Interest is paid on a semiannual basis and the amortization of capital will be
performed upon maturity (bullet).
4. On December 1, 2011, ENAP issued and placed a ThUS$500,000 144 A bond in the US market at an interest rate
of 4.75% annually.
The bond issue expires in 10 years.
maturity.

Interest payments are semi-annually and the principal will be amortized at

5. On December 5, 2013; ENAP issued and placeg a bond on the public Swiss stock market (SIX Swiss Exchange AG,
in Zurich) with an interest rate of 2.875% annually and a spread of 2.28% for ThCHF $215,000.
The maturity period is 5 years. Interest will be paid annually and capital will be amortized at maturity.
6. On October 27, 2014, ENAP issued and placed a 144 A bond in the United States market, a 4.375% per annum, for
ThUS$ 600,000.
The bond matures within 10 years. Interest payments are semi-annually and principal amortization will be upon
maturity.
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iv) Financial leases
The present value of future payments under financial leases is:
12.31.2014

Up to 90 days
Between 90 days and 1 year
Between 1 and 3 years
Between 3 and 5 years
Total

21.
a)

Gross
ThUS$

Inte re st
ThUS$

495
1,758
5,420
-

(65)
(155)
(259)
-

7,673

(479)

12.31.2013
Pre se nt
Value
ThUS$

Gross
ThUS$

Inte re st
ThUS$

Pre se nt
Value
ThUS$

430
1,603
5,161
-

542
1,990
6,845
1,445

(84)
(227)
(504)
(20)

458
1,763
6,341
1,425

7,194

10,822

(835)

9,987

TRADE CREDITORS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
The detail is as follows:

Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Trade accounts payable
Other creditors
Other payables

716,678
8,347
4,980

1,365,105
6,226
161,701

4,283
285
874

6,152
331
1,381

Total

730,005

1,533,032

5,442

7,864

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Up to 30 days
Between 31 and 60 days
Between 61 and 90 days

724,302
2,802
2,901

1,452,336
1,828
78,868

Total

730,005

1,533,032

b)

Detail of future maturities
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22.

OTHER PROVISIONS

i) Detail - As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 the detail is as follows:
Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Detail

Dismantling, restoration and rehabilitation costs
Income tax provision (Decree Law 2398)
Equity in loss of investments
Onerous contracts
Other provisions

(a)
(b)

Total

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

2,775

1,403
2,812

81,788
11,419
12,377

71,337
45,962
11,419
14,977

2,775

4,215

105,584

143,695

a) This provision covers the estimated disbursements which the ENAP Group should perform in the future for
environmental remediation at its platforms and wells. At the end of concessions, the exploitation zones can then be
used for other ends. This present value of this provision is calculated using the same discount rate as the project.
b) This provision covers 40% of subsidiaries’ net income in accordance with DL N° 2398. On June 24, 2014, ENAP
Sipetrol S.A. agreed to capitalize 100% of 2013 profits, whereby the provision estimated at that date was reversed.
During this year, the Finance Ministry decided to suspend the distribution policy of 100% of the ENAP subsidiaries’
profits for 2014 and 2015, in accordance with Official letter N°2150 / 2014. Consequently, the Company has ceased
recognizing that income tax provision.
ii) Movement: Movement of provisions, described by concept, was as follows:

As of December 31, 2014
Total provision, Initial balance at 01.01.14
Additional provisions
Reversal of provision
Total provision, final balance at 12.31.14

As of December 31, 2013
Total provision, Initial balance at 01.01.13
Additional provisions
Used provision
Reversal of provision
Other increase (decrease) of exchange rate
Other increase (decrease)
Total provision, final balance at 12.31.13

Provision for
contracts
ThUS$

14,356
2,500
(4,356)
(12,500)
-

Dismantling
restoration and
rehabilitation costs
ThUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

71,337
10,451
-

11,419
-

1,403
(1,403)

63,751
4,313
(52,912)

147,910
14,764

81,788

11,419

-

15,152

108,359

Negative
equity
ThUS$

Other
Provisions
ThUS$

Dismantling
restoration and
rehabilitation costs
ThUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

Negative
equity
ThUS$

Other
Provisions
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

(54,315)

Total
ThUS$

53,477
19,196
(636)
(1,733)
1,033

8,433
3,200
(214)
-

10,630
1,403
(10,630)
-

27,038
57,801
(8,815)
(12,279)
6
-

113,934
84,100
(14,021)
(37,142)
6
1,033

71,337

11,419

1,403

63,751

147,910
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23.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ACCRUALS

The detail of the provisions for employee benefits as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, is the
following:
Current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Concept
Severance payments
Share in profits and bonds for employees
Vacation accrual
Others provisions

(a)
(b)
(c)

Total

Non-current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

643
15,892
19,172
9,220

385
17,305
18,873
8,057

105,657
207

110,138
473

44,927

44,620

105,864

110,611

a) It refers to severance indemnities in any event due from the ENAP Group to employees, which are detailed in the
collective contracts current at that date. The liability recognized in the balance sheet is the defined benefits plan given
to employees, it is the present value of the obligations on those defined benefits (severance indemnities) at the
presentation date of the consolidated financial statements.
The severance indemnity obligation is estimated annually based on an actuarial model prepared by an independent
actuary, following Projected Credit Unit method. The present value of the severance indemnity obligations is
determined by discounting the future estimated cash flows using for that the interest rate of the corporate bond class E
denominated in the currency in which benefits will be paid and taking into consideration the obligations’ maturity
dates.
b) This is the profit sharing scheme at the Ecuador branch, established by law and the variable bonus relating

to production in refineries, which is established in the current collective agreements or employment
contracts, as the case may be.
c) These other benefits for personnel, such as annual bonuses, vacation bonuses, etc.
23. 1 Non current severance indemnities movement:
The movement of non-current severance payments during the year detailed by item is as follows:
December 31, 2014

Current
Severance
payments
ThUS$

Total accruals initial balance at 01.01.2014
Additional accruals
Used accruals
Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Total accruals final balance at 12.31.2014

Share in
profits and bonds
for employees
ThUS$

Vacation
accruals
ThUS$

Other
accruals
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

385
4,605

17,305
41,144

18,873
15,636

8,057
29,418

(4,311)
(36)

(42,215)
(342)

(13,837)
(1,500)

(27,519)
(736)

44,620
90,803
(87,882)
(2,614)

643

15,892

19,172

9,220

44,927
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December 31, 2013

Current
Severance
payments
ThUS$

Total accruals initial balance at 01.01.2013
Additional accruals
Used accruals
Accrual reversal
Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Total accruals final balance at 12.31.2013

Share in
profits and bonds
for employees
ThUS$

Vacation
accruals
ThUS$

Other
accruals
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

583
5,369
(5,567)
-

14,876
41,315
(38,571)
(315)

18,627
5,041
(3,760)
292
(1,327)

6,695
3,752
(1,709)
(681)

40,781
55,477
(49,607)
292
(2,323)

385

17,305

18,873

8,057

44,620

23.2 Movement of the non-current severance indemnities
The movement of the severance indemnities associated with current and past services and interest are immediately
recognized in the net income statement. Actuarial gains and losses from adjustments and changes in the actuarial
assumptions are recognized in equity in the year they arise. Non-current severance indemnities are detailed as follows:

Detail:

Non current
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Opening balance
Service costs
Interest costs
Actuarial reserve
Paid benefits
Increase (decrease) in foreign exchange rate

110,138
1,225
5,651
8,547
(4,980)
(14,924)

119,096
1,393
7,057
(341)
(6,694)
(10,373)

Total

105,657

110,138

Severance and Termination Benefits – These indemnities are paid when the employment relationship is terminated
before the normal date of retirement. Severance and termination benefits are recognized according to current collective
agreements. Benefits that mature over 12 months after the year end are discounted to their present value.
Bonuses and shares in profits plan - The entity recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and shares in
profits based on the formulae which takes into account the results for the year after certain adjustments are made. A
provision is recognized where the entity is contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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23.3 Actuarial Assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the non-current severance indemnities are as follows:
Assumptions
Dicount rate Chile (1)
Dicount rate Ecuador
Wages increase estimate rate Chile
Wages increase estimate rate Ecuador
Volunteer retirement rate Chile
Volunteer retirement rate Ecuador
Lay-offs turnover rate Chile
Lay-offs turnover rate Ecuador
Mortality index Chile
Mortality index Ecuador
Women retirement age
Men retirement age

12.31.2014
5.91%
6.54%
3.67%
3.00%
2.29%
2.50%
0.10%
13.14%
RV-2004
IESS2002
60
65

12.31.2013
6.49%
7.00%
3.67%
3.00%
2.29%
2.50%
0.10%
8.90%
RV-2004
IESS2002
60
65

(1) As of December 31, 2014, the Company has reviewed its actuarial assumptions in accordance with IAS 19
“Employee benefits”, changing the discount rate it applied in reference to new curves of market interest rates. See
sensitivity effect in Note 23.4.Mortality assumptions were determined according to the actuarial advice provided by our independent actuary,
according to the information available and representative of the country. The turnover assumptions arise from internal
analysis by the Company’s management.
23.4 Sensitivity Analysis
The following detail shows the effects of sensitivity analysis of the discount rate used to determine the actuarial value
of the severance indemnity provision:

Item
Actuarial value ThUS$
Discount rate
Percentage sensitivity
Sensitivity in ThUS$

24.
a)

Carrying
amount
105,657
5.91%

-

Sensitivity analysis
108,926
101,613
5.33%
6.49%
(0.58%)
0.58%
3,269
(4,044)

EQUITY
Changes in equity:

Article 2 of Law No. 20,278 authorized the Ministry of Finance, through Supreme Decree N°1389 dated October 29,
2008, to perform once, an extraordinary contribution of capital to ENAP of ThUS$ 250,000, which will be financed
with available resources in financial assets of the National Treasury. That contribution was concluded by modification
of the current budget of the National Treasury, which enabled the capital contribution that became effective on
November 10, 2008.
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Through Ord. No. 64 of January 23, 2009 the Finance Ministry authorized the following:
a) Temporarily suspend in 2009, the transfer policy of 100% of the annual dividends for the year ended December 31,
2008 from subsidiaries to ENAP.
b) Temporarily suspend in 2009, the transfer policy of profits from ENAP to the National Treasury (for the profits
generated in 2008).
The dividend distribution policy that governs ENAP, established by Finance Ministry Resolution No. 25 of August 11,
2005, which established that ENAP had to transfer a minimum amount of resources to the National Treasury, whether
as income tax (40%) and/or as anticipated profitscalculated as 14% of equity, using retained earnings from prior years.
On December 23, 2010, the Finance Ministry Ord. N° 1495, authorized the profits for 2007 to be capitalized, of
ThUS$ 49,632, whose transfer to the National Treasury was temporarily suspended by Ord. N° 1272 dated 2007.
By Order N° 1292 dated June 15, 2012 the Finance Ministry authorized a policy of profit distribution in order to
contribute to the company’s stability and recomposition, in the following terms:
a) Authorize the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize the profits obtained in 2010.
b) Authorize the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize 100% of the profits obtained in 2011, according to the
audited financial statements.
c) Review of the Company’s financial position, to decide whether authorizing the capitalization of the subsidiaries’
and parent’s profits is appropriate, as long as the tax losses continue.
Furthermore,through Ord. N° 1125 dated May 20, 2013; the Ministry of Finance authorized the subsidiary ENAP
Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize 100% of the profits obtained in 2012, according to the audited financial statements.
On April 9, 2014 in Ord. N° 733 the Ministry of Finance authorized the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. to capitalize
earnings in 2013 for ThUS$ 115.492, whose transfer to the National Treasury was temporarily suspended in Ord. N°
1590 dated 2013.

b) Paid-in capital
The detail of the paid in capital as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is the following:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Paid-in capital

1,232,332

1,232,332

Total

1,232,332

1,232,332

ENAP is a state-owned company (100% property of the Republic of Chile) and its capital is not divided into shares.
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Capital management
The main purpose of capital management, referring to management of the company’s equity, is management of ENAP
Group’s capital, according to the following detail:


Ensure the normal functioning of its operations and the continuity of its business in the long-term and secure the
supply of liquid fuel for the country.



Ensure the financing of new investments in order to maintain continuous growth in the future and full
compliance with the specifications of the fuels authorized in Chile.



Maintain an adequate capital structure according to the economic cycles that impact the business and the
corresponding nature of the industry.

For these purposes, and considering the current capital strengthening at ENAP, its value and evolution are controlled
and reported to the Company’s Board of Directors every month. They decide in each case the steps to be followed,
communication with the Ministry of Finance, and manage the company.
Other Reserves
As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 this item is composed as follows:
De tail

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Foreign exchange differences on translation (ii)
Held to sale
Cash flow hedge (i)
Actuarial reserves in defined benefit plans
Other sundry reserves (iii)

(76,561)
1,190
(8,684)
(4,615)
27,270

(74,282)
1,190
(66,697)
341
27,195

Total

(61,400)

(112,253)

i) Cash flows hedging

Total
12.31.2013
ThUS$

Movement
2014
ThUS$

Total
12.31.14
ThUS$

Income /(loss) recognized in the cash flow hedges of:
Cross-currency swap / Bonds and financial leases
SWAP and Option ZCC interest rate bank loans
Forward of foreign exchange contracts
Swap investee in associates
TSS y SDI
Deferred income tax derivatives

(11,090)
(30,330)
1,070
(23,598)
(16,073)
13,324

(1,713)
10,029
294
23,598
29,738
(3,933)

(12,803)
(20,301)
1,364
13,665
9,391

Total

(66,697)

58,013

(8,684)

70

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014

(In thousands of dollars)

ii) Foreign exchange differences on translation

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Balance at the beginning of the year
Results of changesin investees with accounting in foreign currency

(74,282)
(2,279)

(54,798)
(19,484)

Total

(76,561)

(74,282)

iii) Other sundry reserves

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Initial balance
Others

27,195
75

27,671
(476)

Total

27,270

27,195

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

d) Accumulated losses

Balance at the beginning of the year
Income (loss) for the year
Effect of corporate income tax rate changes (*)
Net variation retained earnings (accumulated loss)

(902,217)
154,937
109,495
(42)

(1,034,262)
132,418
(373)

Total

(637,827)

(902,217)

* Official Memorandum Nº 856 issued by the Superintendency of Securities and Insurance of Chile, dated October 17,
2014, states that the differences in deferred tax assets and liabilities arising as a direct effect of the increase in the
corporate tax rates introduced by Law N°20.780 must be accounted for in the respective year against equity. The
resulting credit amounted to ThUS$ 109,495, booked in these financial statements as of December 31, 2014. See note
N° 13 d).
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25.

NON – CONTROLLING INTEREST

The detail by company of the participation of third parties in the equity and results of subsidiaries as of December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, is the following:

Entity

Non - controlling

Income (loss)
attributable to

interest
in equity
12.31.2014
12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

non - controlling
interest
12.31.2014 12.31.2013
ThUS$
ThUS$

Structured Entity
Enap Refinerías S.A.

12,404
67

12,685
35

1,656
5

1,567
16

Total

12,471

12,720

1,661

1,583

26.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment criteria
The segment structure used by ENAP and defined by the Board of Directors of ENAP, and in accordance of IFRS 8, is
firstly related to its business lines and secondly, according to its geographical distribution.
The aforementioned lines of business are E&P (Exploration and Production); and R&C (Refining and Marketing).
Main business segments of the consolidated group:
 E&P includes exploration for hydrocarbons (oil and natural gas) and geothermal resources, as well as their
development, production and marketing, inside and outside Chile, in Argentina, Ecuador and Egypt. Abroad, ENAP
operates through its subsidiary Sipetrol S.A. and in Chile through ENAP in Magellan where it manages hydrocarbon
exploration and production assets in the XII Region. Furthermore, it conducts gas exploration through Special
Operations Contracts (CEOP) on the Coirón, Caupolicán, Lenga and Dorado-Riquelme Blocks, in alliance with Pan
American Energy LLC, Greymount and Methanex respectively, all located in the Magellan Region.
In November 2012 the Comptroller General of the Republic of Chile registered two new ENAP CEOPs, in alliance
with Geopark for the areas of Flamenco and Isla Norte.
 R&C includes Refining, Optimizing, Logistics, Trading, Market Development and Sales. ENAP’s Refining and
Commercial activities are managed by the subsidiary ENAP Refinerias S.A.. Its business is purchasing crude oil on the
international market and subsequently refining and selling the finished products.
ENAP Refinerías S.A.’s crude oil supply is mostly obtained from South America and Europe. ENAP Refinerías S.A.
is the only company in Chile that refines petroleum and the most important one on the pacific coast of Central and
South America. It has three refineries:
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Aconcagua Refinery located in the Valparaiso Region, Bio Bio Refinery in the Bio Bio Region and Gregorio Refinery
in the Magellan Region. These refineries have the facilities needed to receive and store the raw material, among them
there are 5 seaport terminals located at Quintero, San Vicente, Easter Island, Cabo Negro and Gregorio, these last two
in the Magallanes Region.
Liquid and gas fuel storage and transport, its wholesale and export is the Storage and Pipeline Department’s
responsibility (DAO, for its acronym in Spanish: Dirección de Almacenamiento y Oleoducto) which manages the
logistics infrastructure.
The Board of Directors and General Manager of ENAP are in charge of the decision making process regarding the
administration, allocation of resources and regarding the performance assessment of each of the above described
operating segments.
Segment information of these businesses as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:
December 31, 2014
E&P
ThUS$
Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

R&C
ThUS$

(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

688,798
137,333
(563,485)
(62,869)

9,147,848
341,622
(8,794,614)
(416,086)

(478,955)
478,955

9,836,645
(9,358,098)
-

Gross margin
Other income, per function
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses by function
Other income
Financial income
Financial costs
Participation in the earnings of associates
Exchange differences

199,777
8,373
(8,896)
(40,959)
(26,876)
5,067
(3,303)
(1)
(7,162)

278,770
25,207
(147,750)
(24,282)
(11,384)
2,132
1,032
(116,769)
1,395
12,995

4,061
(4,152)
(21,066)
(2,487)
(299)
1,516
(59,097)
17,291
(13,862)

478,547
37,641
(160,798)
(86,307)
(40,747)
1,833
7,615
(179,169)
18,685
(8,029)

Income (loss) before taxes

126,020

21,346

(78,095)

69,271

(Expense) revenues for income taxes

(24,399)

(2,304)

114,030

87,327

Income (loss)

101,621

19,042

35,935

156,598

Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

101,516
105

15,106
3,936

38,315
(2,380)

154,937
1,661

Income (Loss)

101,621

19,042

35,935

156,598
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December 31, 2013
E&P
ThUS$
Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

R&C
ThUS$

(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

638,252
187,261
(466,152)
(89,831)

10,572,467
386,733
(10,171,543)
(484,163)

(573,994)
573,994

11,210,719
(10,637,695)
-

Gross margin
Other income, per function
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses by function
Other income
Financial income
Financial costs
Participation in the earnings of associates
Exchange differences

269,530
10,449
(8,802)
(39,826)
(90,025)
5,213
1,088
(7,407)
1
(1,879)

303,494
39,243
(168,170)
(29,198)
3,461
121,561
1,695
(129,747)
17,240
(23,807)

6,609
(3,933)
(20,114)
(3,464)
(1,046)
2,997
(60,285)
12,851
538

573,024
56,301
(180,905)
(89,138)
(90,028)
125,728
5,780
(197,439)
30,092
(25,148)

Income (loss) before taxes

138,342

135,772

(65,847)

208,267

(Expense) revenues for income taxes

(38,259)

(42,758)

6,751

(74,266)

Income (loss)

100,083

93,014

(59,096)

134,001

99,942
141

90,078
2,936

(57,602)
(1,494)

132,418
1,583

100,083

93,014

(59,096)

134,001

Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests
Income (Loss)

(1) This column contains the elimination adjustments on consolidation, the transactions of revenues and costs for the
purchase/sale of products and raw material between the companies of the ENAP Group are the most relevant items.
Also the costs not distributed to the segments such as administrative costs associated with corporate items, results of
associates, other gains and losses and finance income and costs.
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A detail of income by products and geographical area is as follows:

Sale by products

Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

12.31.2014
Refining and
Marketing
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

12.31.2013
Refining and
Marketing
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Crude
Gas
Liquefied petroleum gas
Gasoline
Kerosene
Diesel
Fuel Oil
Petrochemical
Other products
Sale of services, national
Sale of services, foreign
Other income, national
Other income, foreign

423,701
141,345
22,825
86,973
1,575
12,379

263,713
393,305
211,633
3,272,577
733,228
3,371,053
718,507
107,553
73,131
1,218
1,929
-

687,414
534,650
211,633
3,272,577
733,228
3,371,053
718,507
107,553
73,131
24,043
86,973
3,504
12,379

373,410
130,328
15,233
86,620
3,774
28,886

203,783
397,978
315,186
3,480,866
734,422
4,329,164
865,918
119,244
109,335
918
15,654
-

577,193
528,306
315,186
3,480,866
734,422
4,329,164
865,918
119,244
109,335
16,151
86,620
19,428
28,886

Total

688,798

9,147,847

9,836,645

638,251

10,572,468

11,210,719

Geographical sales

Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

12.31.2014
Refining and
Marketing
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Exploration and
Production
ThUS$

12.31.2013
Refining and
Marketing
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

National
Foreign

121,840
566,958

8,754,710
393,137

8,876,550
960,095

113,961
524,290

9,752,503
819,965

9,866,464
1,344,255

Total

688,798

9,147,847

9,836,645

638,251

10,572,468

11,210,719

The marketing of refined products by ENAP Refinerias S.A. is channeled through wholesale distribution companies of
fuels and other products. This subsidiary has contracts to supply its major clients, ensuring an adequate supply of fuel
throughout the country. The ENAP Group’s main clients at a national level are Copec, Petrobras, Terpel, Lipigas,
Abastecedora de Combustibles S.A. and Methanex.
ENAP Refinerías S.A. continued selling part of its production in the regional markets, particularly Peru, Ecuador and
Central America.
Assets and liabilities for by Operating Segments
Currently the ENAP Group does not control and register its assets by reportable segments in its internal reporting
system; consequently such information is not used by the Board as part of de decision-making process and allocation
of resources. The financial liabilities of ENAP are centralized and controlled at a corporate level and are not presented
by reportable segment.
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27.

REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

The detail of this item at December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows

Detail

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Sale of crude oil
Sale of gas
Gas subsidy income
Sale of refined products
Sale of oil services
Other operating income

687,414
479,677
54,973
8,487,682
111,016
15,883

577,193
470,322
57,984
9,959,091
102,772
43,357

Total

9,836,645

11,210,719

(1) As set forth in the 2014 Public Sector Budget Law (Law N°20.713 dated December 2013), the Ministry of Energy
is authorized to compensate ENAP up to a maximum annual amount of ThCh$ 31,998,845. This compensation covers
the lower value of the sales of gas produced in the Magellan Region and the Chilean Antarctic compared to the cost of
sales (production and distribution) and it can be considered as the reimbursement of additional resources intended for
possible gas purchases aimed at meeting the demand in that Region, according to the established procedure.

28.

COSTS OF SALES

The detail of this item at December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Crude oil and gas cost
Cost of refined products
Cost on service sale
Other operating costs (1)

1,188,377
7,993,737
93,511
82,473

960,159
9,104,338
92,653
480,545

Totals

9,358,098

10,637,695

(1)
As of December 31, 2014, the other operating costs include a charge of ThUS$194,595 as a result of the
adjustment to inventories to their net realizable value, offset with a credit for the same amount for the accrued effect of
the cash flow hedges (TSS). This compensation reflects the hedging strategy defined by the company, in accordance
with IAS 39 ”Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”, which aims at associating the future hedged cash
flows with the hedge effect. In this case, the future hedged cash flows correspond to the net realizable value.
In addition to the foregoing, the other operating costs reflect the net effect of the hedge settlements during the year,
whose purpose was to hedge the cash flow exposure associated with the cost of sales in the ordinary sales operations.
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29.

DISTRIBUTION COSTS

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, distribution costs are detailed as follows:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Logistics contracts

11,042

10,802

Crude and gas freight
Oil pipeline freights
Maritime freights
Ground products freights
Personnel
Others

3,155
38,249
68,769
9,322
11,679
18,582

5,748
41,300
85,139
9,084
13,324
15,508

160,798

180,905

Total
30.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, administrative expenses are detailed as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Personnel
Services
Insurance
Depreciation
Others

55,551
17,216
1,693
2,074
9,773

59,434
15,917
813
1,088
11,886

Total

86,307

89,138

31.

OTHER EXPENSES PER FUNCTION

The detail of this item at December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Geological and geophisical studies
Dry exploration and abandonment wells
Exploration Costs
Disposal of property, plant and equipment
Labor fines, severance indemnities, contract termination
Selling cost of Internal energy
Others

1,581
211
12,861
475
9,949
15,670

17,277
52,606
12,580
382
1,659
5,524

Total

40,747

90,028
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32.

FINANCIAL COSTS

The detail of this item at December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:
12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Interests from overdraft and bank borrowings
Interests from bonds payable
Interests from lease obligations
Other financial liabilities
Expenses for interests accounts payable
Other expense related to interests

38,329
115,835
172
827
13,324
602

56,003
110,945
111
1,201
16,161
1,760

Total expenses for interests

169,089

186,181

7,180
2,900

10,146
1,850

Concepts

Income / Loss for liquidations from derivatives (swap)
Accrued interests for swap
Less:
Capitalized interests
Total

33.

179,169

(738)
197,439

OTHER INCOME (LOSS)

As of December 31, 2013, a profit of ThUS$ 110,665 is added in this item as a result of the sale of Manu Perú Holding
S.A. subsidiary, and of its respective direct associates: Primax S.A., Primax Comercial del Ecuador S.A. and
ATIMASA. This transaction took place on December 23, 2013 for US$ 255 million net of taxes paid in the country
where the investment took place.

34.

PERSONNEL EXPENSES

The detail of this item as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

Wages and salaries
Short term benefits for employees
Other personnel expenses
Other long-term benefits

148,298
111,147
9,982
29,139

173,244
120,161
12,099
26,795

Total

298,566

332,299
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35.

EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the detail of the assets and liabilities generating exchange differences
which are (debited) credited to net income are as follows:

Concepts
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Forward income (loss)
Due from related companies, current
Income tax payable
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Current accruals
non-current accruals
Other financial liabilities, current and non-current
Income (loss) hedging other financial liabilities, current and non-current
Other
Total

36.

12.31.2013
ThUS$

(20,525)
(82,970)
65,592
(2,413)
(13,214)
26,691
5,336
20,465
85,590
(86,561)
(6,020)

(4,486)
(59,840)
19,990
(997)
(3,561)
10,892
2,426
9,867
62,370
(58,265)
(3,544)

(8,029)

(25,148)

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Other non-financial assets, current
Trade and other receivables, current

Current tax assets

Other financial assets, non-current

Rights receivable, non-current
Investments recorded using the equity method
Deferred taxes assets

Total

12.31.2014
ThUS$

Currency

Funcional
Currency

Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos
British Pound
Egyptian Pound
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Swiss Franc
Chilean Pesos
UF
UF
Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

12.31.2014
ThUS$

12.31.2013
ThUS$

51,462
34,513
82
29,353
595,893
298
3,869
21,015
46,462
2,146
7
15
15,527
389
3,369
9,538

63,892
362
82
31,118
2
830,334
216
6,862
15,007
12,876
1,427
8
18,969
4,621
18
18,566
409
6,083
3,389

813,938

1,014,241
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Liabilities
Other financial liabilities, current

Trade creditors and other accounts payable

Other short-term accruals
Current tax liabilities

Current accruals for employee benefits

Other financial liabilities non-current

Liabilities, non-current
Other accruals, non-current
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for employee benefits

Other non financial liabilities, non-current

Currency

Funcional
Currency

UF
Argentine Pesos
Swiss Franc
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Swiss Franc
Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
Argentine Pesos
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentine Pesos
Argentine Pesos

Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars
Dollars

Total

37.

Up to 90
Days
ThUS$

12.31.2014
91 days to
1 year up
1 year
to 5 years
ThUS$
ThUS$

More than
5 years
ThUS$

Up to 90
Days
ThUS$

12.31.2013
91 days to
1 year up
1 year
to 5 years
ThUS$
ThUS$
-

More than
5 years
ThUS$

13,651
68
320
31,947
561,616
28,003
41
60,962
2,783
22,540
17,788
3,735
2,110
1,122
-

1,326
205
457
558
11,701
2,111
-

528,536
140
234,727
2,243
2,083
43,748
31,275
818

151,104
73,927
-

21,410
660
503
82,310

3,862
514
-

-

23,690
69
84,795
283
18,449
16,958
5,612
3,053
-

12,037
-

94,264
240,146
2,480
179
42,956
16,263
16,575
-

601,366
42,078
35,222
2,646
-

746,686

16,358

843,570

225,031

257,792

16,413

412,863

681,312

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION

The following section contains a brief description of projects related to enhancement and/or investments in productive
processes, verification, compliance with ordinance and laws regarding processes and industrial installations and any
other that may directly or indirectly affect the environment:

ENAP Sipetrol S.A.:
The resources allocated to environmental projects and initiatives in ENAP Sipetrol, for its subsidiaries in Argentina
and Ecuador, relate to the constant water, soil, air quality and biotic environment monitoring systems. Another
relevant aspect relates to the Environmental Management System certified in the ISO 14001 standard, as well as the
monitoring and following-up of the Environmental Management Plan for the assets in Pampa del Castillo in
Argentina, and MDC and PBH in Ecuador. The remediation of environmental liabilities in Ecuador is also considered
a relevant matter. Finally, the preparation processes of Environmental Impact Studies for the Intracampos block
Survey Project in Ecuador should be noted. The approximate amount for the Environmental Projects and Initiatives of
ENAP Sipetrol for 2014 is approximately USD 1.4 million.

ENAP Magallanes:
The resources allocated to environmental projects and initiatives in ENAP Magallanes are related to ongoing
operations, which is mainly considered the management and control of industrial waste, including monitoring, disposal
and normalization of the related installations, as well as recovery works on environmental incidents. Another matter is
related to obtaining environmental permits for the new Drilling, Hydraulic Fracturing and facility construction projects
portfolio, as well as following-up with commitments to the environmental authorities. Finally, the multi-annual
Environmental Liabilities project, which consists of environmental cleansing at locations in the Magallanes Region.
The approximate amount of the Environmental Initiatives for ENAP Magallanes during 2014 is USD 1.5 million.
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ENAP Refinerías S.A.:
Bio Bio Refinery:
The focus and resources allocated to Environmental Projects and Initiatives at the Bio Bio refinery are mainly related
to the execution of several commitments to the Concepcion Appeals Court (ICA) and the Superintendence of the
Environment (SMA). The Projects and Initiatives related to the ICA are an odor mitigation plan whose main purpose
is the management of odors that result from oil refining activity, that affect the adjoining communities. The plan
includes Short (1 year), Middle (5 years) and Long-Term (10 years) Projects and Initiatives. The Action Plan
presented to the SMA includes projects and initiatives that are related to improvements to the current atmospheric
emissions abatement systems. The estimated amount of environmental projects and initiatives at the Company in 2014
is approximately USD 13 million.

Aconcagua Refinery:
The environmental projects and initiatives for the Aconcagua refinery during 2014 form part of a Long Term Work
Plan and are focused on activities that identify and implement improvements regarding noise emissions, monitoring of
atmospheric emissions, solid waste management and general compliance with current Environmental Certification
Resolutions. The approximate amount of projects and initiatives at the Company in 2014 is USD 9 million.
A hydrocarbon spillage qualified as a medium disaster by the Maritime Authority occurred on September 24, 2014 at
the Quintero’s Maritime Terminal. This arose from the excess traction of the ocean tug Puyehue over the B/T Mimosa
under instructions from the pilot onboard. His inability to control the situation obliged ENAP Refinerias S.A. to
invoke a Maritime Fluvial Contingency Plan and its successive stages of control, confinement, cleaning and
remediation of the affected zones. During 2014, the amounts associated with the expenses incurred in the
implementation of the mentioned plan reached US$ 8 million.

38.

PENDING LAWSUITS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

There are several pending lawsuits and legal actions against ENAP Group derived from the nature of its operations.
These lawsuits are mainly related to civil, tax and labor matters.
At the time of presenting these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements, no additional accounting provisions have
been made additional to those shown in “Other accruals”. In the opinion of the company’s management and its legal
counsel the portion not provided of these lawsuits do not represent a probable material loss, and the probability of a
present obligation is less than the probability of its non-existence or this probability is remote, under the terms of the
IAS 37.
Pending lawsuits that could result in a materiality exceeding ThUS$ 5,000 or having a material adverse effect, and
their status at the date of these consolidated financial statements, are detailed as follows:
In Chile:
ENAP Refinerías S.A. (Aconcagua):
Parties: Transportes León y Cárcamo Limitada vs ENAP Refinerias S.A.
Case C-20262-2012; 15th Civil Court of Santiago.
Matter: Specific performance of contract and compensation for damages
Claimed amount: Ch$3,545,571,123.Proceeding: Summary.
Brief record of facts: The carrier claims for overland transport services of pressurized fuel products.
Current status: Mr. Osvaldo Contreras Strauch was designated by the court, in his capacity as arbitrator. Judge’s
announcement that case is closed and he is considering his judgment.
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Parties: ENAP Refinerias S.A. vs Sociedad Nacional Marítima S.A.
Case Nº: 18.466-2012; 16th Civil Court of Santiago/Arbitration Board (R. Abahuad).
Matter : Compensation for damages.
Claimed amount: US$20,059,018.43
Proceeding: Summary.
Brief record of facts: Claim for damages relating to the collision of B/T Punta Angamos against the monobuoy
moorings at the Quintero Maritime Terminal.
Current status: Court issued ruling to begin evidentiary stage.
Parties: ENAP Refinerias S.A. vs Gasvalpo S.A.
Case N° 1741-2013; Arbitration Board.
Claimed amount: Considering that it involves cross claims, the total claimed amount is US$ 217 million. However, the
claim filed by GasValpo against ERSA is a part of that sum for US$ 137 million.
Proceeding: Arbitration.
Brief record of facts: ENAP Refinerías S.A. declared a supply agreement between GNL and Gas Valpo S.A. as
terminated, together with other related agreements.
Current status: Closing hearing is pending. The parties requested, by common consent, a suspension of the
proceedings with the aim of directly negotiating a settlement.
Parties: ENAP Refinerias S.A. vs Shipowners of the Motor Vessel LR Mimosa and/or freighters and/or
operators.
Case: C-17-2014; Court of Appeals of Valparaíso
Subject-matter : Compensation for damages
Claimed amount: USD 23 million
Brief record of facts: Crude oil spillage by the B/T Mimosa at the Quintero bay.
Current status: ERSA lodged a complaint which was admitted for proceedings.
Entitled: Hydrocarbon spillage dated September 24, 2014
Case N/A; Valparaíso Port Authority/Valparaiso Port Governor
Subject matter: Hydrocarbon spillage into the sea.
Claimed amount: 100,000 gold weight units
Proceeding: Action under administrative law, Navy
Brief record of facts: Crude oil spillage by the B/T Mimosa at the Quintero bay.
Current status: The Valparaiso port governor ordered the port prosecutor to reopen the administrative summary
investigation.
ENAP Refinerías S.A. (Biobío)
Parties: Cárdenas Barría et al. (320 neighbors) vs ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.
Case: 3542-2014; Court of Appeals of Concepción.
Subject-matter: Writ of protection.
Claimed amount: Undetermined.
Brief record of facts: Neighbors file writ of protection against the Biobío refinery due to unpleasant odors.
Current status: On October 21, 2014 a holding writ is rejected, which intended to bring the refinery operation to a
standstill. On January 12, 2015, both parties request by common consent to suspend the proceedings until March 30, 2015.
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Parties: Mendoza Mendoza, Luis vs ENAP Refinerías S.A. et al.
Case: 4-2007; Judge of the Court of Appeals of Concepcion, Ms. Juana Godoy. All compensation claims were
accumulated to this cause filed and notified in time and form. The procedure followed in the referred lawsuit corresponds
to a special plenary action of article 153, Navigation Law.
Brief record of facts: A compensation for damages is requested based on the extra contractual liability as a consequence of
a spillage.
Current status: The legal action has started its evidentiary stage. At this date, transactional agreements have been entered
into with 4,025 plaintiffs, mainly non-industrial fishers, seaweeders and shipowners, totaling US$ 6,199,255.39.
Conversations and negotiations are being held with the remaining 190 plaintiffs.
Parties: Carte vs ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. ENAP ET AL.
Case: 1999-2014; 1st Civil Court of Talcahuano.
Subject-matter: Probatory pre-trial measure (production of documents)
Claimed amount: It does not apply. Future civil compensation claim.
Brief record of facts: Neighbors of the ERSA-Hualpén plant have filed a pre-trial measure against ERSA and public
bodies with the aim of obtaining information to support a future civil complaint.
Current status: Still pending.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A:
Parties: ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Case: 13289-328-2010. Court: General Directorate of Customs of Río Grande, Province of Tierra del Fuego.
Subject-matter: Adjustment of export settlements corresponding to customs charges N° 339/07 through 397/07.
Claimed amount: US$ 5,280,175.1
Brief record of facts: Charges brought due to differences in the valuation of oil export occurred in the period 2002-2006.
Current status: The case is ready to pronounce judgment
ENAP Sipec, (Ecuador):
Labor: There are 13 actions under labor laws against ENAP Sipetrol S.A., filed before the labor courts of Pichincha,
which claim compensation for damages relating to 15% of profits earned by the company from 2003 to 2010. Claimed
amounts are ThUS$ 500 each, on average. Complaints are in different procedural stages, although most of them are
awaiting judgment.
Parties: SUMINISTROS INDUSTRIALES PETROLEROS vs ENAP SIPETROL S.A.
Case: Arbitration 005-13. Ecuadorian American Chamber of Commerce – AMCHAM QUITO.
Subject-matter: Civil.
Claimed amount: ThUS$ 500
Brief record of facts: Suministros Industriales Petroleros Sipetrol S.A. claims a change in trade name of ENAP
SIPETROL S.A
Current status: Arbitration terminated for rejection of complaint and counterclaim.
Parties: ENAP SIPETROL S.A. vs the SRI.
Case: Lawsuit Nº 0129
Court: Fourth Room of Tax District Court.
Claimed amount: ThUS$3,787 approx.
Brief record of facts: The SRI assessed the income tax and advance payments corresponding to economic year 2006
for SIPEC.
Current status: Awaiting judgment.

83

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014

(In thousands of dollars)

Parties: ENAP SIPETROL S.A. vs the SRI.
Case:.17504-2009-0069. Fourth Room of Tax District Court No.1.
Claimed amount: ThUS$2,800 approx.
Brief record of facts: The SRI denied administrative claim proposed by ENAP SIPEC contesting the Assessment of
income tax for economic year 2005.
Current status: Awaiting judgment.
Parties: ENAP SIPETROL S.A. vs the SRI.
Case: 0036
Court: Third Room of Tax District Court
Claimed amount: USD. 1,062,781 approx.Brief record of facts: Contested items for tax period 2008 referring to investment amortization expenses and others
Current status: Submission of experts’ report
Commercial Commitments:
The Company has the following commercial commitments related to its operations:
(1) PETROPOWER
As part of the signing of the Partners ‘Agreement between ENAP Refinerías S.A. and Foster Wheeler, related to the
Petropower project, dated January 1996, ENAP Refinerías S.A. issued a liability statement regarding the obligations
arising from such agreement.
In relation to the Petropower project, ENAP Refinerías S.A. entered into an agreement in 1994 committing itself to the
payment of an annual processing fee of approximately US$17.4 million as consideration for the right to operate its
Coker- HDT Plant, plus an annual fee of approximately US$ 9.9 million for the supply of certain energy products.
This agreement is subject to annual fee increments until its expiration date in 2018.
Other conditions involving the Petropower project agreement require, (in case of a reduction in the annual income
defined in the processing contract and business agreements and after the Operator of the plant has contributed 10% of
such shortfall), that ENAP and its subsidiary, ENAP Refinerías S.A., contribute in equal shares with Foster Wheeler to
cover the balance of such shortfall, which should not exceed US$ 1.4 million per year.
In addition, ENAP Refinerías S.A. is committed to either purchase or arrange for the sale of assets of Petropower
Energía Ltda. for not less than US$ 43.0 million at the expiration of the agreement in 2018 or on any other date agreed
by the parties.
(2) GNL CHILE
On May 31, 2007, ENAP Refinerías S.A. signed a natural gas supply contract with LNG Chile S.A. This contract
guarantees the LNG supply for the operation of its Aconcagua Refinery in Concón.
This contract has a 21-year term, starting on the Early Commercial Operation Date (ECOD), allowing ERSA
unrestricted access to 3.2 million cubic meters or natural regasified gas per day, as long as ERSA can secure the
corresponding LNG contracts. On the same date, GNL Chile S.A. signed a contract with BG allowing ENAP
Refinerías S.A. to access a maximum annual contractual quantity of LNG, equivalent to 2.2 million cubic meters of
natural liquid gas per day. On June 15, 2010, the LNG Supply Contract is contract was amended to include the Truck
Loading Facility, allowing ENAP Refinerías S.A. access to an additional quantity of approximately 1,165 cubic meters
of liquid natural gas per day.
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The supply of LNG started in August 2009. The contract obligations assumed by ENAP Refinerías S.A. under the
LNG Supply Contract have been guaranteed by its parent company, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo.
In order to obtain the aforementioned daily capacity, both of regasified natural gas and LNG to be transported in
tanker trucks, ENAP Refinerías S.A. acquired the commitment of the annual payment of approximately ThUS$
69,000, as long as the Gas Sales Agreement was valid, to GNL Chile S.A. This company signed the Terminal Use
Agreement with GNL Quintero S.A. on May 31, 2007. Under these conditions, the annual amount is subsequently paid
by GNL Chile S.A. to GNL Quintero S.A. regarding the provision of the natural gas storage, regasification and
transport to the delivery and loading point of the tanker trucks with GNL.
The above referred contract is part of a series of commercial contracts of the LNG Project, which was finally
concluded in May 31, 2007. The LNG Project has as its main purpose the purchasing of liquid natural gas (LNG) from
abroad, to be stored and regasified at the Regasifying Facility located in Quintero and Puchuncavi, Valparaiso Region,
to be later supplied as natural gas to the south and central regions of the country.
On December 14, 2012, a new amendment to the Gas Sales Agreement was signed, caused by the signing of a new
GNL supply agreement on the same date between GNL Chile S.A. and BG, its LNG supplier. This amendment allows
ENAP Refinerías S.A. to have access to quantities of natural gas under new commercial conditions from January 1,
2013. These commercial conditions establish a Take or Pay clause of 29,693,766 Mbtus annually.
(3) EMPRESA DE GAS DE LA V REGION S.A.
On April 9, 2009 ENAP Refinerías S.A. and Empresa de Gas de la V Región S.A. (Gas Valpo) signed a Supply
Contract and other related agreements by virtue of which ERSA committed in supplying natural gas to Gas Valpo.
This Supply contract gas entered into alongside the Flexible LNG Sale and Purchase agreement and the Fixed LNG
SPA Sale and Purchase Agreement signed between GNL Chile S.A. and BG LNG Trading, LLC by reason of the
start-up of the Storage and Regasification Terminal owned by GNL Quintero S.A. which allows ERSA to acquire
natural gas from LNG (“LNG contracts”). The validity of the Supply Contract was subjected to the GNL contracts
Effective January 1, 2013 GNL Chile S.A. ceased providing LNG to be resold to ERSA, by virtue of the
aforementioned LNG contracts; accordingly, the Supply Contract with Gas Valpo and other related contracts were
terminated. These related contracts are a Supply Contract and a Peaking Contract. After the termination of the Supply
Contract and its related contracts, ERSA has continued supplying natural gas to Gas Valpo at a provisional price.

Restrictions:
ENAP - At December 31, 2014, the Company has no restrictions or covenants to comply with its creditor banks and
public bonds.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. - According to applicable Argentine legislation the company must allocate 5% of the
year’s income to building a statutory reserve, which is an account forming part of the net shareholders’ equity, until
such reserve is equal to 20% of the adjusted paid-in capital.

Pledges from third parties:
ENAP - On December 31, 2014, ENAP Group has not received pledges from third parties.
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39.

GUARANTEES COMMITTED WITH THIRD PARTIES

Direct Guarantees
Creditor of the guarantee

Description

Type of Guarantee

Banco Latinoamericano de
Comerrcio Exterior S.A.

ENAP’s security for faithful performance of payment (Argentina loan)

Special guarantee
letter to first complaint

55,000

BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until March 2,
2015.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until January,
2015.

Letter of Credit

25,506

Letter of Credit

20,110

BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL

ThUS$

Ministerio de Energía
Termoeléctrica Colmito Ltda
Secretaría de Hidrocarburos de
Ecuador
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL
BG LNG Trading, LLC-GNL

Guarantee faithful performance of investment and exploration works of CEOP Caupolican Block
Guarantees the faithful and timely fulfilment of the obligations contracted through the energy
contract valid until December 31, 2015.

Guarantee faithful and timely performance of obligations incurred in energy contract

Letter of Credit
Bank Guarantee
Ballot
Immediate collection
bail.
Letter of Credit
Deutsche Bank
Letter of Credit
Banco de Chile
Bank performance
bond
Bank performance
bond
Bank performance
bond

Faithfull performance of contract (several)

Insurance policy

692

Faithfull performance of contract MDC Extension

Insurance policy
Immediate collection
surety bond

673

Guarantee of contract
Pledge of shares

425

Guarantee of 20% of activities and investment in Bloque 3 Jambelí.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until January,
2015.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until January,
2016.

Ministerio de Energía
Ministerio de Energía

Guarantee the abandonment of CEOP Cuapolican Block well
Guarantee faithful performanceof investment and exploration works of CEOP Dorado Riquelme
Block

Ministerio de Energía
Ministerio de medio ambiente
(Ec)
Ministerio de medio ambiente
(Ec)
Servicio de Rentas
Internas Ecuador
BBVA Banco Francés (Arg.)
Banco BNP Paribas

Société Généralé
Citigroup

10% guarantee of undue payment claim, years 2003 to 2008
Faithfull performance of contract
Pledge on 22,199,866 shares of Productora de Diesel S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee the
repayment of credit obtained to finance the project, amount to ThUS$110,451 which is valid until
2016.
Pledge on 100,000 shares of Compañía de Hidrogeno del Bío Bío S.A. owned by ENAP to
guarantee the repayment of credit obtained to finance the project, which is valid until 2015.
Pledge of 1,010,000 shares of Energía Concón S.A. shares owned by ENAP Refinerias S.A.,
guaranteeing the payment of the loan obtained to finance the project until 2020.

7,200
6,500
2,300
1,500
1,500
857
788
695

666

Pledge of shares
Pledge of shares
-
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40.

CONSOLIDATION ENVIRONMENT

a) Below is a detail of the percentage interest held in companies that have been consolidated:
Ownership pecentage
Company
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera Enap Ecuador S.A.

Country

Currency

US dollar
Chile
Chile
US dollar
Argentine
US dollar
Chile
Chilean pesos
Chile
US dollar
Chile
US dollar
Chile
US dollar
Chile
US dollar
Chile
US dollar
Argentine
US dollar
United Kingdom US dollar
Uruguay
US dollar
Ecuador

US dollar

Percentage with voting
rights
12.31.2014
12.31.2013

12.31.2014

12.31.2013

99.98%
100%
100%
100%
(1)
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%

99.98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%

99.98%
100%
100%
100%
(1)
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%

99.98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
10%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Relationship
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Special purpose entity
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary

(1)
On December 10, 2014, ENAP sold 2,087 shares of Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. for ThUS$ 3,800 to its subsidiary
ENAP Refinerías S.A., which represented 20.87% interest in the share capital, equivalent to the book value of the
shares. Through this transaction, all the shares in Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. remained under the control ENAP Refinerías
S.A., with the company being dissolved in accordance with article 103 N°2 of the Stock Corporation Act.
b) The business of consolidated companies:
Company

Activity

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.

Purchase and refining of crude oil and by-products
Exploration, production and marketing of hydrocarbons and render advisory services in Chile and abroad
Petroleum services

Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Biocomsa S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.

Manufacturing of other chemical products N.C.P.
Data processing services
Feasibility study
Processing and construction services of refineries, by-products
Biomass production and it transformation into biofuel
Construction and operation of an industrial plant, located in the facilities of Enap Refinerías S.A., in the district of
Talcahuano and destined to the production of high quality hydrogen
Generation of Uniones Transitorias de Empresas (UTE) [similar to Joint Ventures], collaboration groups, joint venture,
consortiums or other kinds of associations to explore, exploit and transport hydrocarbons
Prospections, explore, develop, maintain and work with land, wells, mines and mining exploitation rights, drilling rights
and concessions in areas containing oil, gas or other minerals.
Make and administrate investments. One or more of the activities related to the exploration, exploitation or benefits
from fields containing hydrocarbons.
Exploration, exploitation, processing, distribution, marketing, transport and oil services

Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera Enap Ecuador

Import, export and operation in general of all kinds of fuels and by-products, specially natural gas in any of its phases.
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c) Summary financial information on subsidiaries, including the special-purpose entity.
December 31, 2014
Company
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera Enap Ecuador

December 31, 2013
Company
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Biocomsa S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol (UK) Limited
Sipetrol International S.A.
Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera Enap Ecuador

41.

Assets
Current
Non-current
ThUS$
ThUS$
1,517,981
2,191,399
196,712
702,867
1,083
1
664
3,848
7,020
15,937
68,789
332,979
27,433
24,869
3,942
16,857
79,960
390,090
1,215
94,000
104,223
6

-

Assets
Current
Non-current
ThUS$
ThUS$
2,058,630
2,184,988
194,049
525,929
1,312
728
3,369
10,512
13,697
2,527
18,315
58,018
351,881
21,997
37,228
537
1,977
3,546
19,395
63,817
317,931
1,215
104,776
130,374
6

Liabilities
Current
Non-current
ThUS$
ThUS$
3,019,763
331,413
140,805
182,677
38
21
2,009
5,226
71,912
297,034
22,632
12,418
2,366
4,651
131,736
166,936
168
10,134
25

-

Liabilities
Current
Non-current
ThUS$
ThUS$
3,651,605
390,824
251,607
121,834
88
4
2,454
3,456
1,472
3,642
63,818
324,470
17,691
26,532
2,946
3,448
5,195
105,243
104,281
168
9,964
-

-

25

-

Revenues
ThUS$
9,058,779
575,651
1,771
20,442
2,936
3,749
359,388
129,342
-

Revenues
ThUS$
10,433,611
568,582
2,467
484
22,252
3,713
4,025
363,317
119,032
-

Expenses
ThUS$
(8,774,541)
(386,474)
1,210
(302,214)
(28,738)
-

Expenses
ThUS$
(10,151,489)
(357,770)
(1,210)
(282,204)
(25,226)
-

Income
(loss)
of the year
ThUS$
30,750
114,699
(178)
200
1,468
7,942
2,730
1,839
20,924
92,409
Income
(loss)
of the year
ThUS$
80,868
115,492
(230)
92
1,825
539
4,068
947
(382)
1,921
28,240
90,695
-

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

From January 1, 2015 to the date these consolidated financial statements were issued, there have been no subsequent
events that could significantly affect their reasonableness.
.
*****
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